

UNLV Theses, Dissertations, Professional Papers, and Capstones

12-1-2015

Examining Resilience In Relation to PTSD Symptomatology In Maltreated Youth

Timothy Day University of Nevada, Las Vegas, dayt8@unlv.nevada.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalscholarship.unlv.edu/thesesdissertations Part of the <u>Psychology Commons</u>

Repository Citation

Day, Timothy, "Examining Resilience In Relation to PTSD Symptomatology In Maltreated Youth" (2015). UNLV Theses, Dissertations, Professional Papers, and Capstones. 2530. https://digitalscholarship.unlv.edu/thesesdissertations/2530

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by Digital Scholarship@UNLV. It has been accepted for inclusion in UNLV Theses, Dissertations, Professional Papers, and Capstones by an authorized administrator of Digital Scholarship@UNLV. For more information, please contact digitalscholarship@unlv.edu.



EXAMINING RESILIENCE IN RELATION TO PTSD SYMPTOMATOLOGY IN MALTREATED YOUTH

By

Timothy Landan Day

Bachelor of Arts – Psychology Whitworth University 2009

Master of Arts – Psychology University of Nevada, Las Vegas 2013

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the

Doctor of Philosophy - Psychology

Department of Psychology College of Liberal Arts The Graduate College

University of Nevada, Las Vegas December 2015





Dissertation Approval

The Graduate College The University of Nevada, Las Vegas

October 29, 2015

This dissertation prepared by

Timothy Day

entitled

Examining Resilience in Relation to PTSD Symptomatology in Maltreated Youth

is approved in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy - Psychology Department of Psychology

Christopher Kearney, Ph.D. *Examination Committee Chair*

Bradley Donohue, Ph.D. Examination Committee Member

Michelle Paul, Ph.D. Examination Committee Member

Jesse Brinson, Ph.D. Graduate College Faculty Representative Kathryn Hausbeck Korgan, Ph.D. Graduate College Interim Dean



ii

ABSTRACT

Examining Resilience in Relation to PTSD Symptomatology in Maltreated Youth

By

Timothy Landan Day

Dr. Christopher Kearney, Examination Committee Chair Professor of Psychology University of Nevada, Las Vegas

Resilience following exposure to adverse life situations is an ongoing process that reduces the impact of traumatic experiences and opens potential for posttraumatic growth (Fincham, Altes, Stein, & Seedat, 2009; Luthar, Cicchetti, & Becker, 2000). The relationship between resilience and risk for PTSD in maltreated youth, however, remains unclear. This study sought to explore this relationship by examining a sense of mastery, a sense of relation to others, and emotional reactivity in youth endorsing a history of maltreatment related trauma. Participants were recruited from a Las Vegas Department of Family Services affiliated clinic and were administered the Children's PTSD Inventory (CPTSD-I) and the Resiliency Scale for Children and Adolescents (RSCA). A demographic questionnaire was also administered. Youth reporting high levels of the RSCA resource score reported lower symptoms of PTSD. A significant inverse relationship was also found between a sense of mastery and PTSD symptoms for all maltreatment types. Trauma type and the number of trauma exposures did not significantly moderate the relationship between the resource score and PTSD symptoms. Youth with higher levels of emotional reactivity reported increased PTSD symptoms compared to youth with lower levels of emotional reactivity. Implications are discussed.



iii

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my sincere appreciation and gratitude to my advisor and committee chair, Dr. Christopher Kearney for his expertise, guidance, and patience throughout this project. I also thank my committee members, Drs. Bradley Donohue, Michelle Paul, and Jesse Brinson for their investment and insightful contributions that significantly enriched this project. I also thank my lab members Adrianna Wechsler, Harpreet Kaur, and Emma Ross for their support and feedback. I am also grateful to the many research assistants who worked laboriously for long hours to help make this project possible. Finally, my sincerest appreciation for the love and support I have received from my wife, family, friends, and undergraduate mentors.



ABSTRACT	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
TABLE OF CONTENTS	V
LIST OF TABLES	vii
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW	4
Child Malteatment	4
History of Child Maltreatment	4
Defining Child Maltreatment	4
Prevalence	7
Maltreatment Effects	11
Limitations on the Effects of Maltreatment	19
Posttraumatic Stress Disorder	20
PTSD Criteria	20
Theoretical Models of PTSD	24
Child Maltreatment and PTSD	
General Prevalence	
Symptomatology and Outcome	
Comorbidity	
Anxiety	
Depression	
Dissocation	
Externalizing Behaviors	43
Review of Maltreatment and PTSD	43
Resilience	44
Resilience Factors	45
Theoretical Framework of Resilience	46
Resilience Factor Models	47
Linking Resilience to Psychopathology	
Resilience and Maltreatment	51
Characteristics of Resilient Maltreated Youth	
Prevalence of Resilience	54
Resilience and Gender	54
Resilience and Age	55
Resilience by Maltreatment Type and Quantity	56
Limitations on Resilience and Maltreatment	59

TABLE OF CONTENTS



Resilience and PTSD	60
Prevalence	60
Resilience and Trauma Type	63
PTSD Risk and Resilience Factors	65
Limitations of PTSD and Resilience	66
Resilience, Maltreatment, and PTSD	67
Key Resilience Factors	67
Limitations on Resilience, Maltreatment, and PTSD	70
Purpose of Present Study	71
Hypotheses 1-3: Resilience and PTSD Symptoms	75
Hypotheses 4-6: Emotional Reactivity and PTSD Symptoms	76
Hypothesis 7: Emotional Reactivity as a Moderator of Resilience and PTSD	
Symptoms	77
CHAPTER 3 METHODOLOGY	78
Participants	
Measures	
Procedure	82
Data Analysis	84
CHAPTER 4 RESULTS	89
Hypotheses 1-3: Resilience and PTSD Symptoms	
Post-Hoc Analyses for Hypothesis 1	90
Hypothesis 4-6: Emotional Reactivity and PTSD Symptoms	93
Post-Hoc Analyses for Hypothesis 4	94
Hypothesis 7: Emotional Reactivity as a Moderator of Resilience and PTSD	
Symptoms	97
Additional Post-Hoc Analyses	98
CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION	99
Clinical Implications	103
Limitations	107
Recommendations for Further Studies	109
Conclusion	110
REFERENCES	112
	200



LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	Means and Standard Deviations for CPTSD-I Symptoms by Resource Level
Table 2	Beta Values with Significance Tests for Independent Variables in Stepwise
	Regression Analysis
Table 3	Beta Values with Significance Tests for Optimism, Self-efficacy, and
	Adaptability90
Table 4	Beta Values with Significance Tests for Optimism Subscale Items91
Table 5	Beta Values with Significance Tests for Self-Efficacy Subscale Items91
Table 6	Beta Values with Significance Tests for Adaptability Subscale Items92
Table 7	Means and Standard Deviations for CPTSD-I Symptoms by Emotional
	Reactivity Level
Table 8	Beta Values with Significance Tests for Sensitivity, Recovery, and Impairment
Table 9	Beta Values with Significance Tests for Sensitivity Subscale Items95
Table 10	Beta Values with Significance Tests for Recovery Subscale Items95
Table 11	Beta Values with Significance Tests for Impairment Subscale Items96



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1	Interaction Between Resilience Resource Score and CPTSD-I Symptoms	s by
	Trauma Type	92
Figure 2	Interaction Between Resilience Resource Score and CPTSD-I Symptoms	s by
	Number of Traumas Experienced	93
Figure 3	Interaction Between Emotional Reactivity and CPTSD-I Symptoms by T	`rauma
	Туре	96
Figure 4	Interaction Between Emotional Reactivity and CPTSD-I Symptoms by N	Jumber of
	Traumas Experienced	97
Figure 5	Interaction Between Resilience Resource Score and CPTSD-I Symptoms	s by
	Trauma Type for Average and High Emotional Reactivity	98



CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Resilience research represents a burgeoning field within the expanse of clinical psychology. This research originated in the 1970's amid endeavors to understand the etiology behind psychological illnesses (Masten, 2001). Resilience is characterized as an ongoing process of positive adaptation after exposure to adverse life events (Luthar, Cicchetti, & Becker, 2000). Researchers describe resilience as the ability to maintain psychological and physical health after adversity, and as the ability to successfully use resilience factors to bolster adaptation (Bonanno, 2008; Obradović, van Dulmen, Yates, Carlson, & Egeland, 2006). Presently, resilience research has expanded to focus on adaptation across multiple functional domains (Klika & Herrenkohl, 2013; Poulou, 2007).

Resilience remains an important area of inquiry among victims of maltreatment. Approximately 66% of youth in the United States experience trauma exposure that increases risk for PTSD (Cohen, Scheid, & Gerson, 2014). The relationship between PTSD and maltreatment increases in youth exposed to severe or multiple forms of maltreatment (Moore, Gaskin, & Indig, 2013). Sexually and physically maltreated youth indicate the highest risk for PTSD among maltreated youths (Ackerman, Newton, McPherson, Jones, & Dykman, 1998; Kearney et al., 2010; Putnam, 2009). Despite this clear association between maltreatment trauma and PTSD, resilience among maltreated youth at risk for PTSD remains considerably under researched in the extant literature.

Approximately 50-70% of youth remain resilient to psychopathology despite isolated trauma exposure (Bell, Romano, & Flynn, 2013; Bonanno & Mancini, 2008). Little is known, however, why some youth are resilient to trauma and others develop psychopathology. This



study investigated this question by examining key resilience factors in relation to PTSD symptomatology in maltreated youth. Resilience factors cumulatively reduce the risk of negative outcomes associated with adversity (Hollister-Wagner, Foshee, & Jackson, 2001). Furthermore, resilience factors help proactively protect against the negative effects of future adversity by promoting positive coping strategies (Henry, 2001; Reivich, Gillham, Chaplin, & Seligman, 2013). These factors occur across community, familial, and individual levels (Sarkar & Fletcher, 2014; Zimmerman et al., 2013).

The relationship between resilience and PTSD symptomatology with respect to trauma type also remains unknown. PTSD symptoms appear to vary by maltreatment type (Runyon, Deblinger, & Steer, 2013). Researchers also speculate that resilience varies by the type of traumatic experience, however, this remains unknown (Steenkamp, Dickstein, Salters-Pedneault, Hofmann, & Litz, 2012). Furthermore, a focus on sexual and physical maltreatment predominates the literature. Neglect and emotional maltreatment have not been adequately considered when examining resilience. Exposure to multiple traumas may also negate the positive impact of resilience factors. Approximately 13% of maltreated youth endorse experiencing an additional trauma (Scher, Forde, McQuaid, & Stein, 2004). Few researchers, however, compare single and multiple traumas in relation to resilience.

The majority of youth demonstrate resilience despite significant trauma histories (Bonanno & Mancini, 2008; Masten & Wright, 2010; Ungar, 2013a). The question of what creates resilience among some youth and not others remains unclear. This present study proposed that level of resilience partially explains variability of PTSD symptoms in maltreated youth. High levels of resilience reduce the negative impact of risk factors associated with PTSD symptoms; however, this has not been examined in relation to maltreatment (Fincham, Altes,

Stein, & Seedat, 2009).



The primary aims of this study sought to overcome these limitations by examining resilience in a diverse range of youth endorsing different maltreatment types. First, this study examined the key resilience factors of low emotional reactivity, sense of relationships towards others, and perceived sense of mastery over the environment via the *Resiliency Scale for Children and Adolescents*. Second, this study examined resilience variables in relation to the primary maltreatment type endorsed (e.g. physical, sexual, neglect, psychological, and removal from home). Third, this study explored resilience variables in relation to single or multiple experiences of trauma exposure.

Key findings in maltreatment, PTSD, and resilience are summarized in Chapter 2. The review begins with the present state of the literature regarding child maltreatment definitions, prevalence, symptomatology, and effects. Next, PTSD definitions, epidemiology, symptomatology, comorbidity, and influential theoretical models are reviewed. The state of resilience research, including definitions and present theoretical framework is reviewed. Finally, the literature review will conclude with an overview of resilience as it relates to maltreatment and PTSD. Key risk and protective factors that contribute to resilience will be provided. The procedures and measures used in this study are outlined in Chapter 3. Results are detailed in Chapter 4 and a discussion of findings and implications in Chapter 5.



www.manaraa.com

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

Child Maltreatment

History of Child Maltreatment

Child maltreatment has existed throughout history and has only recently received legal attention and societal disapproval due to the harmful and lasting effects on youth (Radbill, 1987). The first successful American prosecution of child maltreatment occurred in 1874 when Mary Ellen, a severely maltreated child, was removed from her family (Jalongo, 2006). This case served as a catalyst for the development of legislative protection used today (Jalongo, 2006). The Federal Child Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act (CAPTA, 1974, P.L. 93-247) of 1974 provided finances to identify, prosecute, assess, investigate, and prevent child maltreatment. A recent amendment made to CAPTA in 2003 required intervention referrals for youth victims younger than age 3 years (CAPTA, 2003, P.L. 108-36; Herman, 2007).

Defining Child Maltreatment

Child maltreatment constitutes "(1) any recent act or failure to act on the part of a parent or caretaker which results in death, serious physical or emotional harm, sexual abuse or exploitation; or (2) an act or failure to act which presents an imminent risk of serious harm" (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2005). Maltreatment may also include "actions that are abusive, neglectful, or otherwise threatening to a child's welfare" (American Psychological Association Committee on Professional Practices and Standards, 1999, p. 591). Types of child maltreatment include neglect as well as emotional, physical, and sexual maltreatment (Crooks & Wolfe, 2007).

Neglect represents the most common form of child maltreatment (Dubowitz, 2006).



www.manaraa.com

Neglect constitutes "an act of omission, specifically the failure of a parent or other person legally responsible for a child's welfare to provide for the child's basic needs and proper level of care with respect to food, shelter, hygiene, medical attention, or supervision" (American Psychological Association Committee on Professional Practices and Standards 1999, p. 591). Neglect may include physical, emotional, medical, educational, and environmental disregard (Brittain, 2006; Dubowitz, Pitts, & Black, 2004).

Physical neglect comprises "a child suffering or in substantial risk of imminently suffering physical harm causing disfigurement, impairment of bodily functioning, or other serious physical injury created by a parent or other personal legally responsible for the child's welfare" (American Psychological Committee on Professional Practices and Standards, 1999, p. 591). Emotional neglect may be with or without intent to harm and includes acts of commission (e.g., terrorizing) and omission (e.g., ignoring psychological or social needs) (Hibbard, Barlow, & MacMillan, 2012). Omissions may result from unconcern, personal limitations, or a lack of knowledge (Junewicz, 1983). Medical neglect includes a failure to seek medical care in a timely manner and failure to recognize or respond to a youth's health needs (Jenny, 2007; Merrick et al., 2010). Educational neglect occurs when a child obtains considerable school absences (7 or more) per school year due to problems in family functioning (Larson, Zuel, & Swanson, 2011). Environmental neglect includes a lack of environmental resources, opportunities, and safety (Dubowitz, Pitts, & Black, 2004).

The American Psychological Committee on Professional Practices and Standards defined emotional maltreatment as "a repeated pattern of behavior that conveys to children they are worthless, unwanted, or only of value in meeting another's needs; may include serious threats of physical or psychological violence" (1999, p. 591). Emotional maltreatment differs from emotional neglect in that parents or caregivers commit acts towards youth that impair



www.manaraa.com

psychological growth and development and harms a child's self-esteem and self-image (Junewicz, 1983). Emotional maltreatment may include insulting or verbally rejecting a child, scapegoating, using inconsistent discipline, demanding excessive responsibilities, and using fearinducing techniques (Junewicz, 1983). Emotional maltreatment differs from poor or dysfunctional parenting practices by factoring in the relative risk of the child given her age, the consistency of the alleged maltreatment, and the severity of the maltreatment behavior (Wolfe & McIsaac, 2011). Emotional maltreatment also includes exploiting, isolating, or spurning a child (Sternberg et al., 2004).

Physical maltreatment includes "suffering by a child, or substantial risk that a child will imminently suffer, a physical harm inflicted nonaccidentally on him by his parents or caretaker" (American Psychological Association Committee on Professional Practice and Standards, 1999, p. 591). Deliberate acts such as shaking, kicking, burning, biting, poisoning, choking, or other harmful use of force or restraint constitutes physical maltreatment (Crooks & Wolfe, 2007). Physical maltreatment may be a single isolated incident or may involve multiple incidents over a period of time (Crooks & Wolfe, 2007).

Sexual maltreatment includes "contacts between a child and an adult or other person significantly older or in a position of power or control over the child, where the child is being used for sexual stimulation of the adult or other person" (American Psychological Association Committee on Professional Practice and Standards, 1999, p. 591). Sexual maltreatment includes experiencing genital or nongenital fondling, intercourse, incest, kissing in a sexual way, seeing an exhibitionist, and being invited to participate in a sexual activity (Haugaard, 2000; Williams, 1991). A forced child sexual experience results in higher psychological distress than a consensual sexual experience (Arreola, Neilands, Pollack, Paul, & Catania, 2008).



Prevalence

The Administration on Children, Youth, and Families (ACYF, 2012) reported 3.4 million referrals of alleged child maltreatment composing 6.3 million children in the United States in 2012. This statistic represents a 3.5% increase in child maltreatment reports from 2008 (ACYF, 2010, 2012). Child Protective Services (CPS) referrals within the United States consisted of substantiated cases (17.7%), indicated cases (0.9%), alternative response victim cases (0.5%), and unsubstantiated cases (80.9%) (ACYF, 2012). For 2012, 686,000 children were victims of maltreatment, indicating a 4.2% decrease in victimization from 2008 (ACYF, 2010, 2012). This represents a victimization rate of 9.2 victims per 1000 children (ACYF, 2012).

Maltreatment types included neglect (78.3%), physical maltreatment (18.3%), sexual maltreatment (9.3%), and other (10.6%) (ACYF, 2012). Other researchers indicate that physical maltreatment is 40 times more common than sexual maltreatment and is consistently underreported (Middleton, 2008). Approximately 27% of females and 16% of males in the general population of the United States allege a history of child sexual maltreatment (Finkelhor, Hotaling, Lewis, & Smith, 1990). A large percentage of sexually assaulted males (62%) and females (50%) reported that the sexual maltreatment included actual or attempted intercourse (Finkelhor et al., 1990). Approximately 13% of maltreatment victims report multiple forms of maltreatment (Scher, Forde, McQuaid, & Stein, 2004). The majority of neglected youth (95%) identify additional types of maltreatment exposure (Mennen, Kim, Sang, & Trickett, 2010).

Maltreated youth remain at higher risk for fatalities. National fatality rates for 2012 included 1,593 youth, with each state ranging from 0.00 to 4.64 fatalities per 100 youth (ACYF, 2012). Children younger than age 3 years are most vulnerable to maltreatment-related fatalities (70.3% of fatalities) (ACYF, 2012). Others estimate approximately 600 maltreatment-related fatalities in youth under the age of 5 years (Klevens & Leeb, 2010). Neglect and physical



maltreatment involved the highest fatality rates (ACYF, 2012).

Youth offenders endorse disproportionality high rates of child maltreatment history (60%), with female offenders 10 times more likely to endorse multiple types of severe maltreatment compared to male offenders (Moore, Gaskin, & Indig, 2013). Physical maltreatment remains common in incarcerated males (66%) and females (75%) (King et al., 2011). Sexual maltreatment rates also varied in incarcerated males (10%) and females (40%) (King et al., 2011; Yun, Ball, & Lim, 2011). Maltreatment chronicity may result in earlier involvement with the juvenile justice system than maltreatment severity (Yampolskaya, Armstrong, & McNeish, 2011).

Prevalence by Gender. Prevalence of maltreatment was similar across males (49.7%) and females (50.9%) in 2012 (ACYF, 2012). Males generally report more physical maltreatment than females, whereas females report more sexual maltreatment than males (MacMillan, Tanaka, Duku, Vaillancourt, & Boyle, 2013). A significant discrepancy exists in the prevalence rates for sexual maltreatment between males (24.8%) and females (75.2%) (Pérez-Fuentes et al., 2012). Higher maltreatment related fatality rates exist for males (57.6%) than females (42.1%) (ACYF, 2012).

Prevalence by Age. Approximately 75% of maltreated children are under age 12 years (Whitted, Delavega, & Lennon-Dearing, 2013). The Administration on Children, Youth, and Families (ACYF, 2012) reported average maltreatment rates per 1000 children at ages 0-1 year (21.9/1000), 1-3 years (11.8/1000), 4-7 years (10.2/1000), 8-12 years (7.5/1000), and 13-17 years (5.9/1000). Maltreatment type may also differ by age. Physical maltreatment rates varied among those aged 0-2 years (246/1000), 3-5 years (171/1000), 6-8 years (168/1000), 9-11 years (141/1000), 12-14 years (147/1000), and 15-17 years (26/1000), 3-5 years (140/1000), 6-8 years



(172/1000), 9-11 (184/1000), 12-14 years (263/1000), 15-17 years (209/1000) (ACYF, 2012).
Neglect rates varied from ages <1-2 years (297/1000), 3-5 years (210/1000%), 6-8 years
(166/1000), 9-11 years (129/1000), 12-14 years (110/1000), and 15-18 years (84/1000) (ACYF, 2012).
Medical neglect was highest for youth ages <1-2 years (332/1000) (ACYF, 2012).
Psychological maltreatment rates varied among youth aged 1-2 years (214/1000), 3-5 years
(199/1000), 6-8 years (178/1000), 9-11 years (160/1000), 12-14 years (142/1000), and 15-17 years (103/1000) (ACYF, 2012).

Prevalence by Ethnicity. Maltreated youth in 2012 consisted of European Americans (44.0%), African Americans (21.0%), and Hispanics (21.8%) (ACYF, 2012). Victimization rates varied among African Americans (14.2/1000), American Indians and Alaska Natives (12.4/1000), and multiracial groups (10.3/1000). African Americans reported more severe forms of maltreatment compared to other ethnic groups, but these results are mixed (Lee et al., 2012; Ullman & Filipas, 2005a). European Americans and Asian Americans reported the least severe forms of maltreatment (Ullman & Filipas, 2005a). Ethnic differences exhibit little influence on the timing, type, or chronicity of maltreatment (Lee et al., 2012). Fatality rates varied by ethnicity among European Americans (38.3%), African Americans (31.9%), and Hispanics (15.3%) (ACYF, 2012). Hispanic youth may be underrepresented in the child welfare system compared to the general population (Dettlaff & Johnson, 2011). Nontraditional immigrated families are overrepresented for maltreatment (Euser, van IJzendoorn, Prinzie, & Bakermans-Kranenburg, 2011).

Prevalence by Disability. Disabilities may increase risk for child maltreatment in youth (Algood, Hong, Gourdine, & Williams, 2011; Kendall-Tackett, Lyon, Taliaferro, & Little, 2005; Sullivan & Knutson, 1998). Children with disabilities have a 3-4 times increased risk for maltreatment (Murphy, 2011). Approximately 13.3% of maltreatment victims reported a



disability (ACYF, 2012). Others speculate higher rates of maltreatment in disabled youth (Fudge Schormans & Sobsey, 2007). Youth with neurological conditions, chronic respiratory conditions, and orthopedic problems report highest risk for maltreatment (Murphy, 2011). Youth with auditory disabilities also demonstrate significantly increased risk for sexual maltreatment than youth with other disabilities (Sullivan & Knutson, 1998).

Family Factors. Child maltreatment often co-occurs with intimate partner violence (Knickerbocker, Heyman, Slep, Jouriles, & McDonald, 2007). The exposure of women to intimate partner violence while pregnant increases risk of later child maltreatment (Chan et al., 2012). Aggression towards one's partner was found to co-occur 45% of the time with physical maltreatment among families from a New York county (Slep & O'Leary, 2005)

Risk for maltreatment increases in single parent and step/cohabiting families (Turner, Finkelhor, Hamby, & Shattuck, 2013). Factors that increase victimization rates within these families include adversity, drug and alcohol problems, high parental conflict, and community disorder (Turner et al., 2013). Youth with maltreated siblings exhibit higher risk for maltreatment (MacMillan, Tanaka, Duku, Vaillancourt, & Boyle, 2013).

Economic Factors. Low socioeconomic status and unemployment may increase risk of child maltreatment (Alink, Euser, van IJzendoorn, & Bakermans-Kranenburg, 2013; Ben-Arieh, 2010; Herrenkohl & Herrenkohl, 2007). Limited neighborhood resources, unemployment, residential housing/property value, residential instability, heightened child-care burden, and overcrowding correlate with increased rates of maltreatment in low-income neighborhoods (Coulton, Crampton, Irwin, Splilsbury, & Korbin, 2007). Economic prosperity negatively correlates with child maltreatment (Finklehor & Jones, 2006).

Societal Costs of Maltreatment. Maltreatment remains an economically and psychologically costly public health problem (Briggs, Thompson, Ostrowski, & Lekwauwa,



2011; Brown, Fang, & Florence, 2011; Corso, Edwards, Fang, & Mercy, 2008). Lost economic productivity and increased social spending further raise the costs of maltreatment (Zielinski, 2009). Maltreated individuals also indicate heightened occupational difficulties and high medical expenditures (Florence, Brown, Fang, & Thompson, 2013; Zielinski, 2009). In addition to these high societal costs, maltreatment increases risk for many psychological and physiological problems.

Maltreatment Effects

Child maltreatment increases risk for a wide range of negative consequences that are complex and multifaceted. Child maltreatment poses risk for problems in brain development, behavioral problems, and psychopathology (Jaffee, 2012; Li & Godinet, 2014; Whittle et al., 2013). Maltreatment type and chronicity further modify symptom outcome in victims of maltreatment (Kira, Fawzi, & Fawzi, 2013). The effects of child maltreatment are summarized in the following sections.

Physiological Effects. Child maltreatment correlates with significant adverse physical consequences (Christian & Schwarz, 2011; MacMillan, 2010). Health-related quality of life remains significantly impaired in maltreated youth (Jud, Landolt, Tatalias, Lach, & Lips, 2013). Maltreated youth evidence a 70-100% increased risk for hospital admissions (Lanier, Jonson-Reid, Stahlschmidt, Drake, & Constantino, 2010). Hospital admissions among maltreated youth included increased rates of abdominal injuries, superficial head injuries, intestinal infections, poisonings, and parasitic diseases (O'Donnell et al., 2010; Wood, Pecker, Russo, Henretig, & Christian, 2012). Brain changes in growth, neural development, plasticity, and maturation are also common in maltreated youth (Kearney, Wechsler, Kaur, & Lemos-Miller, 2010). Victims also endorse heightened rates of health-risk behaviors such as early smoking, drug use, self-mutilation, alcohol abuse, attempted suicide, and early sexual intercourse (Herrenkohl, Hong,



Klika, Herrenkohl, & Russo, 2013; Pinto & Maia, 2013). Common health complaints include cardiopulmonary symptoms, gynecological and reproductive health problems, gastrointestinal problems, and chronic pain (Irish, Kobayashi, Delahanty, 2010; Rogosch, Dackis, & Cicchetti, 2011).

Child maltreatment may also increase health risk behaviors that contribute to future psychological distress and negative life events (Min, Minnes, Kim, & Singer, 2013). For instance, obesity influenced by trauma may contribute to chronic health conditions in adulthood (Helton & Liechty, 2013; Min et al., 2013). Long-term effects of maltreatment include increased rates of chronic health conditions as well as health risk behaviors such as smoking and substance dependence (Min et al., 2013; Schafer, Morton, & Ferraro, 2013).

Child maltreatment increases risk for neuroendocrine disorders (Doom, Cicchetti, Rogosch, & Dackis, 2013). Youth evidence increased rates of dopamine and norepinephrine (De Bellis et al., 1999). Chronic maltreatment affects the responsiveness of the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis (Tarullo & Gunnar, 2006). The HPA axis moderates stress by activating the sympathetic nervous system (Young, Abelson, & Liberzon, 2008). The HPA axis secretes corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) in response to stress (Buitelaar, 2013). The CRH stimulates adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH), which leads to cortisol release (Buitelaar, 2013). Cortisol is the primary glucocorticoid in the brain and regulates HPA axis activity (Shea, Walsh, MacMillan, & Steiner, 2005). The release of cortisol reduces the level of ACTH in the brain through negative feedback regulation (Buitelaar, 2013). Dysregulation occurs after exposure to chronic stress (Cicchetti, Rogosch, Gunnar, & Toth, 2010).

Maltreated children exhibit dysregulation of the HPA axis, which correlates with depression, anxiety, learning and memory deficits, failure of response inhibition, aggression, and deficits in behavior regulation (Gowin et al., 2013; Lisonbee, Pendry, Mize, & Gwynn, 2010;



van Voorhees & Scarpa, 2004). HPA axis dysregulation further increases risk for major depressive disorder and PTSD (Shea, Walsh, MacMillan, & Steiner, 2005).

Pervasive maltreatment also results in variable cortisol levels (Doom et al., 2013). Youth exposed to isolated traumas initially exhibit hypercortisolism (Gustafsson, Anckarsäter, Lichtenstein, Nelson, & Gustafsson, 2010). Hypocortisolism, however, may result over time from the accumulation of traumas rather than exposure from a specific trauma incident (Gustafsson et al., 2010). This relationship appears particularly robust in females (Doom et al., 2013).

In addition, males exposed to acute maltreatment had higher cortisol/DHEA ratio levels and elevated cortisol levels than females with similar maltreatment exposure (Doom et al., 2013). High cortisol levels may result in atrophy of hippocampal cells and cognitive dysfunction (Sapolsky, 1996; Shea, Walsh, & MacMillan, 2005). Dysregulation of cortisol decreases prosocial behaviors and increases aggressive and disruptive behaviors and social withdrawal (Alink, Cicchetti, Kim, & Rogosch, 2012).

The severity of adverse effects may depend on the initial age that maltreatment occurs (Jaffee & Maikovich-Fong, 2011). Child maltreatment adversely affects brain development and growth (De Bellis & Keshavan, 2003). Maltreated youth aged 3 years and younger are particularly vulnerable to adverse developmental changes (Glaser, 2012). Atypical neuronal structures within the temporal lobes and prefrontal cortex and reduced cortical thickness in the superior frontal gyrus, orbitofrontal cortex, and anterior cingulate have been found in maltreatment victims (Kelly et al., 2013). Others indicate reduced dendritic remodeling of the cornu ammonis and 6% volumetric reductions in the subiculum and presubiculum of the hippocampus (Teicher, Anderson, & Polcari, 2012). Maltreatment correlates with delayed or deficient growth in the left amygdala and is associated with larger baseline hippocampal volumes



(Whittle et al., 2013). Other youth exhibit alterations in the left thalamus that may increase risk for generalized anxiety disorder (Liao et al., 2013). Furthermore, the superior parietal region of the brain thickens in some youth as a result of maltreatment (Whittle et al., 2013).

Approximately 50% of maltreated youth experience head injuries (Butchart, 2008; Schneeberger, Muenzenmaier, Battaglia, Castille, & Link, 2012; Wells, 2006). Traumatic brain injuries account for the majority of trauma-related deaths (Wells, 2006). Head trauma commonly occurs following physical maltreatment and prenatal exposure to substances (Mattson, 2010; Thyen, Leventhal, Yazdgerdi, & Perrin, 1997). Traumatic brain injuries may result in loss of consciousness, skull fractures, laceration and contusions of cerebral tissues, subdural/epidural hematoma, and parenchymal/ subarachnoi hemorrhage (Díaz-Olavarrieta et al., 2011; Spivack, 2001). Youth victims of shaking-impact syndrome are at significant risk for brain damage and nerve damage, including severe traumatic and hypoxic-ischemic injuries (Gedeit, 2001; Splaingard, 2001).

Psychological Effects. Child maltreatment correlates strongly with psychiatric disorders (King et al., 2011; Pecora, Jensen, Romanelli, Jackson, & Ortiz, 2009). Females exposed to child maltreatment have a 2-10 times increased risk of any mental disorder compared to nonmaltreated youth (King et al., 2011). Maltreated males have a 2-7 times heightened risk of every mental disorder except anxiety disorders (King et al., 2011). Early maltreatment also links to changes in personality and increases risk for various personality disorders (Hengartner, Müller, Rodgers, Rössler, & Ajdacic-Gross, 2013). Youth experiencing more than one type of maltreatment demonstrate heightened susceptibility for psychological problems (Mills et al., 2013).

Internalizing Problems. Child maltreatment may lead to psychopathology and increased risk for emotional dysregulation, negative affectivity, depression, and anxiety and personality



disorders (Perea, Paternina, Gomez, & Lattig, 2012; Scott, Smith, & Ellis, 2010). Internalizing problems appear most severe in youth exposed to emotional and multiple forms of maltreatment (Mills et al., 2013). Emotional regulation problems include difficulty identifying, verbalizing, or communicating emotion in an adaptive manner, inappropriate emotional reactivity, constrictive emotions, and attenuated empathy (Ford, 2005; Kim & Cicchetti, 2010). Maltreated youth are also at risk for somatic disorders, dissociative symptoms, eating disorders, purging behaviors, and PTSD (Bohn, Bernardy, Wolfe, & Häuser, 2013; Jonkman, Verlinden, Bolle, Boer, & Lindauer, 2013; Wonderlich et al., 2007).

Suicide attempts often occur in maltreated youth. Youth with maltreatment histories report significantly increased rates of self-mutilation and suicide compared to nonmaltreated youth (Pérez-Fuentes et al., 2012; Zoroglu et al., 2003). Sexually maltreated youth have a 12 times heightened risk of suicide compared to nonmaltreated youth (Middleton, 2008). The risk for suicide in youth positively correlates with maltreatment chronicity (Jonson-Reid, Kohl, & Drake, 2012). Cognitive distortions linked with child maltreatment increase risk for suicidal ideation (Miller & Esposito-Smythers, 2013).

Externalizing Problems. Maltreated youth commonly exhibit negative externalizing and delinquent behaviors (Åslund et al., 2011; Edmond, Auslander, Elze, McMillen, & Thompson, 2002). Psychological maltreatment correlates with attachment disorders, disruptive behavior, socialization problems, educational and developmental problems, and future psychopathology (Hibbard, Barlow, & MacMillan, 2012). Sexual maltreatment significantly correlates with anxiety and mood disorders, substance abuse, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, and disruptive behavior disorders (King et al., 2011). Maltreated males demonstrate increased likelihood of externalizing problems (Finkelhor, 1990; Gomes-Schwartz, Horowitz, & Cardarelli, 1990). Children aged 8-11 years exhibited higher scores on peer and conduct



problems and emotional symptoms (Whitted, Delavega, & Lennon-Dearing, 2013).

All maltreatment forms significantly increase risk for substance use disorder during the lifespan (Elwyn & Smith, 2013; Rosenkranz, Muller, & Henderson, 2012; Tonmyr, Thornton, Draca, & Wekerle, 2010). Approximately two-thirds of individuals receiving treatment for drug abuse or dependence report a history of maltreatment (Middleton, 2008). Cumulative emotional maltreatment and emotional neglect correlates to substance abuse problem severity (Rosenkranz et al., 2012). Marijuana and alcohol remain the most common form of drug use in maltreated adolescents (Hovdestad, Tonmyr, Wekerle, & Thornton, 2011). A number of models explain the relationship between maltreatment and substance abuse. Maltreatment-related low self-esteem may result in youth attempting to escape psychological pain through substance use (Hovdestad et al., 2011). Consistent with this model, retrospective recall of child maltreatment significantly correlates to alcohol and drug use in adulthood (Elwyn & Smith, 2013). Youth may also engage in substance use via social modeling of their caretakers (Hovdestad et al., 2011).

Maltreatment may also lead youth to engage in risky sexual behaviors (Oshri, Tubman, & Jaccard, 2011). Maltreated youth using illicit substances endorsed higher rates of unprotected intercourse (Oshri et al., 2011). Victims of sexual maltreatment endorsed compulsive sexual behaviors, sadomasochistic sexual fantasies, sexual identity issues, loss of sexual interest, and chronic fatigue (Craine, Henson, Colliver, & MacLean, 1988). Severe maltreatment correlates with sexually risky behaviors as well as sexually transmitted infections and human immunodeficiency virus (Oshri et al., 2011). Maltreated youth indicate heightened rates of teenage pregnancy across maltreatment types (Smith, 1996).

Child maltreatment correlates with each personality disorder (Hengartner, Müller, Rodgers, Rössler, & Ajdacic-Gross, 2013). Comorbid personality disorders may aggravate risk for suicidal ideation, attachment problems, and additional trauma experiences (Allen, Cramer,



Harris, & Rufino, 2013). The development of personality disorders in maltreated youth may originate from disrupted or disorganized parent-child interactions (Shi, Bureau, Easterbrooks, Zhao, Lyons-Ruth, 2012). Child maltreatment also interacts with the monoamine oxidase gene to increase vulnerability for personality disorders such as antisocial personality disorder (Beach et al., 2010).

Maltreatment prior to age 12 years increases the self-report of psychotic symptoms (Arseneault et al., 2011). Maltreatment exposure may influence negative and positive symptom severity in youth with psychotic disorders (Ramsay, Flanagan, Gantt, Broussard, & Compton, 2011). Emotional neglect correlates with negative symptom severity (Ramsay et al., 2011). Negative symptoms include affective blunting or flattening, alogia, anhedonia, asocialtiy, inattentiveness, and avolition (Lyne et al., 2013; Vogel et al., 2011). Child maltreatment may also be a significant risk factor for dissociative identity disorder and pathological dissociation (Dorahy et al., 2009; Sanders & Becker-Lausen, 1995).

Criminality. Severe PTSD and child maltreatment correlate with criminal behavior (Elklit, Karstoft, Armour, Feddern, & Chistoffersen, 2013; Fontaine & Nolin, 2012; Hengartner, Ajdacic-Gross, Rodgers, Müller, & Rössler, 2013). Child maltreatment correlates with aggressive and criminal behavior, juvenile offending, and violent delinquency (Elklit et al., 2013; Haapasalo & Pokela, 1999; Stewart, Livingston, & Dennison, 2008). Forensic inpatients endorsed substantial histories of neglect (59%), emotional maltreatment (75%), and physical maltreatment (52%) (Spitzer, Chevalier, Gillner, Freyberger, & Barnow, 2006). Cumulative trauma further increases risk for criminal behavior (Elklit et al., 2013). Physical maltreatment, neglect, and emotional maltreatment comprise the highest risk for later criminality, while sexual maltreatment represents a lower risk (Elklit et al., 2013).

Attachment Problems. Maltreatment may result in insecure or disorganized attachment



(Cicchetti, Rogosch, & Toth, 2011; Stronach et al., 2011; Wilkins, 2012). Disorganized or insecure attachment patterns occur in approximately 36% of maltreated youth, although other researchers indicate higher rates (Baer & Martinez, 2006; Cicchetti & Barnett, 1991). Poor attachment may also increase risk for adult sexual victimization (Reid & Sullivan, 2009). Maltreatment may lead to future insecure attachments with romantic partners in adolescence and adulthood (Reyome, 2010; Weiss, MacMullin, Waechter, & Wekerle, 2011).

Academic and Cognitive Problems. Substantial evidence for deficits in academic achievement and intelligence exist for children exposed to maltreatment (Nikulina & Widom, 2013). Youth maltreated over multiple developmental periods demonstrate lower IQ scores than youth maltreated over a single developmental period (Jaffee & Maikovich-Fong, 2011). Maltreatment may also increase risk for deficits in executive functioning (Augusti & Melinder, 2013). Maltreated children display decision-making impairments, working memory deficits, developmental delays in emotional regulation, and neurocognitive delays (Augusti & Melinder, 2013; Weller & Fisher, 2013). Decision-making impairments include difficulty identifying potential costs and potential rewards of behavior (Weller & Fisher, 2013). This difficulty fosters insensitivity to environmental changes and to excessive risk-taking behaviors (Weller & Fisher, 2013).

Long-Term Problems. Maltreatment increases risk for enduring psychological and physical negative outcomes in adulthood (Arnow, 2004; Christian & Schwarz, 2011; Jonson-Reid, Kohl, & Drake, 2012). Rates of adult cardiovascular disease risk increase with maltreatment histories (Batten, Aslan, Maciejewski, & Mazure, 2004). Chronic pain, migraines, marital problems, memory impairment, higher perceived stress, and adult depression are common in older adults maltreated as youth (Anda et al., 2006; Anda, Tietjen, Schulman, Felitti, & Crott, 2010; Dube et al., 2005; Gonzalez et al., 2012). Child trauma may also increase risk for



dementia and related cognitive deficits in mature adulthood (Burri, Maercker, Krammer, & Simmen-Janevska, 2013). Early maltreatment also correlates with future intimate partner dating violence, criminal offending, decreased educational and economical attainment, and mental health problems (Kendra, Bell, & Guimond, 2012; Mersky & Topitzes, 2010; Tyler, Melander, & Noel, 2009).

Limitations on the Effects of Maltreatment

The reviewed effects of maltreatment rely heavily on retrospective accounts of adults maltreated during youth (Topitzes, Mersky, Dezen, & Reynolds, 2013). Few studies, however, examine the immediate effects children endure shortly following trauma exposure. In addition, few studies account for resilience or other protective factors that mitigate the relationship between maltreatment exposure and negative outcomes. Child maltreatment significantly correlates to PTSD (Pecora, White, Jackson, & Wiggins, 2009). Furthermore, nearly half of all traumatized youth demonstrate resilience (Bonanno & Mancini, 2008). Few researchers, however, examine the symptomatology of PTSD within a resilience framework. Furthermore, the effects of trauma type have been largely neglected in the symptomatology of PTSD. Different types of trauma yield different clinical outcomes (Steenkamp, Dickstein, Salters-Pedneault, Hoffman, & Litz, 2012). This study focused primarily on the relationship between child maltreatment and PTSD. Specifically, this study investigated resilience in youth at high risk for PTSD. The following sections review PTSD in youth and prominent risk and protective factors in maltreated youth.



www.manaraa.com

Posttraumatic Stress Disorder

PTSD Criteria

Posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) is a trauma-related disorder that results from exposure to one or more stressors or traumatic life events (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). DSM-5 features separate sets of criteria for PTSD for those older and younger than age 6 years (APA, 2013). A separate criteria set for children aged 6 years and younger allows for a developmentally appropriate approach to diagnosis by accounting for emerging verbal expression and abstract cognitive ability (Scheeringa, Peebles, Cook, & Zeanah, 2001; Scheeringa, Zeanah, Drell, & Larrieu, 1995).

A diagnosis of PTSD stems from exposure to actual or threatened death, sexual violence, or serious injury (APA, 2013). Examples of traumatic events include threatened or actual physical violence, exposure to war trauma as a soldier or civilian, kidnapping, terrorist attack, torture, human made or natural disasters, incarceration, and others (APA, 2013). Trauma exposure includes directly experiencing a traumatic event, witnessing a traumatic event in person, learning that a traumatic event happened to a close family member or friend, or experiencing exposure to details of a traumatic event (APA, 2013). In children, exposure to developmentally inappropriate sexual experiences without threat of violence or injury to oneself may constitute trauma exposure (APA, 2013).

PTSD symptoms include intrusion symptoms following exposure, avoidance of traumarelated stimuli, negative alterations in cognitions and mood associated with the trauma, and heightened reactivity and arousal (APA, 2013). Intrusion symptoms occur via intrusive and involuntary distressing memories, dreams, night terrors, dissociative reactions, and physiological and psychological distress in situations resembling the trauma (APA, 2013). Avoidance symptoms include efforts to avoid distressing feelings, memories, or thoughts related to the



trauma and efforts to avoid external reminders that trigger distressing feelings, memories, or thoughts (APA, 2013). Negative alterations in cognitions and mood include difficulty remembering important aspects of the trauma, inability to experience positive emotions, persistent negative emotional arousal state, feelings of detachment or estrangement from others, lack of participation or interest in important activities, distorted cognitions about the cause or consequences of a traumatic event, and self-blame for the event(s) (APA, 2013).

Symptoms of reactivity and arousal include angry outbursts and irritable behavior, aggression, self-destructive or reckless behavior, hypervigilance, exaggerated startle response, difficulties with concentration, and sleep disturbances (APA, 2013). A diagnosis of PTSD requires that symptoms occur for 1 month following trauma exposure and cause clinically significant distress or impairment (APA, 2013). DSM-5 further specifies if the presenting PTSD symptoms include a dissociative component such as depersonalization or derealization (APA, 2013). Delayed expression of PTSD may be specified if PTSD criteria are not met until at least 6 months following the trauma (APA, 2013).

DSM-5 includes a separate set of PTSD criteria for youth aged 6 years and younger. Youth in this age group may demonstrate spontaneous and intrusive memories through play reenactment that appears non-distressing (APA, 2013). Youth older than age 6 years may express intrusion symptoms through repetitive play that contains aspects of the trauma (APA, 2013). Repetitive and intrusive thoughts regarding the trauma, night wakefulness, and fears of the dark are common in youth (Yule, 2001). Youth may also express intrusion symptoms through frightening dreams without trauma-specific content (APA, 2013). Children may also reenact traumatic events or experience dissociative states (APA, 2013).

PTSD Prevalence. DSM-5 indicates a lifetime prevalence of PTSD in the United States at 8.7% (APA, 2013). Others indicate lifetime prevalence of 6.8% (Kessler et al., 2005). PTSD



rates vary from 0.5% to 1.0% in other European, Asian, African, and Latin American countries (APA, 2013). Prevalence rates increase among survivors of rape, politically or ethnically motivated internment and genocide, and military combat and captivity (APA, 2013).

Child Prevalence Rates. Despite a wide range of trauma experiences, less is known regarding the prevalence rate of PTSD in children and adolescents (Costello, Egger, & Angold, 2005). Children and adolescents endorse lower rates of PTSD following traumatic events (APA, 2013). Approximately 80% of youth experience a traumatic event across the world (Sharma-Patel et al., 2011). In the United States, approximately 13.9% of youth experience disaster exposure and 36.4% experience victimization (Becker-Blease, Turner, & Finkelhor, 2010). The most common traumatic events for American children include vicarious traumas such as receiving news regarding the death or injury of a family member or friend (13%) or witnessing an injury or death (10%) (Giaconia et al., 1995). Recent epidemiological studies indicate a lifetime prevalence of DSM-IV PTSD at 4.7% with increased rates in females (7.3%) compared to males (2.2%) (McLaughlin et al., 2013). Adolescent rates differ among those aged 13-14 years (3.7%), 15-16 years (5.1%), and 17-18 years (7.0%) (Merikangas et al., 2010). PTSD rates appear heightened in inpatient adolescents (42%) (Koltek, Wilkes, & Atkinson, 1998). Courtreferred adolescents generally report heightened rates of traumatic experiences for both females (75%) and males (51%), with approximately 13% reporting multiple traumas (Brosky & Lally, 2004). Symptoms of PTSD also vary among court-referred adolescents in females (21-34%) and males (8-17%) (Brosky & Lally, 2004).

Gender Differences. Females indicate higher vulnerability for PTSD following accidents, disasters, violence, and loss than males (Ditlevsen & Elklit, 2012). Females also endorse higher rates of PTSD (6.3%) than males (3.7%) 6 months after a traumatic experience (Kilpatrick et al., 2003). These heightened rates include significantly elevated symptom endorsements in women



(Peters, Issakidis, Slade, & Andrews, 2006). Increased prevalence of sexual assault, elevated perceived distress, increased avoidance and numbing symptoms, and biological variations may partially account for gender differences for PTSD risk (Steven Betts, Williams, Najman, & Alati, 2013; Uddin, Sipahi, Li, & Koenen, 2013).

PTSD Prevalence by Trauma Type. Some types of trauma may yield higher prevalence rates for PTSD than others (Sauter & Franklin, 1998). Sexual assault, physical violence, violent death of a family member or peer, and injury represent the highest risk for PTSD (Copeland, Keeler, Angold, & Costello, 2007). PTSD rates in youth vary by sexual maltreatment (53%), war-related trauma (21-33%), and violent crime (27-33%) (Kaufman-Shriqui et al., 2013; Klasen, Gehrke, Metzner, Blotevogel, & Okello, 2013; Salmon & Bryant, 2002). Natural disaster PTSD prevalence rates include earthquakes (40%), tsunamis (39%), mudslides (25%), and tornadoes (41%) (Agustini, Asniar, & Matsuo, 2011; Evans & Oehler-Stinnett, 2006; Ghazali, Elklit, Yaman, & Ahmad, 2012; Yang et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2012). Exposure to multiple traumas further increases PTSD risk (Harder, Mutiso, Khasakhala, Burke, & Ndetei, 2012; Macdonald, Danielson, Resnick, Saunders, & Kilpatrick, 2010). For example, sexually revictimized adolescents endorsed heightened prevalence of PTSD symptoms during a 6-month follow-up (Walsh et al., 2012).

Type of maltreatment interacts with other environmental and biological factors to influence risk for PTSD (Kim-Cohen & Turkewitz, 2012; Sauter & Franklin, 1998). Theoretical models of PTSD acknowledge the role of risk factors in increasing risk for PTSD and maintaining PTSD symptoms. The influence of resilience factors, however, remains largely unknown. Furthermore, few studies have identified the role of trauma type interacting with resilience in determining PTSD symptom severity. High levels of resilience may protect against risk factors associated with increased PTSD symptoms (Fincham, Altes, Stein, & Seedat, 2009).



This study expanded on this limitation by examining the role of resilience factors in relation to PTSD symptom severity. A review of theoretical PTSD models is provided below.

Theoretical Models of PTSD

Multiple models exist to explain the development and maintenance of PTSD symptoms (Jobson, 2009). Models include biological stress-diathesis perspectives, ecological models, and cognitive and information processing models (Ehlers & Clark, 2000; Elwood, Mott, Williams, Lohr, & Schroeder, 2009; McKeever & Huff, 2003). Considerable debate exists regarding which model best fits PTSD development. Some researchers support a combination model using a cognitive-behavioral perspective (Kalantzi-Azizi & Karademas, 2005; Meiser-Stedman, 2002). Others propose a biopsychosocial model (Shalev, 1997). Other models include personality development, social cognition, information processing, conditioning, and anxious-apprehension models (Brewin & Holmes, 2003; Miller, 2003). Primary models of PTSD are summarized in the next sections.

Biological Models. Diathesis-stress models of PTSD propose that traumatic and other negative life events interact with other vulnerabilities to increase risk for the disorder (Elwood, Mott, Williams, Lohr, & Schroeder, 2009). These vulnerabilities, or diatheses, include biological correlates that enhance risk for PTSD (Flouri, 2005; McKeever & Huff, 2003). Maltreatment during developmental critical periods and periods of increased neural plasticity increases risk for PTSD (McKeever & Huff, 2003). Trauma exposure may also result in adaptive biological changes that enhance resilience in some cirumstances (Bowes & Jaffee, 2013). For example, exposure to mild or moderate repeated stress may result in decreased activation of the HPA-axis to future stressors resulting in an increased ability to regulate emotions (Bowes & Jaffee, 2013).

Child maltreatment may further adversely affect genetic expressions (Mehta et al., 2013).

24



www.manaraa.com

Biological diatheses include gene polymorphisms abnormalities in brain functioning and neuroendocrine irregularities (Nemeroff et al., 2006, Zoladz & Diamond, 2013). Genes interact with environmental factors to influence risk for PTSD (La Greca, Lai, Joormann, Auslander, & Short, 2013). The pathophysiology of genetic polymorphisms may create additional risk for exposure to potentially traumatic events (Amstadter, Nugent, & Koenen, 2009; Burt, 2008). Furthermore, specific genetic polymorphisms may enhance PTSD vulnerability (Amstadter et al., 2009). Genetic markers indicated in the pathogenesis of PTSD include the Met allele (BDNF), serotonin hydroxylase genes (TPH1 and TPH2), serotonin transporter promoter polymorphism (5HTTLPR), FKBP5 stress-related gene, dopamine D2 receptor gene (DRD2), glucocorticoid receptor polymorphisms (GCCR), and gamma-aminobutryic acid A receptor polymorphism (GABRA2) (Bachmann et al., 2005; Binder et al., 2008; Goenjian et al., 2012; La Greca et al., 2013, Nelson et al., 2009; Rady, Elsheshai, Mokhtar, Wafa, & Elkholy, 2011). These genes may also increase risk for additional psychopathology such as depression that could maintain PTSD (La Greca et al., 2013). Genetics research remains in its infancy and additional research is needed to identify the role of genes in the developmental trajectory of PTSD (Dyregrov & Yule, 2006). Furthermore, the relationship between genetics, environment, and psychological outcome is bidirectional (Bowes & Jaffee, 2013). For example, youth genetically predisposed to certain behaviors or personality styles such as extroversion may seek out social opportunities that could contribute to resilience and decrease risk for PTSD (Bowes & Jaffee, 2013).

Abnormalities in brain functioning and structure correlate with PTSD development (Karl et al., 2006). PTSD and depression correlate with volumetric reductions in gray matter, particularly in prefrontal regions of the brain (Kroes, Rugg, Whalley, & Brewin, 2011). Individuals exposed to trauma also demonstrate decreased amygdala volumes, a smaller bilateral hippocampus, decreased premotor cortex volume, and a smaller interior cingulate cortex (Karl et



al., 2006; Nemeroff et al., 2006; Rocha-Rego et al., 2012). Hippocampal changes, while common in adults with PTSD, remains rare in youth (Villarreal & King, 2004). Individuals with PTSD further demonstrate exaggerated amygdala responsivity and a diminished response in the prefrontal cortex (Shin et al., 2005)

Neuroendocrine irregularities may also increase biological risk for PTSD. Variations in the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis characterize exposure to prolonged stress (Santa Ana et al., 2006; Shea, Walsh, Macmillan, & Steiner, 2005). Youth with a trauma history secrete increased levels of the glucocorticoid cortisol compared to youth without a trauma history (Carrion & Wong, 2012). Increased levels of cortisol may result in reduced activity in the prefrontal cortex and decreased hippocampal volume (Carrion & Wong, 2012; Carrion, Wong, & Kletter, 2013). Other chemical changes include dopamine, serotonin, norepinephrine, and glutamate abnormalities (Druiy, Theall, Keats, & Scheeringa, 2009; Ravindran & Stein, 2009). Exposure to trauma releases norepinephrine that stimulates serotonin and dopamine release (Norman et al., 2012). Norepinephrine also reduces dopamine reuptake in the prefrontal cortex (Norman et al., 2012). Trauma also increases the release of serotonin, which is partially responsible for regulating stress and anxiety (Krystal & Neumeister, 2009). Neurochemical factors may also increase positive outcomes in individuals exposed to adverse situations (Elliott, Sahakian, & Charney, 2010). Neuropeptide Y and dehydroepiandrosterone may mediate the relationship between stress and resilience (Elliott et al., 2010).

Youth exposed to early stress may demonstrate increased sensitivity to future stressors (Kloet & Rinne, 2007). Early life stress and trauma increases risk for PTSD, emotional problems, and alterations in brain structure (Baker et al., 2013; Kloet & Rinne, 2007). The effects of early life stress differ between early (ages 1-7 years) and later (ages 8-17) child (Baker et al., 2013). Later child life stress correlates with volumetric reductions in the insula and



anterior cingulate cortex (Baker et al., 2013). This relationship was absent in youth aged 7 years and younger (Baker et al., 2013).

Ecological Models. Ecological models propose a complex transaction between social environments and familial, cultural, and personal factors leading to the development of PTSD (McKeever & Huff, 2003). Similarly, resilience to PTSD results from a dynamic process of interacting environmental variables (Rutten et al., 2013). In addition, ecological models include factors related to inherent predispositions, learned responses, and maladaptive cognitions (McKeever & Huff, 2003). Factors may include group marginalization, limited social support, large family size, parental divorce, limited parental support, private family problems, parental overprotectiveness, and others (Afifi, Boman, Fleisher, & Sareen, 2009; Alderfer, Navsaria, & Kazak, 2009; Birmes et al., 2009; Bokszczanin, 2008; McKeever & Huff, 2003). Resilience factors include internal and external factors that facilitate an adaptive response to adversity (Skodal, 2010; Mrazek & Mrazek, 1987; Werner, 2000). For example, resilience factors may include self-esteem, peer, familial, and community support systems, positive emotions, lifepurpose, and self-efficacy (Richardson, 2002; Rutten et al., 2013). Stressors such as trauma interact with these preexisting risk and resilience factors to determine an individual's overall ecological adjustment (McKeever & Huff, 2003). Child maltreatment in particular remains a significant diathesis for PTSD (Zaidi & Foy, 1994). Ecological models remain limited in their ability to distinguish the impact of any single factor or to determine the specific weight given a constellation of risk and resilience factors (McKeever & Huff, 2003).

Fletcher's (2003) model of PTSD emphasizes a transactional approach composed of biological, cognitive, and ecological variables that influence risk and resilience for PTSD. Variations within an experienced trauma may result in distinct symptomatology (Kira, Lewandowski, Somers, Yoon, & Chiodo, 2012). Fletcher's model accounts for trauma and


symptom variability as well as severity as related to a trauma type (Fletcher, 2003). Fletcher also distinguished Type I traumas (discrete or single event traumas) from Type 2 traumas (complex or chronic trauma exposure) (Fletcher, 2003; Ford, Nader, & Fletcher, 2013; Paivio & Pascual-Leone, 2010). Type I traumas include detailed memories of the traumatic event; Type II traumas include symptoms of dissociation, numbing, and denial (Terr, 1991). Others speculate a Type III trauma, which includes multiple chronic exposures to violent traumas (Solomon & Heide, 1999). Type III traumas may include symptoms of dissociation and numbing, major developmental deficits, fragmented sense of self, alterations in memory and consciousness, hopelessness, maladaptive posttraumatic cognitions, and limited sense of future (Solomon & Heide, 1999).

This model of PTSD promotes a formulaic approach composed of interacting resilience and risk factors to determine overall risk for PTSD (Fletcher, 2003). Despite this approach, this model remains limited regarding the protective weight of resilience factors in maltreated youth. Transactional models have also largely focused on PTSD development and remain limited in assessing variability within PTSD symptoms. An examination of specific symptoms would increase insight into the relationship between resilience and less severe forms of PTSD. Indeed, many youth may experience impairment from a subthreshold level of PTSD (Carrion, Weems, Ray, & Reiss, 2002; Cukor, Wyka, Jayasinghe, & Difede, 2010; Kim et al., 2009). Additional research is also needed to examine the interplay between trauma types and PTSD symptomatology. Researchers speculate that resilient outcomes may vary in relation to the type of trauma experienced (Steenkamp, Dickstein, Salters-Pedneault, Hofmann, & Litz, 2012). The protective weight of key resilience factors may differ depending on trauma type.

Cognitive and Information-Processing Models. Cognitive variables predict PTSD (Horsch, McManus, & Kennedy, 2012). Cognitive variables such as a youth's response to trauma, appraisal of a trauma, distributed networks, pictorial and image representations, and



schemas significantly correlate with PTSD (Chemtob, Roitblat, Hamada, Carlson, & Twentyman, 1998; Dalgleish, 2004; Kleim, Ehlers, Glucksman, 2012). Cognitive and information-processing models stem from these cognitive principles and continue to receive much attention (Buckley, Blanchard, & Neill, 2000). Individual cognitive models focus on emotional processing theories, schema-based models, associative networks, or pictorial and image representations (Brewin, 1989; Brewin & Holmes, 2003; Dalgleish, 2004; Foa, Steketee, & Rothbaum, 1989). The multi-representational theory combines multiple cognitive theories to create a comprehensive cognitive explanation for PTSD (Dalgleish, 2004). Few studies apply these cognitive models to youth and considerable research is required to determine their efficacy (Salmon & Bryant, 2002). Ehlers and Clark (2000) addressed this criticism by developing a cognitive model of PTSD in youth.

Ehlers and Clark's (2000) cognitive model focuses on the development of PTSD and the maintenance of PTSD symptoms by examining the role of posttraumatic cognitions, aspects of the trauma memory, and an increased sense of environmental threats (Lancaster, Rodriguez, & Weston, 2011). PTSD occurs when one perceives an ongoing and pervasive threat from a previous traumatic event and its sequelae (Ehlers & Clark, 2000). This perception originates from idiosyncratic negative appraisals, cognitive processing style during trauma, subsequent negative beliefs about the self and world, and the use of maladaptive coping strategies (Dunmore, Clark, & Ehlers, 2001; Ehlers & Clark, 2000). Negative appraisals include overgeneralizing the impact and consequences of a trauma, appraisals of the way one felt during the trauma, interpretations of others' reactions to the event, interpretation of one's own symptoms, and appraisals of perceived danger (Ehlers & Clark, 2000). Negative appraisals enhance maladaptive coping strategies including avoidance and rumination (Ehlers & Clark, 2000). Negative appraisals correlate with suicide risk, reduced perceived ability to control



emotions, and persistent PTSD (Agar, Kennedy, & King, 2006; Maria, Gooding, Taylor, & Tarrier, 2012).

A positive appraisal of a trauma, however, may result in resilience (Bailey, Sharma, & Jubin, 2013). Positive appraisals include a primary positive appraisal of the traumatic event and a secondary appraisal of coping resources as sufficient to managing distress (Velichkovsky, 2009). Resilient traits of optimism, self-esteem, hope, and emotional stability lead to positive appraisals that result in adaptive behaviors such as a focus on problem solving and maintaining positive emotions during traumatic stress (Schaubroeck, Riolli, Peng, & Spain, 2011).

Ehlers and Clark (2000) also indicate disturbed autobiographical memory as a precursor to PTSD development. This view states that a strong associative memory, poor elaboration and contextualization of the trauma, and strong perceptual priming increase risk for PTSD and result in a generalization of cues similar to the trauma (Ehlers & Clark, 2000). The strength of the contextual integration through encoding may increase the number and type of intrusive cognitive experiences (Steel, Fowler, & Holmes, 2005).

Ehlers and Clark's (2000) cognitive model boasts considerable empirical support across trauma types (Karl, Rabe, Zöllner, Maercker, & Stopa, 2009; Lancaster, Rodriguez, & Weston, 2011; Stallard, 2003). Consistent with cognitive and information processing models, changes in maladaptive trauma-related appraisals reduce symptoms of PTSD (Kleim et al., 2013). Ehlers and Clark's model further demonstrates applicability to independent and interdependent cultures (Jobson & O'Kearney, 2009).

Limitations of PTSD Models. PTSD symptoms have been explained through several proposed empirical models, but many fail to account for the role of resilience factors and other trauma sequelae. Biological models account for neurological and biological correlates of PTSD, but few account for variations within the traumatic experience on PTSD development (Kim-



Cohen & Turkewitz, 2012). Researchers, however, indicate higher PTSD rates for sexual maltreatment than for other types of maltreatment (Kearney, Wechsler, Kaur, & Lemos-Miller, 2010; Putnam, 2009). Exposure to multiple forms of trauma may further increase risk for PTSD (Collin-Vézina, Coleman, Milne, Sell, & Daigneault, 2011). Cognitive and information-processing models account for appraisals and memories of the trauma but fail to account for the resilient influences of personality factors such as sociability, self-esteem, self-efficacy, and emotional reactivity (Ehlers & Clark, 2000; Harvey, 2007). Several researchers advocate for the combination of these models (Kalantzi-Azizi & Karademas, 2005; Meiser-Stedman, 2002). Ecological models such as Fletcher's (2003) account for trauma variability by applying a transactional view of pathogenesis, but these models are rarely applied to maltreated youth. This study employed a transactional model by examining the impact of key resilience factors on PTSD symptom severity. The following sections review the relationship between child maltreatment and PTSD.

Child Maltreatment and PTSD

General Prevalence

Children with maltreatment histories demonstrate higher risk for PTSD than youth in the general population (Pecora, White, Jackson, & Wiggins, 2009). Approximately 66% of American youth are exposed to trauma (Cohen, Scheid, & Gerson, 2014). Chronic or multiple traumas occur in approximately 33% of American youth (Cohen, Scheid, & Gerson, 2014). Estimating the prevalence of PTSD among victims of maltreatment, however, remains difficult (Fairbank, Putnam, & Harris, 2007). The relationship between maltreatment and PTSD strengthens as the number, type, and severity of child maltreatment increases (Moore, Gaskin, & Indig, 2013). Youth younger than age 11 years are at heightened risk for PTSD (Davidson & Smith, 1990). Females remain at higher risk for PTSD (Davis & Siegel, 2000). Youth in foster



care evidence heightened prevalence for PTSD (Salazar, Keller, Gowen, & Courtney, 2013).

Prevalence by Maltreatment Type. Researchers estimate that 27-50% of physically maltreated youth develop symptoms warranting a PTSD diagnosis (Ackerman, Newton, McPherson, Jones, & Dykman, 1998; Johansen, Eilertsen, Nordanger, & Weisaeth, 2013). Approximately 21-50% of sexually maltreated youth demonstrate PTSD (Kearney, Wechsler, Kaur, & Lemos-Miller, 2010). Other estimates indicate that as many as 66-90% of sexually maltreated youth evidence symptoms of PTSD or other psychological impairment (Kearney et al., 2010; Putnam, 2009). Approximately 30.6% of neglected youth meet criteria for PTSD (Widom, 1999). Emotional maltreatment in isolation remains sufficient for a PTSD diagnosis (Street & Arias, 2001). Furthermore, removal from home may constitute a primary trauma that increases risk of PTSD (Wechsler-Zimring, Kearney, Kaur, & Day, 2012). Removal may result in less severe or subthreshold levels of PTSD (Wechsler-Zimring et al., 2012). In addition to meeting full criteria for PTSD, approximately 32% of youth meet criteria for subthreshold PTSD (Silva et al., 2000).

Youth reporting multiple, frequent, or intense traumas display increased rates of PTSD (Carrion, Weems, Ray, & Reiss, 2002). Approximately one-third of American youth endorse multiple, chronic traumas (Cohen, Scheid, & Gerson, 2014). The number of traumas correlates to PTSD outcomes (Harder, Mutiso, Khasakhala, Burke, & Ndetei, 2012). Youth exposed to severe or ongoing trauma demonstrate increased risk for complex PTSD (Siebler, 2004; Spitzer, Chevalier, Gillner, Freyberger, & Barnow, 2006). Furthermore, exposure to multiple traumas increases risk for future behavior problems and enduring trauma symptoms (Shen, 2009).

Trauma exposure rates may also vary by gender. Female adolescents endorse more traumatic experiences than males (Cuffe et al., 1998). Furthermore, females endorse increased rates of sexual maltreatment and sexual assault (Finkelhor, Shattuck, Turner, & Hamby, 2014).



Males, however, endorse increased rates of physical assault and accidents (Reebye, Moretti, Wiebe, & Lessard, 2000). These gender differences may stem from increased disclosure of maltreatment and PTSD symptoms by females compared to males (Ullman & Filipas, 2005b). Females also receive more positive reactions to disclosures than males (Ullman & Filipas, 2005b).

Additional demographic factors may also correlate to PTSD risk. Sexual orientation minority youth demonstrate 1.5 to 4 times the risk for PTSD following maltreatment (Roberts, Rosario, Corliss, Koenen, & Austin, 2012). Exposure to domestic violence increases PTSD rates in youth (Margolin & Vickerman, 2011). Nearly 50% of youth exposed to domestic violence report symptoms of PTSD, although just 13% met criteria for the disorder (Rossman & Ho, 2000). Children exposed to violence demonstrate life-long vulnerability to biological, social, and emotional impairments (Sharma-Patel et al., 2011). Race and ethnicity may result in increased risk for PTSD following maltreatment; however, few researchers have examined the prevalence of PTSD and maltreatment among minority groups within the United States. African Americans endorse more trauma exposure than European Caucasians (Cuffe et al., 1998). Sexual maltreatment and PTSD risk increased for minority group males in families with one or no parents (Holmes & Slap, 1998). Negative social reactions to disclosure of sexual maltreatment may also vary by ethnicity (Ullman & Filipas, 2005a).

Prevalence studies focus predominantly on whether a child meets diagnostic criteria for PTSD following maltreatment. Few studies explore variations of PTSD symptoms following child maltreatment (Jonkman, Verlinden, Bolle, Boer, & Lindauer, 2013). Furthermore, little is known regarding what variables may mitigate PTSD symptomatology. The interchange between maltreatment risk for PTSD symptomatology and resilience also remains largely unknown. A review of key symptoms in maltreated youth is provided below.



Symptomatology and Outcome

Maltreated youth often endorse symptoms such as anxiety, anger, depression, dissociation, emotional problems, hyperactivity, conduct problems, and psychosomaticism (Bruce, Heimberg, Blanco, Schneier, & Liebowitz, 2012; Jonkman, Verlinden, Bolle, Boer, & Lindauer, 2013; Lamela & Figueiredo, 2013; Stange, Hamlat, Hamilton, Abramson, & Alloy, 2013; Sullivan & Knutson, 1998). Symptom profiles appear to differ by the maltreatment type experienced (Runyon, Deblinger, & Steer, 2013). Increased trauma exposure correlates with more symptoms (Jonkman, Verlinden, Bolle, Boer, & Lindauer, 2013). Maltreated youth may also oscillate between aggressive symptoms and victim distress following a trauma (Dodge, Pettit, & Bates, 1994).

Limitations Regarding PTSD Symptomatology. PTSD remains a common diagnosis in maltreated youth. Research studies remain limited regarding the outcome of youth diagnosed with PTSD. Despite recognition that trauma type may influence symptomatology, few researchers have examined symptom variations within each type of trauma exposure. Little is known regarding which variables interact and increase or decrease symptom severity. A number of additional comorbidities may also increase severity of PTSD symptomatology.

Comorbidity

Comorbid diagnoses in maltreated youth with PTSD are common. Traumatized inpatient youth report nearly twice as many comorbid diagnoses as other inpatient youth without a history of trauma (Kearney, Wechsler, Kaur, & Lemos-Miller, 2010; Lipschitz, Winegar, Hartnick, Foote, & Southwick, 1999). Children maltreated by a male endorsed more diagnoses than those maltreated by a female (Ackerman, Newton, McPherson, Jone, & Dykman, 1998). Child maltreatment increases risk for compulsive sexual behavior (Blain, Muench, Morgenstern, &

Parsons, 2012).



Anxiety

Youth exposed to maltreatment endorse increased risk for additional anxiety disorders (Raabe & Spengler, 2013). Females remain at heightened risk for anxiety disorders compared to males following maltreatment (King et al., 2011). Linning and Kearney (2004) found frequent occurrences of separation anxiety disorder (35.1%), social anxiety disorder (48.6%), specific phobia (78.4%), panic disorder with and without agoraphobia (18.4%), generalized anxiety disorder (48.6%), and obsessive-compulsive disorder (10.8%) in maltreated youth with PTSD. The occurrence of comorbid anxiety disorders also varies by maltreatment type. Sexual maltreatment correlates with increased rates of panic disorder, generalized anxiety disorder, and social anxiety disorder (Cougle, Timpano, Sachs-Ericsson, Keough, & Riccardi, 2010). Physical maltreatment correlates with increased rates of specific phobias (Cougle et al., 2010).

Depression

Child maltreatment significantly increases risk for PTSD and comorbid major depressive disorder in youth immediately following maltreatment and later as an adult (Dannlowski et al., 2012; Kasen et al., 2001; Leeson & Nixon, 2011; Seraphin et al., 2010). Maltreatment increases risk of lifetime depression and negatively affects the course of depression and response to treatment (Nanni, Uher, & Danese, 2012). Risk for comorbid symptoms of depression and anxiety was particularly common in homeless females with PTSD (Gwadz, Nish, Leonard, & Strauss, 2007). Depression may also mediate the relationship between posttraumatic cognitions, dissociation, and PTSD (Lemos-Miller & Kearney, 2006).

Levels of depression and PTSD may vary based on type of maltreatment. Witnessing family violence or other violence increases risk for depression (Turner, Finkelhor, & Ormrod, 2006). Sexually maltreated men and woman demonstrate elevated risk for depression, PTSD, suicidal ideation, and suicide attempts (Bedi et al., 2011). Sexually maltreated youth with PTSD



evidence more occurrences of depression and risky externalizing behaviors than sexually maltreated youth without PTSD (Danielson et al., 2010). Depression remains the bestdocumented outcome of child sexual maltreatment (Putnam, 2003). Psychologically maltreated individuals exhibit increased rates of depression and PTSD compared to nonmaltreated individuals (Chirichella-Besemer & Motta, 2008). Victims of psychological maltreatment exhibit mild levels of depression and mild to moderate levels of anxiety (Chirichella-Besemer & Motta, 2008). These victims may endure isolation, humiliation, criticism, and emotional neglect that adversely affects self-esteem and increases depression (Hart, Binggeli, & Brassard, 1997).

The experience of mood symptoms may vary by ethnicity. European Caucasians report more internal attributions for maltreatment than other ethnic groups (Feiring, Coates, & Taska, 2001). Hispanic American women may experience more shame from sexual maltreatment than other ethnic groups (Feiring et al., 2001). Results remain limited due to difficulty separating subgroups of different ethnicities (Ullman & Filipas, 2005a). Few studies examine depression, maltreatment, and PTSD among African Americans. African American status, however, weakens the relationship between depression and PTSD (Lemos-Miller & Kearney, 2006).

Prevalence Rates in Maltreated Youth. Linning and Kearney (2004) indicated increased rates of dysthymia (43.2%) and major depressive disorder (35.1%) in maltreated youth with PTSD. Approximately 18% of a sample of maltreated youth aged 7-12 years met diagnostic criteria for depression and 25% for dysthymia (Kaufman, 1991). Depression also increases as the number of victimization experiences increases (Turner, Finkelhor, & Ormrod, 2006). Approximately 70% of youth who endorse maltreatment indicate suicidal ideation (Danielson, de Arellano, Kilpatrick, Saunders, & Resnick, 2005). Females in the general population indicate significantly increased risk for depression (Zahn-Waxler, Race, & Duggal, 2005). The literature remains unclear, however, regarding gender differences in depression among maltreated males



and females (Chirichella-Besemer & Motta, 2008).

Maltreatment and Depression. The cognitive relationship between maltreatment and psychological comorbidity remains largely unknown (Leeson & Nixon, 2011). Researchers speculate that an overgeneral autobiographical memory may in part establish the link between maltreatment, PTSD, and depression (Stange, Hamlat, Hamilton, Abramson, & Alloy, 2013). An overgeneral memory occurs when an individual primarily retrieves general autobiographical memories and results from the avoidance of specific details of a traumatic event (Phung & Bryant, 2013). Individuals who recall more overgeneral memories report higher levels of depression (Stange et al., 2013). An overgeneral style may lead to executive dysfunctions that increase risk for depression (Hankin & Abramson, 2001; Rawal & Rice, 2012). Depression may also lead to precursor symptoms that increase risk for PTSD in maltreated youth (Kearney, Wechsler, Kaur, & Lemos-Miller, 2010; Lemos-Miller & Kearney 2006).

Social support may influence the relationship between depression, PTSD, and maltreatment. Reduced social support and maltreatment increase risk for depression and PTSD (Vranceanu, Hobfoll, & Johnson, 2007). Youth with decreased parent and peer support demonstrate additional risk for depression following stress (McMahon, Coker & Parnes, 2013; Piko, Luszczynska, & Filpatrick, 2013). Increased social support may protect against psychopathology such as depression and PTSD (Leontopoulou, 2013). Youth with fewer types of maltreatment receive additional benefit from social support and exhibit reduced risk for depression (Salazar, Keller, & Courtney, 2011). Social support alone appears to partially account for symptom variations in the relationship between maltreatment and depression (Salazar et al., 2011).

Child maltreatment may also lead to internalizing symptoms and depression in youth by altering the regulatory capacity of the fear circuit in the brain (Herringa et al., 2013). Similar to



PTSD, strong evidence exists of the relationship between hyperactivity of the HPA axis and major depressive disorder (Shea, Walsh, MacMillan, & Steiner, 2005). Early-life stress may disrupt the HPA axis and create vulnerability for PTSD and comorbid depression (Shea et al., 2005). Child maltreatment also reduces hippocampal gray matter volume and increases amygdala responsiveness to negative stimuli that may mediate the pathway to diagnoses of PTSD and depression (Dannlowski et al., 2012). HPA axis disruption may result in volumetric enlargement of the pituitary glands and hypothalamus (Kessing, Willer, & Knorr, 2011). Larger pituitary volumes correlate with depression and PTSD in maltreated youth (Kessing et al., 2011; Thomas & De Bellis, 2004). Enlarged pituitary volumes also correlate with early onset depression and other mood disorders (MacMaster, Leslie, Rosenberg, & Kusumakar, 2008). Additionally, larger pituitary volumes correlate with suicidal ideation in youth with PTSD (Thomas & De Bellis, 2004).

Genetic risks may also interact with maltreatment to produce comorbid depression. Youth with the long/long variation of the serotonin transport gene (5-HTTLPR) demonstrated increased risk for depressive symptoms following maltreatment (Banny, Cicchetti, Rogosch, Oshri, & Crick, 2013; Cutuli, Raby, Cicchetti, Englund, & Egeland, 2013). The short alleles of the serotonin transport gene also moderate the relationship between maltreatment and depression (Brown et al., 2013). Child maltreatment and the serotonin transporter gene interact to influence vulnerability for depression in children (Banny et al., 2013). Others indicate the monoamine oxidase A gene may increase vulnerability for depression following maltreatment (Beach et al., 2010).

Dissociation

Dissociative symptoms, along with PTSD and depression, represent common trauma responses in maltreated youth across all developmental periods (Maercker, Beauducel, &



Schützwohl, 2000; Milot et al., 2013; Mueller-Pfeiffer et al., 2013). Dissociative symptoms may emerge without threat of bodily harm (Mueller-Pfeiffer et al., 2013). Dissociation may occur during or after a traumatic event (Armstrong, Putnam, Carlson, Libero, & Smith, 1997). Dissociation may also serve as a way to adapt to adversity during a traumatic experience (Valentino, Cicchetti, Rogosch, & Toth, 2008). Unfortunately, despite strong evidence for dissociation following trauma, considerable variation hinders the clarity of its link between maltreatment and PTSD (Dietrich, 2003). Researchers remain unclear regarding what features of a trauma influence the development of dissociation (Mueller-Pfeiffer et al., 2013). Dissociation may serve to protect an individual from negative or traumatic experiences by allowing them to free themselves from the traumatic memory (Foa & Rothbaum, 1998).

Dissociation resulting from maltreatment revolves around distortions to perceptual, emotional, sensory, or motor functions as well as disruptions to one's identity, awareness, or perception (Van der Hart, Nijenhuis, Steele, & Brown, 2004). The degree of dissociation may differ between individuals with PTSD (Putnam et al., 1996). Not all trauma victims endorse dissociative symptoms. Rather, dissociative symptoms appear to occur in trauma victims who endorse a number of additional risk factors (Briere, 2006). Trauma severity predicts chronic dissociation (Braehler et al., 2013; Maercker, Beauducel, & Schützwohl, 2000). Furthermore, number of perpetrators, affect modulation abilities, and coping style may moderate the relationship between maltreatment and dissociation (Briere, 2006; Mueller-Pfeiffer et al., 2013). Individuals with high levels of dissociation also endorse more severe levels of PTSD (Hyer, Albrecht, Boudewyns, Woods, & Brandsma, 1993).

The common comorbidity of dissociation with PTSD has led researchers to infer a possible dissociative subtype of PTSD among maltreatment victims exposed to more severe trauma experiences (Ginzburg et al., 2006). Evidence for this view includes the dissociative



qualities of some PTSD symptoms such as diminished interested in significant activities, detachment from others, restricted range of affect, and trauma amnesia (Butler, Duran, Jasiukaitis, & Koopman, 1996). Furthermore, the diagnosis of PTSD contains dissociative symptoms of depersonalization/derealization, amnesia, flashbacks, and numbing (APA, 2013).

Symptoms of Dissociation. Dissociative symptoms are influenced by the proximity of a trauma (APA, 2013). Dissociative symptoms include depersonalization, derealization, amnesia, and absorption (Armstrong, Putnam, Carlson, Libero, & Smith, 1997). Symptoms also include disruptions or discontinuities of consciousness, identity, emotion, perception, motor control, body representation, and behavior (APA, 2013). A diagnosis of PTSD includes symptoms of depersonalization/derealization characterized by feelings of unreality or detachment from one's body or environment (APA, 2013). Dissociative symptoms may also increase risk for future traumas by decreasing alertness to dangers, which may increase vulnerability for interpersonal violence (Briere, 2006). Researchers remain divided on this point, however (Briere, 2006; Sandberg, Matorin, & Lynn, 1999).

Psychoform dissociation refers to the separation of mental content following trauma (Schild & Dalenberg, 2012). Psychoform dissociation significantly relates to maltreatment occurring before age 13 years (Mueller-Pfeiffer et al., 2013). Sexually maltreated victims report higher levels of psychoform dissociation when victimized by a perpetrator outside the family (Mueller-Pfeiffer et al., 2013). Women demonstrate more psychoform dissociation than men when exposed to emotional child maltreatment (Mueller-Pfeiffer et al., 2013). Somatoform dissociation refers to psychologically derived physical symptoms (Schild & Dalenberg, 2012). Somatoform dissociation linked to child maltreatment consists of sensory and functional impairments such as physical pain or anaesthesias (Dietrich, 2003).



Prevalence of Dissociation. Prevalence rates for dissociation in trauma victims ranges from 4 to 34% (Martínez-Taboas, Canino, Wang, García, & Bravo, 2006; Yehuda et al., 1996). Twelve-month prevalence for dissociation following a trauma is 14.4% (Stein et al., 2013). Variability of the prevalence of dissociation may result from heterogeneity within the traumas experienced. Negative affect during trauma disclosure predicts greater amounts of dissociation in maltreated youth (Sayfan, Mitchell, Goodman, Eisen, & Qin, 2008).

Dissociation by Gender. The appraisal of a traumatic event leads to symptoms and gender differences in dissociation (Frans, Rimmö, Åberg, & Fredrikson, 2005). Males report additional dissociative symptoms for noninterpersonal traumas, whereas females report more dissociative symptoms for interpersonal traumas (Kerig & Bennett, 2013). Others indicate that the heightened rates of dissociative symptoms in females result from a higher frequency of assault by relationally close perpetrators (DePrince & Freyd, 2002; Tang & Freyd, 2012). Females generally endorse higher rates of peritraumatic and persistent dissociation than males (Hetzel-Riggin & Roby, 2013; Werner & Griffen, 2012). This relationship between females and dissociation remains true for adults and youth (Galovski, Blain, Chappuis, & Fletcher, 2013; Hulette, Freyd, & Fisher, 2011). Men showed increased risk for dissociation compared to women after exposure to emotional maltreatment (Braehler et al., 2013). Dissociative symptomatology may also differ between males and females. Males endorse heightened rates of numbing following a trauma (Kerig & Bennett, 2013).

Link between Maltreatment and Dissociation. Dissociation constitutes an adaptive response that defends youth against unavoidable maltreatment (Valentino, Cicchetti, Rogosch, & Toth, 2008). Researchers speculate that dissociation allows youth to manage daily life stress and promotes survival in traumatic situations (Nijenhuis, van der Hart, & Steele, 2010). Dissociation enables traumatized individuals to separate from the negative affect associated with the trauma



and from the trauma perpetrator (Bartosch, 2006). Dissociation following trauma results in difficulty maintaining attention, poor academic functioning, and decreased intelligence scores in maltreated youth (De Bellis, Woolley, & Hooper, 2013; Perzow et al., 2013; Schauer & Elbert, 2010).

Others speculate a biological origin to dissociative symptoms following trauma (Bob, 2012). Deficits in frontal lobe functioning correlate with dissociative symptoms (Cima, Merckelbach, Klein, Shellbach-Matties, Kremer, 2001). Dissociation also appears to increase activity in brain regions related to emotional regulation and inhibition (Carlson, Dalenberg, & McDade-Montez, 2012). The cerebellum correlates with dissociative symptoms pertaining to sense of time and perception of space (Ursano, Fullerton, & Benedek, 2007).

The degree of dissociation correlates with the level of trauma exposure (Carlson, Dalenberg, & McDade-Montez, 2012). Consistent with this theory, severe, early, and chronic maltreatment links to greater development of dissociative symptoms (Kirby, Chu, & Dill, 1993). The severity of dissociation correlates to the severity and intensity of an assault in sexually and physically maltreated victims (Kirby et al., 1993). High trauma exposure prior to PTSD development, childhood onset of PTSD, re-experiencing symptoms, previous diagnoses of phobias, separation anxiety disorder, and suicidality correlate with symptoms of PTSD with comorbid dissociation (Stein et al., 2013). Dissociation also correlates with emotional maltreatment in inpatient youth (Braehler et al., 2013). Multiple forms of maltreatment may pose higher risk for dissociation than single forms. For example, sexual maltreatment with neglect constitutes additional higher risk for dissociation than sexual maltreatment or neglect alone, or physical maltreatment with or without neglect (Hulette, Fisher, Kim, Ganger, & Landsverk, 2008).



Externalizing Behaviors

Maltreated youth with PTSD may express comorbid symptoms of oppositional defiant disorder, conduct disorder, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and substance abuse (Danielson et al., 2009; Ford et al., 2000; Kearney, Wechsler, Kaur, & Lemos-Miller, 2010). Maltreated males generally exhibit more problematic externalizing behaviors than females (Ackerman, Newton, McPherson, Jones, & Dkyman, 1998). Approximately 35% of youth with histories of maltreatment and PTSD meet criteria for a diagnosis of attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder (Linning & Kearney, 2004).

Polysubstance abuse correlates with maltreated youth (Rosenkranz, Muller, & Henderson, 2012). PTSD youth endorse heightened prevalence rates for cigarette (53%), alcohol (59%), and marijuana (34%) use (McCart et al., 2011). Exposure to multiple types of maltreatment results in increased severity of substance abuse problems (Danielson et al., 2009). Physically and sexually maltreated youth and youth in foster care endorse higher rates of substance abuse (Danielson et al., 2009; Keller, Salazar, & Courtney, 2010). Researchers hypothesize that impaired self-regulation mediates the relationship between maltreatment, PTSD, and substance abuse (Rosenkranz et al., 2012).

Anger commonly co-occurs with PTSD in youth (Saigh, Yasik, Oberfield, & Halamandaris, 2007). Youth with PTSD demonstrate increased anger expression and anger temperament (Saigh et al., 2007). Furthermore, repeated exposure to violence may increase violent behavior in youth (Bell & Jenkins, 1991; Kimonis, Ray, Branch, & Cauffman, 2011). Anger in maltreated youth with PTSD also correlates to lack of guilt and empathy (Kimonis et al., 2011).

Review of Maltreatment and PTSD

Youth with maltreatment and PTSD histories demonstrate increased risk for comorbid



depression and dissociation (Valentino, Cicchetti, Rogosch, & Toth, 2008; Yehuda et al., 1996).
Researchers speculate that dissociation and trauma-related cognitions predict PTSD
symptomatology, and are mediated by variables such as depression (Lemos-Miller & Kearney,
2006). Little is known, however, regarding the influence of resilience on PTSD
symptomatology. A review of resilience and its relationship to maltreatment is provided below.

Resilience

The definition of resilience lacks consensus and remains highly debated (Klika & Herrenkohl, 2013; Luthar, Cicchetti, & Becker, 2000). Definitional uncertainty stems from variations in the sociocultural and historical contexts of research development (Fletcher & Sarkar, 2013). Furthermore, researchers disagree regarding what encompasses resilience to adversity (Fletcher & Sarkar, 2013). However, researchers generally agree that resilience requires an adverse situation and recovery or adaptation to that situation (Fletcher & Sarkar, 2013). These basic themes laid the foundation for the development of specific resilience definitions.

Resilience in adults has been defined as "the ability of adults in otherwise normal circumstances who are exposed to an isolated or potentially highly disruptive event, such as the death of a close relation or violent life-threatening situation, to maintain relatively stable, healthy levels of psychological and physical functioning" (Bonanno, 2008, p. 20). Resilience in youth has been defined as "a dynamic process encompassing positive adaptation within the context of significant adversity" (Luthar, Cicchetti, & Becker, 2000, p. 543). Others conceptualize resilience as competence (Masten et al., 1995). Competence refers to "the effectiveness and the quality of individual adaptation as it reflects the adaptive use of internal and external resources to enable the successful negotiation of developmentally salient issues" (Obradović, van Dulmen, Yates, Carlson, & Egeland, 2006; p. 858). Still others define resilience as adapting to adversity



(Kim-Cohen, 2007). Adaptability refers to one's ability to adapt by appropriately applying mental resources, shifting cognitive perspectives, balancing life domains, and using personal values to guide decisions in a changing environment (Kashdan & Rottenberg, 2010).

This study applies Connor and Davidson's (2003; p. 76) definition of resilience as "the personal qualities that enable one to thrive in the face of adversity." These personal qualities, or resilience factors, include demographic variables, individual characteristics, and social factors (Bonanno & Mancini, 2008; Cicchetti & Toth, 1997; Ungar, 2013b; Wolfe, 2013).

Resilience Factors

Key resilience factors include those that are enduring, malleable to interventions, relevant to the context of the adversity, and help support additional protective processes (Luthar, Sawyer, & Brown, 2006). For example, resilience factors include the role of close relationships, parenting practices, and unique positive attributes of the child (Egeland, 2007). Resilience factors influence an individual's response to adverse situations and increase an individual's ability to function and recover following adverse events (Kasler, Dahan, & Elias, 2008; Rutter, 1987). Resilience factors are multifaceted and occur across individual, family, and community levels (Sarkar & Fletcher, 2014; Zimmerman et al., 2013). The interaction of a large number of resilience variables best predicts positive outcomes, although the specific protective weight of each variable depends on context (Fletcher & Sarkar, 2013).

Resilience factors allow a person to "recover from or entirely avoid negative outcomes from unfavorable conditions that otherwise would inevitably lead to negative developmental pathways" (Leipold & Greve, 2009; p. 41). Leipold and Greve's (2009) definition also accounts for variations within outcomes. For example, a child may endorse symptoms of PTSD and remain resilient provided the presence of resilience factors reduces overall severity. The terms "resilience factor" and "protective factor" are often used interchangeably in the extant literature.



The term "resilience factor" is utilized here to refer to specific variables that reduce risk for psychopathology.

Theoretical Framework of Resilience

A transactional model of resilience stems from early research focusing on the interaction between an individual, stress exposure, and environmental context (Cash & Gardner, 2011; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). This model accounts for an individual's resources in relation to the demands of his environment (Cash & Gardner, 2011). Resilience within a transactional model results when environmental and biological risk and resilience factors interact and lead to varying degrees of susceptibility to psychopathology (Belsky & Pluess, 2013; Masten & Cicchetti, 2010; Rogosch, Oshri, & Cicchetti, 2010; Sameroff, 2009). For example, youth with an increased ability to regulate emotions demonstrate decreased risk for adult PTSD after a trauma (Kulkarni, Pole, & Timko, 2013). Emotional regulation therefore represents a personal characteristic that interacts with maltreatment, an environmental stressor, to determine outcome. Researchers have recently advanced this framework in youth by incorporating genetic contributions, neuroscience, and higher-level cognitive processes such as finding existential meaning (Kumpfer, Fenollar, Xie, & Dellinger, 2011).

The resilience factors chosen for this study include an individual's sense of control or mastery of her environment, emotional reactivity, and sense of relations to others (Prince-Embury, 2007). These variables were chosen because they represent consistent themes throughout the resilience literature (e.g. Dang, 2014; Khanlou & Wray, 2014; Žunić-Pavlović, Pavlović, Kovačević-Lepojević, Glumbić, & Kovačević, 2013). Furthermore, these variables appear to meet Luthar and colleagues (2006) guidelines for identifying key resilience factors. A review of key resilience factor models is provided in the following section.



Resilience Factor Models

Researchers have expanded on the transactional models to include specific models that specify the role of resilience factors in reducing psychopathology. Multiple models of resilience examine the relationship between protective factors, adversity, and outcome (Gomez & McLaren, 2006). Four key models are reviewed below: risk-protective, protective-reactive, protective-stabilizing, and protective-protective.

Risk-Protective Model. Resilience factors mitigate risk factors to provide a buffer against adverse situations (Christiansen & Evans, 2005). Higher levels of a specific resilience factor will result in increased buffering effects compared to lower levels of the factor (McLaren, Gomez, Bailey, & Van Der Horst, 2007). For example, youth with higher optimism will show more resilience to adversity than youth with lower optimism (Brodhagen & Wise, 2008).

Protective-Reactive Model. The positive influence of resilience factors is increased when the risk factor is low and decreased when the risk factor is high (Brown, Wolchick, Tein, & Sandler, 2007). Furthermore, the relationship between the adverse situation and a negative outcome increases without the presence of a given resilience factor (Zolkoski & Bullock, 2012). For example, youth exposed to multiple traumas instead of isolated traumatic events may demonstrate increased risk for negative outcomes (Huang, Schwandt, Ramchandani, George, & Heilig, 2012). This relationship may remain especially strong in youth without a sense of hope or optimism for the future (Brodhagen & Wise, 2008).

Protective-Stabilizing Model. Resilience factors help stabilize an individual despite an increase in risk factors (Luthar, Cicchetti, & Becker, 2000). The presence of the resilience factor negates the association between risk and negative outcomes (Luthar et al., 2000). For example, youth with heightened emotional reactivity may demonstrate increased susceptibility to psychopathology following adversity (Shapero et al., 2014). High social support, however, may



negate the risk by increasing emotional regulatory ability (Luszczynska & Cieslak, 2005; Shenk & Fruzzetti, 2011).

Protective-Protective Model. Resilience factors reduce the relationship between an adverse situation and subsequent negative outcomes (Hollister-Wagner, Foshee, & Jackson, 2001). Each additional resilience factor further weakens the relationship between adversity and negative outcomes, and individual protective factors can strengthen the buffering effects of other factors (Hollister-Wagner et al., 2001). For example, youth with advanced social skills and access to extracurricular activities may evidence increased resilience to adversity compared to youth with only one of those factors (Edward, 2005). The number of resilience factors remains prominent in the protective-protective model (Gomez & McLaren, 2006).

This study applied a protective-protective model of resilience conceptualization. This model was selected due to empirical support highlighting its application to adolescents (Donnon, 2010). Support also exists for the use of this model in predicting resilience to anxiety and depression (Gomez & McLaren, 2006). Furthermore, this model highlights the cumulative relationship between resilience factors. For instance, higher rates of self-esteem, sense of relation to others, and decreased emotional reactivity are expected to mediate the relationship between maltreatment and subsequent PTSD. The sum of these resilience factors together is expected to influence risk for PTSD symptoms more than individually. Other models of resilience, while empirically supported, account less for this cumulative effect of various resiliency factors. As a result, the protective-protective model presently stands as the most valid and applicable choice given the variables and direction of this present study. The following sections review resilience and psychopathology with an emphasis on maltreatment and PTSD.

The interaction of individual risk factors, contextual factors, and protective resources



www.manaraa.com

determine susceptibility for psychopathology (Rew, Thomas, Horner, Resnick, & Beuhring, 2001). Resilience factors may minimize the influence of risk factors and thus result in decreased rates of psychopathology and psychiatric hospitalization (Shrivastava, De Sousa, Shah, Campbell, & Berlemont, 2014). Resilience factors also allow youth to navigate difficult situations that increase risk for adverse outcomes (Reivich, Gillham, Chaplin, & Seligman, 2013). Furthermore, resilience factors may promote a pattern of responding to adverse situations that fosters additional resilience (Zoellner & Feeny, 2014).

Resilience and Internalizing Disorders. Resilience factors decrease risk for internalizing disorders (Lahat & Schmidt, 2013; Ng, Ang, & Ho, 2012; Willemen, Schuengel, & Koot, 2011). High social competence, increased socioeconomic status, and high levels of protective parenting decrease risk for internalizing problems in youth (Lansford et al., 2006). In addition, youth indicating a high sense of mastery over their environment, a high sense of relation to other people, and low emotional reactivity reported decreased emotional distress and a positive view of the self (Žunić-Pavlović, Pavlović, Kovačević-Lepojević, Glumbić, & Kovačević, 2013).

Several researchers highlight the role of cognitive factors in promoting resilience (Avci et al., 2013). For example, individuals applying positive cognitive appraisals to adverse situations show less risk for internalizing disorders related to negative emotions (Stone, Kennedy-Moore, & Neale, 1995). Decreased use of hostile cognitive attributions also decreases risk (Lansford et al., 2006). Increased problem-solving ability and accurate cognitive styles promote resilience in individuals at risk for anxiety and depression (Reivich, Gillham, Chaplin, & Seligman, 2013).

Positive social factors and social support consistently promote resilience (Zimmerman et al., 2013). Social competence through social-problem solving, affect and behavior regulation, and flexibility reduces risk for internalizing problems (Watson, Rich, Sanchez, O'Brien, & Alvord, 2014). Supportive and positive family and social relationships also contribute to



decreased risk for internalizing problems (Jackson, Sifers, Warren, & Velasquez, 2003; Zimmerman et al., 2013). For instance, resilience factors of family cohesion and social competence relate to less anxiety and depressive symptoms in adolescents (Kim et al., 2013; Skrove, Romundstad, & Indredavik, 2013). Parental warmth and teacher support increase resilience to internalizing problems (Brennan, Le Brocque, & Hammen, 2003; Davidson & Adams, 2013).

Resilience and Externalizing Disorders. Interactions between risk and resilience factors also influence externalizing behaviors (Calkins, Blandon, Williford, & Keane, 2007; Goldstein & Rider, 2013). Support for the protective influence of resilience variables exists for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, oppositional defiant disorder, conduct disorder, and other conduct-related problems (Goldstein & Rider, 2005). Several resilience factors safeguard against the development of these behaviors. Positive peer relationships interact with family adversity to reduce risk for externalizing disorders in adolescents (Criss, Pettit, Bates, Dodge, & Lapp, 2002). Likewise, positive parenting practices such as limited use of corporal punishment decreases risk (Eisenberg, Chang, Ma, & Huang, 2009). Higher socioeconomic status, high parental monitoring, and less harsh discipline increase resilience rates to externalizing disorders (Lansford et al., 2006). Low family conflict also correlates to decreased rates of externalizing problems (Tschann, Kaiser, Chesney, Alkon, & Boyce, 1996)

Several internal child factors also relate to decreased rates of externalizing problems. A regulated and controlled temperament reduces risk for externalizing problems (Eisenberg et al., 2010). Furthermore, an inner sense of confidence also decreases risk of externalizing problems (Li, Nussbaum, & Richards, 2007). Self-perceived academic competence and academic success predicted resilient functioning in youth at risk for externalizing disorders (Mikami & Hinshaw, 2006; Steca, Alessandri, Vecchio, & Caprara, 2007).



Resilience and Psychotic Conditions. Resilience factors appear to reduce the risk of psychosis in individuals at high risk for psychotic conditions (Kim et al., 2013). Resilience factors may also help recovery following a psychotic episode (Randal et al., 2009; Tait, Birchwood, & Trower, 2004). A positive support system and problem-focused coping strategies correlate with resilience in youth at risk for schizophrenia (Herbert, Manjula, & Philip, 2013). Higher self-esteem and less stress decrease susceptibility to positive psychotic symptoms (Pruessner, Iyer, Faridi, Joober, & Malla, 2011). Similarly, positive self-appraisals and adaptive coping styles link to decreased risk of suicide and psychosis (Johnson et al., 2010).

Limitations in Resilience and Psychopathology. Despite this increased interest in resilience, resilience factors are rarely examined within a model of psychopathology. This remains especially true for maltreated children at risk for PTSD. This study addresses this limitation by exploring transactions of key resilience variables in relation to PTSD symptomatology. A review of resilience in relation to child maltreatment and PTSD is provided in the following sections.

Resilience and Maltreatment

Most maltreated youth recover within weeks following a trauma despite significantly increased risk for psychopathology (Husain, 2012). Resilience represents a mechanism for positive recovery rather than a characteristic or trait of an individual (Dang, 2014; Masten, 2001). No specific maltreatment victim or perpetrator characteristic alone accounts for a resilient outcome (Masten & Wright, 1998). A child's maltreatment history may thus vary depending on complex transactions between risk and resilience factors (Dang, 2014; Masten & Wright, 1998). For many, resilience may represent a progressive trajectory towards healthy functioning (Bonanno, 2012). For example, resilience appears to emerge following improvement of a child's environment in maltreated youth (Masten, 2014). Others, however, may demonstrate



resilience in some domains of functioning yet struggle in other domains (Klika & Herrenkohl, 2013). Little is known, however, regarding what resilience variables remain central to a child demonstrating decreased symptoms soon after a maltreatment experience.

Characteristics of Resilient Maltreated Youth

Resilience following maltreatment results from a collection of internal and external resources (Skodal, 2010; Werner, 2000). Resilience factors facilitate the use of positive coping strategies that lead to optimal outcomes (Henry, 2001). These factors also allow a maltreated youth to respond in an adaptive manner to maltreatment (Mrazek & Mrazek, 1987). Key resilience factors across all forms of maltreatment include heightened intellectual functioning, connection with a supportive caregiver, and a positive view of the self (Orbke & Smith, 2013; Tedeschi & Kilmer, 2005). Resilient maltreated youth also evidence increased religious and community involvement (Goldstein, Faulkner, & Wekerle, 2013). These youth also evidence a decreased use of substances and decreased depressive symptoms following maltreatment (Goldstein et al., 2013; Wingo, Ressler, & Bradley, 2014).

Resilient youth show constructive and active approaches to solving life problems and demonstrate robust worldviews (Werner, 1984). Self-value, a sense of safety, and optimism for the future also correlate with resilience to maltreatment (Henry, 2001). Children with a positive temperament and increased cognitive ability demonstrate resilience following maltreatment (Luthar, 2006). A positive temperament allows a child to develop supportive relationships, and increased cognitive ability allows a child to process and learn from the maltreatment experience (Luthar, 2006; Orbke & Smith, 2013). Individuals who actively establish positive social relationships report increased rates of resilience (Werner, 1984). Resilient maltreated youth often exhibit relationship recruiting behaviors, agency, and reflectiveness that help foster resilience (Hauser & Allen, 2006). These youth also demonstrate positive coping strategies that



allow them to assimilate and accommodate within stressful environments (Leipold & Greve, 2009). Resilience correlates with decreased guilt cognitions, less exposure to domestic violence, and less motivation to seek revenge (Klasen et al., 2010).

Positive adolescent peer relationships, positive peer norms, and close bonds to peers buffer the harmful effects of maltreatment (Collishaw et al., 2007; Daud, af Klinteberg, & Rydelius, 2008; Shin, Daly, & Vera, 2007; Malindi & Theron, 2010). Warm and supportive peer environments predict resilience following maltreatment (Deater-Deckard, Ivy, & Smith, 2005). Youth's perception of sociability and communication ability towards peers predicts resilience (Arastaman & Balci, 2013). Involvement in extracurricular activities may further boost resilience (Ward, Martin, Theron, & Distiller, 2007). Supportive relationships may lower risk for maltreated victims becoming perpetrators in adulthood (Thornberry et al., 2013).

Family factors that influence resilience in maltreated youth include the variety of contexts within which a family operates, including ethnicity, culture, socioeconomic status, religion, and family roles (Hernández, 2002). Positive family environments facilitiate resilience during adversity (Bradley, Davis, Wingo, Mercer, & Ressler, 2013). A positive family environment includes parent and sibling warmth and a positive home atmosphere (Bowes, Maughan, Caspi, Moffitt, & Arseneault, 2010). Emotionally responsive caregiving mediates the effects of maltreatment (Egeland, Carlson, & Sroufe, 1993). Warm and secure family relationships appear to predict resilience in maltreated youth (Heller, Larrieu, D'Imperio, & Boris, 1999). Family beliefs focusing on finding positive meanings within a trauma, flexible and connected organizational patterns within the family, access to economic and social resources, collaborative problem solving, and clear communication correlate with resilience despite a trauma (Hernández, 2002). High levels of stress within a family increase risk for maladaptive outcomes following maltreatment (Jaffee, Caspi, Moffitt, Polo-Tomás, & Taylor, 2007).



Prevalence of Resilience

Approximately 50-70% of youth display resilience following isolated incidences of maltreatment (Bell, Romano, & Flynn, 2013; Bonanno & Mancini, 2008). Others indicate that 33% of youth develop into healthy and capable adults following child maltreatment (Orbke & Smith, 2013). Furthermore, only 11% of nonresilient maltreated adolescents exhibit resilience in adulthood (DuMont, Widom, & Czaja, 2007). Few victims of child maltreatment demonstrate resilience across multiple domains of functioning (Bell, Romano, & Flynn, 2013; Topitzes, Mersky, Dezen, & Reynolds, 2013). Others report lower rates (22%) of resilience among maltreated children when accounting for success in numerous functional domains such as social activity, education, psychopathology, substance abuse, and others (McGloin & Widom, 2001). The majority of resilience research in maltreated youth focuses on resilient outcomes in adulthood (Bonanno, 2012).

Resilience and Gender

Few studies examine the prevalence of resilience by gender among maltreated youth. Subtle variations exist, however, regarding gender variations of resilience among maltreatment victims. For example, males maltreated during childhood with greater economic and academic support display more resilience than females (Campbell-Sills, Forde, & Stein, 2009). Females also demonstrate increased resilience to the neurological effects of maltreatment (Samplin, Ikuta, Malhotra, Szeszko, & DeRosse, 2013). Findings such as these indicate possible gender differences in resilience development among maltreated youth. Indeed, gender may have an effect on overall levels of resilience (Hartman, Turner, Daigle, Exum, & Cullen, 2009). Females endorse resilience more often than males and evidence resilience across a wider variety of functional domains (McGloin & Widom, 2001). Furthermore, males and females may utilize different resilience factors to mitigate adversity (Hartman et al., 2009). For example, female



youth demonstrate increased use of social skills with peers, increased positive relationships with parents, peers, and teachers, and increased aspirational goals (Sun & Stewart, 2007). Results remain mixed and continued investigation is needed to determine the moderating effects of gender on resilience and maltreatment.

Resilience and Age

A youth's developmental level influences the efficacy of certain resilience factors (Orbje & Smith, 2013). For example, in young children, social support most often occurs through parents and family (Leech & Littlefield, 2011). Adolescents, however, indicate increased involvement in a social network outside of the immediate family (Orbje & Smith, 2013; Zimmerman et al., 2013). This includes extracurricular activities, and community and church related functions that may help a youth develop additional coping skills and promote healthy development (Ungar, Liebenberg, Dudding, Armstrong, & van de Vijver, 2013; Zimmerman et al., 2013). Adolescents remain a substantial contributor in the shaping of their future and those around them (Theokas et al., 2005). Resilience in adolescents therefore relies heavily on increased interactions between interpersonal characteristics and environmental support that help foster additional resilience factors and support (Noor & Alwi, 2013; Theokas et al., 2005). High social support directly correlates to more resilience in adolescents (Sun, Guan, Qin, Zhang, & Fan, 2013). Social skills, self-efficacy, and positive peer relationships remain salient for resilience in adolescents (Fergus & Zimmerman, 2005; Narayanan & Betts, 2014). Research expansion is needed to fully determine the role of resilience across all ages of maltreated youth. At present, the number and variety of resilience variables examined among any specific age group remains minimal. This study expanded on this limitation by addressing resilience in middle childhood and adolescence across a wider range of resilience variables.



Resilience by Maltreatment Type and Quantity

Resilience in maltreated youth may vary depending on type and quantity of maltreatment exposure. Youth exposed to multiple traumas demonstrate lower rates of resilience and increased trauma symptoms, depression, and dissociation than youth exposed to single isolated traumas (Collin-Vézina, Coleman, Milne, Sell, & Daigneault, 2011; Kira et al., 2013). Victims of multiple forms of trauma report less individual, social, and community forms of resilience compared to youth endorsing isolated traumas (Collin-Vézina et al., 2011). Polyvictimization remains common in maltreated youth (Armour, Elklit, & Chistoffersen, 2014; Masten & Wright, 1998). Youth who experience more than one type of maltreatment trauma are at increased risk for negative outcomes compared to youth with single-type maltreatment (Armour et al., 2014). Despite these findings, many youth exposed to chronic maltreatment continue to develop normally without serious behavioral problems or mental disorder (Masten & Wright, 2010; Ungar, 2013b). The existing literature, however, fails to fully explain why many youth are able to develop normally and others remain at increased risk for psychopathology. A partial explanation exists vis-à-vis resilience levels. For example, individuals with different levels of resilience evidence differences in emotional regulation strategies and emotional states resulting in psychopathology (Xi, Zuo, & Wu, 2013). Individuals with high resilience engage in less rumination while experiencing negative emotions than individuals with low resilience (Xi et al., 2013). Resilience levels, however, remain underexplored within a maltreated population. This study investigated this question by examining reported levels of resilience among a maltreated sample with a specific focus on PTSD. The following sections expand on the relationship between resilience and maltreatment trauma types.

Resilience and Neglect. Resilience and neglect remain underresearched despite the overwhelming percentage of neglected youth in the maltreatment population (ACYF, 2012;



www.manaraa.com

Tonmyr & Wekerle, 2013). Furthermore, a significant amount of neglected youth experience an additional type of maltreatment (Mennen, Kim, Sang, & Trickett, 2010). Young adults with childhood neglect indicate that strong impulse control, optimism, and increased emotional control correlate with improved adjustment and resilience (Choi et al., 2013).

Resilience and Sexual Maltreatment. Females are at significantly heightened risk for sexual maltreatment compared to males (Armour, Elklit, & Christoffersen, 2014). Sexually maltreated males, however, may face additional challenges related to sexual maltreatment and resilience (Kia-Keating, Sorsoli, & Grossman, 2010). These challenges include intimacy problems, difficulty managing long-term relationships, anger, alienation, and struggles related to developing masculinity (Kia-Keating et al., 2010). Therefore, youth interventions focused on developing a sense of belongingness and positive relationships may remain key in overcoming these challenges (Kia-Keating et al, 2010).

Individuals reporting positive self-esteem, self-control, and intellectual functioning demonstrate the greatest increase in resilience among youth exposed to sexual maltreatment (Barnes & Josefowitz, 2014). The availability of internal resources such as self-efficacy, the ability to tolerate negative emotions, reframing adversity as an opportunity for growth, sense of social support, and patience predict resilience and less depressive symptoms in adults who were sexually maltreated as youth (Goldstein, Fauklner, & Wekerle, 2013). Sexually maltreated youth with a strong relationship with a non-offending parent, fewer negative cognitive appraisals of the maltreatment, less aggressive coping behaviors, and lower levels of maltreatment-related stress show greater levels of resilience (Murray, Nguyen, & Cohen, 2014; Spaccarelli & Kim, 1995).

Resilience and Physical Maltreatment. Less early life stress, adolescent stress, and unilateral parental decision-making predict resilience in physically maltreated youth (Lansford et al., 2006). Youth with increased family and adult support, religiosity, involvement in



extracurricular activities, and a positive view of the future correlate with resilience in physically maltreated youth (Perkins & Jones, 2004). Positive peer interaction, a positive school climate, and high levels of family support reduce purging behaviors in physically maltreated youth (Fantuzzo, Coolahan, & Weiss, 1997; Perkins, Luster, & Jank, 2002; Perkins & Jones, 2004).

Resilience and Emotional Maltreatment. Few researchers examine emotional maltreatment in relation to resilience. This may stem from a lack of definitional clarity and consistency in defining emotional maltreatment (Shpiegel, Simmel, & Huang, 2013). Furthermore, identifying emotional maltreatment remains difficult without additional physical findings and few emotionally maltreated youth self-identify as maltreated (Goldsmith & Freyd, 2005; Hamarman, Pope, & Czaja, 2002). Emotionally maltreated children indicate that rigid and dysfunctional negative self-schemas, a lack of positive self-beliefs, and decreased self-esteem contribute to a reduction in resilience (Soffer, Gilboa-Schechtman, & Shahar, 2008). Healthy childhood experiences, sensitive and supportive care by a caretaker, secure attachment to a caregiver, an external attribution style, self-efficacy, and self-esteem increase resilience in emotionally maltreated youth (Iwaniec, Larkin, & Higgins, 2006). Schools that identify and refer emotional maltreatment to child protective services significantly enhance a child's resilience to the maltreatment (Doyle, 2003).

Resilience and Family Violence. Family violence often occurs with other forms of maltreatment (Zahradnik et al., 2010). Youth exposed to family and domestic violence demonstrate increased risk for potential injuries, distressed parents, inconsistent or overly harsh discipline, academic difficulties, and psychological distress (Burgess & Phifer, 2013). Resilience to family violence is enhanced when youth talk with peers about the violence, seek support in avoiding violence, increase emotional self-control, and express neutral or negative beliefs towards the use of aggression (Kassis, Artz, Scambor, & Moldenhauer, 2013). These



youth also endorse constructive social and personal relationships as significant predictors of resilience (Kassis et al., 2013). Academic settings further foster resilience in youth exposed to family violence by providing opportunities for appropriate emotional expression and develop positive peer relationships (Burgess & Phifer, 2013)

Limitations on Resilience and Maltreatment

Few studies explore variations in resilience by trauma type. Furthermore, studies in child maltreatment largely focus on sexual and physical maltreatment (Tonmyr & Wekerle, 2013). Research into neglect and emotional maltreatment remains sparse despite the large proportion of child neglect cases. Exposure to multiple forms of maltreatment remains common in a child maltreatment population, yet few researchers examine resilience in youth endorsing multiple traumas (Armour, Elklit, & Chistoffersen, 2014).

Definitional uncertainty continues to plague resilience and maltreatment research. In many studies, resilience is determined by a child meeting a specific set of criteria as determined by the researcher (Klika & Herronkohl, 2013). Few studies account for the interaction between risk factors and resilience across multiple domains of functioning (Walsh, Dawson, & Mattingly, 2010). Fewer still account for the influence of resilience factors on general symptoms related to experiencing a trauma. Furthermore, the extant literature abounds with retrospective accounts of resilient adults describing maltreatment experiences (Herrenkohl, Klika, Herrenkohl, Russo, & Dee, 2012; Smith, Park, Ireland, Elwyn, & Thornberry, 2013; Topitzes, Mersky, Dezen, & Reynolds, 2013); few examine resilience in youth shortly following an identified trauma. Research into resilience and trauma therefore is limited and necessitates expansion. The following section expands on this relationship by examining resilience as it intereracts with specific trauma reactions, namely PTSD.



Prevalence

Most individuals show a decrease in PTSD symptoms within a month after a traumatic event (Steenkamp, Dickstein, Salters-Pedneault, Hoffman, & Litz, 2012; Werner, 2013). Approximately 50% of youth display resilience following isolated traumatic events (Bonanno & Mancini, 2008). Resilience factors may mitigate the development of PTSD following a trauma (Cicero, Nooner, & Sliva, 2011). Increased resilience leads to decreased risk for PTSD and increases potential for posttraumatic growth, or the occurrence of positive change resulting from adversity (Bensimon, 2012; Taku, 2011; Tedeschi, Park, & Calhoun, 1998). These studies, however, frequently define resilience as a global construct representing the absence of diagnosable psychopathology. Many youth may continue to experience variations of psychological symptoms despite failing to meet criteria for PTSD or other disorders.

Gender and Age Variations. Boys have less risk for PTSD than girls (Mueser & Taub, 2008). Females remain at risk for additional unique traumas that stem from unequal societal status, domestic violence, and sexual assault (Sanchez-Hucles & Gamble, 2006). Males also appear to demonstrate increased resilience following trauma. For instance, boys noted a reduction in PTSD symptoms compared to girls in youth exposed to a natural disaster (Sun, Fan, Zheng, & Zhu, 2012). This finding was replicated in war-related trauma (Kasler, Dahan, & Elias, 2008). Girls, however, endorse heightened resilience after receiving resilience-based interventions (Tol et al., 2010).

The age a child experiences a primary trauma such as maltreatment may influence PTSD symptom presentation (Contractor et al., 2013). For example, adolescents demonstrate greater severity in symptoms of re-experiencing, numbing, and dysphoric arousal, while preadolescents demonstrate heightened anxious arousal and avoidance (Contractor et al., 2013). Symptom



differences may reflect the heightened ability of adolescents to retain and retrieve memories (Contractor et al., 2013). Additional variables such as a child's age of entry into foster care may help increase future resilience (Smith, Park, Ireland, Elwyn, & Thornberry, 2013; Yates & Grey, 2012).

Ethnicity Variations. Results remain mixed regarding the influence of ethnicity on resilience following trauma (Goel, Amatya, Jones, & Ollendick, 2014). Minority ethnic groups retain additional risk factors that erode resilience. For instance, recent immigrants to the United States may face additional risk factors such as acculturative stress, prejudice, and poverty that decrease resilience following a trauma (Holleran & Jung, 2008, Nader, 2007). Other risk factors include racism, discrimination, xenophobia, and classism (Mirkin & Kamya, 2008; Sorsoli, 2007). Researchers, however, often fail to account for these additional risk factors in ethnicity-resilience relationships (McGruder-Johnson, Davidson, Gleaves, Stock, & Finch, 2000).

African Americans, Latinos, and American Indians show higher rates of PTSD than European Americans (APA, 2013). Asian Americans evidence lower rates of PTSD than other ethnicities (APA, 2013). Hispanic ethnicity also correlates with PTSD and reduced resilience (Pietrzak et al., 2014). Hispanic Americans cite acculturation stress, prejudice, and identity development as additional stressors (Holleran & Jung, 2008). Hispanic youth show increased risk for alcohol use compared to African Americans and European Caucasians (Widom, Czaja, Wilson, Allwood, & Chauhan, 2013). African Americans cite increased unemployment, poverty, increased rates of incarceration, homelessness, violence, and substance abuse as additional stressors (Boyd-Franklin & Karger, 2012; Widom et al., 2013).

Despite these risk factors, ethnic minority groups also endorse multiple factors contributing to resilience development. Immigrants endorse individual traits and abilities, internal familial resources and support, passive appraisal coping styles, social support, family



www.manaraa.com

stability, and family integration as key predictors in resilience (Greeff & Holtzkamp, 2007). The development of a unique cultural sense of identity, feelings of commitment, and purpose may also increase resilience (Wexler, 2014). The availability of cultural resources may also enhance resilience (Chao, 2010). For instance, a strong spiritual belief system, psychosocial gratitude, and familial support aid resilience (Fernando, 2012; Yee, DeBaryshe, Yuen, Kim, & McCubbin, 2007). Few studies, however, examine PTSD in relation to resilience factors across cultures.

Parenting Variations. The existence of a supportive caregiver, positive parenting practices, and positive parent-child communication may increase resilience in traumatized youth (Goodkind, LaNoue, Lee, Freeland, & Freund, 2012). Parental care and parental overprotection correlate with resilience in adolescents (Sun, Fan, Zheng, & Zhu, 2012). Children with families endorsing high resilience also endorse high personal resilience following a trauma (McDermott, Cobham, Berry, & Stallman, 2010). A lack of resilience factors at the familial level increased risk for mental health problems after youth trauma exposure (Somasundaram & Sivayokan, 2013).

Adults may also transmit risk for PTSD to youth via rearing practices (Smith-Osborne, Wilder, & Reep, 2013). For example, research findings on the children of Holocaust survivors indicate a higher prevalence of mental disorders, including PTSD (Smith, Park, Ireland, Elwyn, & Thornberry, 2013). Researchers speculate that parental PTSD limits appropriate modeling of emotional responses and decreases the effectiveness of familial problem solving-abilities (Davidson & Mellor, 2001). These deficits worsen family dysfunction and increase risk for PTSD and other mental disorders (Davidson & Mellor, 2001).

Sexual Minority Groups. Sexual minority youth may evidence decreased resilience following a trauma. Sexual minority and gender nonconforming youth exposed to a trauma demonstrate 1.6-3.9 times increased risk for PTSD compared to heterosexual youth (Roberts,



www.manaraa.com

Rosario, Corliss, Koenen, & Austin, 2012). Youth who identify as a sexual minority also evidence increased risk of substance use, suicide, depression, and anxiety (DiFulvio, 2011). Risk may further increase in ethnic minority homosexual or bisexual youth (Triffleman & Pole, 2010). For example, sexual minority African Americans and Hispanic Americans endorse higher rates of PTSD than other ethnic groups (Alessi, Meyer, & Martin, 2013).

Resilience and Trauma Type

The type of trauma experienced influences symptom presentation, however, it remains unclear how resilience factors interact with trauma type. For instance, interpersonal and direct traumas such as maltreatment result in increased risk for psychopathological symptoms compared to noninterpersonal traumas such as vicarious trauma (Price, Higa-McMillan, Kim, & Frueh, 2013). The relation of resilience factors in these symptom presentations, however, is largely unknown. Furthermore, little is known regarding the relationship between resilience factors and number of trauma experiences. The following sections review resilience factors in a variety of traumas associated with PTSD.

Single versus Multiple Traumas. Youth exposed to a single traumatic experience indicate higher rates of resilience compared to youth exposed to multiple traumas (Nugent et al., 2009). A positive relationship with caregivers positively correlated with resilience in youth exposed to multiple traumas (Avci et al., 2013). Early-life trauma may also inoculate victims from future trauma-related distress following additional trauma exposure (Gray, Luna, & Seegobin, 2012).

Natural Disasters. Males and ethnic majority groups reported decreased symptoms of PTSD following exposure to a hurricane (La Greca, Lai, Joormann, Auslander, & Short, 2013). Youth with psychosocial support and cognitive ability indicated increased resilience following earthquake exposure (Fu, Leoutsakos, & Underwood, 2014). High social connectedness significantly reduces risk for PTSD following a natural disaster (McDermott, Berry, & Cobham,


2012). Others indicate an adolescent's positive appraisal of a natural disaster and its outcome results in increased resilience (Uttervall, Hultman, Ekerwald, Lindam, & Lundin, 2014).

War Trauma. Approximately 27.6 % of youth demonstrated resilience following significant war trauma (Klasen et al., 2010). Males exhibited reduced risk of distress compared to females following war trauma (Lavi, Green, & Dekel, 2013). The degree and type of violence exposure, availability of self-protection resources, and general life stress may impact resilience responses (Suarez, 2013). Adequate emotional expression, prosocial behaviors, positive peer relationships, and supportive family members predict resilience in war refugee youth (Daud, af Klinteberg, Rydelius, 2008). Resilient youth exposed to war trauma also seek maternal support more than nonresilient youth (Feldman & Vengrober, 2011). Increased resilience correlated with reduced exposure to domestic violence, less motivation to seek revenge, increased socioeconomic status, and decreased guilt cognitions in child soldiers (Klasen et al., 2010).

Community Violence. Community violence, high crime, and poverty exposure increase risk for PTSD (Fincham, Altes, Stein, & Seedat, 2009; Jones, 2007). Approximately 60-85% of youth demonstrate emotional resilience following exposure to community violence (Jain, Buka, Subramanian, & Molnar, 2012). Youth cite high levels of parent support, school support, and spirituality as key factors (Jones, 2007; O'Donnell, Schwab-Stone, & Muyeed, 2002). Supportive parenting practices, good parental mental health, good physical health, above-average cognitive ability, and good school performance predicted resilience in adolescents exposed to community violence (Punamäki, Qouta, Miller, & El-Sarraj, 2011).

Symptom Variations. Resilience may also moderate symptom severity for additional psychopathology such as PTSD and depression in youth exposed to trauma (Fincham, Altes, Stein, & Seedat, 2009; Murray, Nguyen, & Cohen, 2014; Wingo et al., 2010; Wrenn et al., 2011). Resilience factors mediated the relationship between trauma exposure and



symptomatology in youth by increasing positive coping patterns following a natural disaster (Chen, Wang, Zhang, & Shi, 2012). Resilience also decreases risk for depressive symptoms, internalizing symptoms, negative affect, and perceived stress by boosting positive affect and selfesteem and lowering avoidance behaviors (Carle & Chassin, 2004; Schachman & Lindsey, 2013; Steinhardt & Dolbier, 2008). Some PTSD symptoms may decrease the availability of resilience resources such as family or peer support. Emotional numbing may reduce access to resilience sources via loss of energy and decreased interpersonal interactions (Johnson, Palmieri, Jackson, & Hobfoll, 2007). Despite the link between resilience and symptom reduction, few studies examine the relationship between resilience factors and unique patterns of PTSD symptoms in youth.

PTSD Risk and Resilience Factors

Resilience and risk factors mediate the relationship of PTSD development following a trauma (Cicero, Nooner, & Silva, 2011). These factors are multifaceted and comprise environmental, psychological, developmental, biological, and social variables (Cicero et al., 2011). Furthermore, these factors include the circumstances surrounding the traumatic event (Cooper, Feder, Southwick, & Charney, 2007). Trauma severity, perceived threat, physical pain or injury, exposure to gross body disfigurement, and passive coping strategies decrease opportunities for resilient outcomes (Cooper et al., 2007). Others speculate that resilience stems from the ability to connect with others as well as courage, mutual empathy, and empowerment (Jordan, 2005). These growth-fostering connections significantly increase resilience following trauma (Jordan, 2005).

Positive psychological responses to trauma increase resilience (Bensimon, 2012; Edwards, Sakasa, & van Wyk, 2005). Increased negative emotionality, harm avoidance, noveltyseeking, self-transcendence, trait hostility and anger, trait anxiety, and neuroticism correlate with



increased PTSD symptoms (Jakšić, Brajković, Ivezić, Topić, & Jakovljević, 2012). Resilience positively correlates with conscientiousness, self-directedness, extraversion, hardiness, and optimism (Jakšić et al., 2012). Limited interest in engaging others correlates to PTSD with comorbid anxiety (Thomas et al., 2014). Extroverted and conscientious youth also demonstrate increased resilience (Campbell-Sills, Cohan, & Stein, 2006). Youth with greater emotional reactivity may demonstrate increased risk for psychopathology. Emotional reactivity moderates the relationship between trauma exposure and PTSD (Kaczmarek & Zawadzki, 2012).

The ability to perceive a traumatic event as a challenge to overcome may lead to resilience (Bensimon, 2012). Individuals who approach trauma with increased self-esteem and optimism demonstrate increased future positive adjustment (Grasso et al., 2012; Tseng, 2007). The capacity to reframe life events and minimize cognitive representations of prior traumatic experiences encourages resilient outcomes (Himelein & McElrath, 1996). Individuals able to endure a trauma with psychological flexibility and endorse a purpose in life exhibit resilience (Alim et al., 2008; Bonanno & Mancini, 2008).

Dissociative symptoms such as depersonalization and derealization positively correlate with symptoms of PTSD (Steuwe, Lanius, & Frewen, 2013). Temporary peritraumatic dissociation may allow a child to function and remain resilient during a traumatic event (McCaslin et al., 2009; Mrazek & Mrazek, 1987). Persistent dissociation, however, predicts the development and maintenance of PTSD (Werner & Griffin, 2012).

Limitations of PTSD and Resilience

Youth may mediate trauma effects by utilizing resilience factors, which promote positive coping strategies and decrease risk for maladaptive symptomatology (Chen, Wang, Zhang, & Shi, 2012). The use of resilience also correlates with the reduction of many symptoms typical of PTSD such as the perception of stress and avoidance behaviors (Schachman & Lindsey, 2013;



Steinhardt & Dolbier, 2008). Despite these links, however, few studies have examined these resilience patterns in maltreated youth and in relation to PTSD symptomatology. Furthermore, few studies have identified specific symptom variations in maltreated youth at risk for PTSD. This study expands on the previous findings by examining prominent resilience factors in relation to PTSD symptomatology across different types of maltreatment exposure.

Resilience, Maltreatment, and PTSD

Resilience may moderate the relationship between child maltreatment and PTSD (Fincham, Altes, Stein, & Seedat, 2009). Individual resilience factors include personality traits, self-perception, and cognition (Nasvytienė, Lazdauskas, & Leonavičienė, 2012). These individual resilience factors exert a stronger influence on a child's overall resilience than community factors (Nasvytienė et al., 2012). Social factors include relationships within and outside the family and community influences (Nasvytienė et al., 2012). Community resources include community involvement, high social cohesion within a community, and neighborhood advantage (DuMont, Widom, Czaja, 2007; Harvey, 2007; Jaffee, Caspi, Moffitt, Polo-Tomás, & Taylor, 2007). Resources available to maltreated youth following removal from home may also increase resilience (Wolfe, 2013).

Key Resilience Factors

Research into the moderating effects of resilience factors in relation to maltreated youth and PTSD symptoms remains in its infancy. These variables are reviewed in this section and include gender, parent-child relationships, social support, community support, and psychological factors. Key resiliency factors in the relationship between maltreatment and PTSD are examined below.

Gender. Males and females demonstrate few differences in resilient outcomes (Zeidner & Endler, 1996). Females endorse increased risk of sexual maltreatment and molestation, which



may lead to increased vulnerability to PTSD (Nemeroff et al., 2006; Pratchett, Pelcovitz, & Yehuda, 2010). Males, however, show greater resilience following adversity (Campbell-Sills, Forde, & Stein, 2009). These findings may partially be explained by gender variations in trauma appraisal and application of coping skills (Morano, 2010). The relationship between gender and resilience following trauma may also vary depending on the specific symptoms examined (Fergusson & Horwood, 2003). Females consistently endorse heightened levels of reexperiencing symptoms, avoidance, numbing, anxious arousal, and dysphoric arousal (Contractor et al., 2013). Females also indicate greater symptom intensity, increased difficulty feeling love or affection, anhedonia, and disturbed sleep (Reebye, Moretti, Wiebe, & Lessard, 2000). Differences in the cognitive mediation of the traumatic event and emotional responsiveness between males and females may lead to various resilience profiles (Pratchett, Pelcovitz, & Yehuda, 2010). Others indicate that the serotonin transporter polymorphism increases vulnerability in females by modulating early adversity, but not in males (Nemeroff et al., 2006). Females also exhibit increased resilience against the negative neurological effects of child maltreatment (Samplin, Ikuta, Malhotra, Szeszko, & DeRosse, 2013).

Parent-Child Relationships. Increased caregiver support and caregiver education and socioeconomic status correlated to increased resilience in sexually maltreated youth at risk for PTSD (Williams & Nelson-Gardell, 2012). Early emotional support from caregivers during the first year following maltreatment fostered overall resilience, decreased PTSD symptoms, and increased self-esteem (Rosenthal, Feiring, & Taska, 2003). Closer relationships with a caregiver and a safe and nurturing environment correlate to reduced clinical syndromes in maltreated youth (Lowenthal, 1998; Williams & Nelson-Gardell, 2012). The impact, however, of the quality of a caregiver relationship on resilience remains unclear (Williams & Nelson-Gardell, 2012). Despite these findings, age variations may determine overall gain from family support. For example,



young children indicate increased benefits from caregiver support while adolescents report increased satisfaction from peer support (Rosenthal et al., 2003).

Social Support. Social support promotes resilience in maltreated youth and correlates inversely with PTSD (Feldman, Conger, & Burzette, 2004; Horsch, McManus, & Kennedy, 2012). Positive social relationships may increase a youth's sense of belonging and relatedness to others (Harvey, 2007; McGloin & Widom, 2001). Lack of social support increases risk for depression and PTSD following a trauma (La Greca, Lai, Joormann, Auslander, & Short, 2013; Leech & Littlefield, 2011). This relationship appears specifically robust for female victims of child maltreatment (Powers, Ressler, & Bradley, 2009). Decreased social support results in greater PTSD symptomatology (McLean, Rosenbach, Capaldi, & Foa, 2013). Low socially-connected youth exhibit amplified PTSD symptom severity following trauma exposure compared to youth with heightened social connectedness (McDermott, Berry, & Cobham, 2012). Despite the apparent link between social support and resilience, research remains sparse regarding the relationship between social skills and resilience in maltreated youth.

Community Support. Communities enhance resilience by providing additional resources. Furthermore, a youth's involvement within a social community boosts resilience following adversity (Harvey, 2007). Communities, however, may also erode resilience by introducing additional stress factors (Chu, Pineda, DePrince, Freyd, 2011; DuMont, Ehrhard-Dietzel, & Kirkland, 2012; Tummala-Narra, 2007). Neighborhoods with high rates of crime and substance use, low social cohesion, and informal social control predicted less resilience in maltreated youth (Jaffee, Caspi, Moffitt, Polo-Tomás, & Taylor, 2007). Results remain mixed regarding the role of communities in resilience. For example, researchers indicate that neighborhood advantage fails to directly influence resilience but may moderate other resilience factors (DuMont, Widom,

Czaja, 2007).



Psychological Factors. Self-regulation of emotions may also help foster resilience in maltreated youth at risk for PTSD (Ford, 2005). Exposure to stressful events such as maltreatment may impair neural circuits that contribute to emotional regulation and increase risk for PTSD and other disorders (Gillespie, Phifer, Bradley, & Ressler, 2009). Increased self-esteem may also contribute to resilience in maltreated youth at risk for PTSD. African American women with a history of child maltreatment identified increased self-esteem as a resilience factor protecting against the development of PTSD symptoms following maltreatment (Bradley, Schwartz, Kaslow, 2005). These researchers, however, focused primarily on retrospective accounts of adults victimized during childhood and who were presenting for additional psychological or physical problems (Bradley et al., 2005).

Cognitive factors such as intelligence and executive functioning correlate with key resilience factors (Avci et al., 2013; Breslau, Lucia, & Alvarado, 2006; Diamond, Muller, Rondeau, & Rich, 2001). Trauma survivors with a higher IQ report decreased symptoms of PTSD (Brandes et al., 2002). Resilience also correlates with better nonverbal memory (Herrenkohl, Herrenkohl, & Egolf, 1994; Wingo, Fani, Bradley, & Ressler, 2010). Nonverbal memory helps emotional learning, resulting in less emotional dysregulation (Wingo et al., 2010). Sexual maltreatment inversely correlates with verbal ability compared to other maltreatment types (De Bellis, Woolley, & Hooper, 2013). Cumulative trauma negatively affects multiple components of intelligence: verbal comprehension, perceptual reasoning, working memory, and processing speed (Kira, Lewandowski, Somers, Yoon, & Chiodo, 2012). Primary traumas such as maltreatment negatively affect IQ while secondary traumas such as parents involved in combat or war positively affect IQ (Kira et al., 2012).

Limitations on Resilience, Maltreatment, and PTSD

Research in resilience has broadened from specific resilience factors to an overall



resilience process (Luthar, Cicchetti, & Becker, 2000). Despite this increased focus on resilience, few studies examine the role of resilience in PTSD. Maltreated youth remain a particularly vulnerable population to PTSD (Pecora, White, Jackson, & Wiggins, 2009). Fortunately, the majority of youth demonstrate resilience despite significant trauma histories (Bonanno & Mancini, 2008; Masten & Wright, 2010; Ungar, 2013b). The question of what creates resilience among some youth and not others remains unclear. This present study hypothesized that a youth's overall resilience level facilitates this adaptation to trauma. While previous researchers herald the role of high levels of resilience (e.g. Fincham, Altes, Stein, & Seedat, 2009), no study to date has clearly defined and examined differing resilience factor levels across a sample of maltreated youth.

Key resilience factors include perceived social support, low emotional reactivity, and heightened self-esteem (Grasso et al., 2012; Leontopoulou, 2013; Skinner, Pitzer, & Steele, 2013; Tignor & Prince-Embury, 2013). These variables, however, have not been examined together in youth with maltreatment histories. Furthermore, the extant literature is sparse regarding specific resilience variables in relation to maltreatment trauma type. Resilience research commonly focuses on large samples following a mass traumatic event (Steenkamp, Dickstein, Salters-Pedneault, Hofmann, & Litz, 2012). Few, however, focus on large samples of youth who have experience isolated traumatic events such as maltreatment (Steenkamp et al., 2012). This present study expanded on these limitations by examining key resilience factors in a large and diverse sample of maltreated youth. Furthermore, this present study examined the link between resilience factors and PTSD symptomatology in light of the key mediating variables of maltreatment type and number of traumas.

Purpose of the Present Study

The current resilience framework involves a transactional perspective that accounts for



the relationship between risk and resilience factors (Cash & Gardner, 2011). This lens emphasizes psychological, sociological, and biological contributors to the development of psychopathology (Ozonoff, Pennington, & Solomon, 2006). Considerable variability exists regarding the types and influence of resilience factors; however, a review of the literature indicates several emerging themes. For instance, a sense of mastery over one's environment, sense of relatedness to others, and low emotional reactivity to stressful situations consistently predict resilience with respect to adverse situations (Dang, 2014; Khanlou & Wray, 2014; Prince-Embury, 2007; Žunić-Pavlović, Pavlović, Kovačević-Lepojević, Glumbić, & Kovačević, 2013). These factors therefore remain considerably important for resilience and posttraumatic growth (Vranceanu, Hobfoll, & Johnson, 2007; Yu et al., 2013).

Resilience models expand on the transactional perspective by specifying the role of resilience factors in the reduction of psychopathology. Resilience factors in a protectiveprotective model reduce the relationship between adverse situations and negative outcomes (Hollister-Wagner, Foshee, & Jackson, 2001). For example, the presence of either a sense of mastery or low emotional reactivity may interrupt a pathway from maltreatment to PTSD symptoms. Such interruption may be enhanced by the presence of multiple resilience factors (Gomez & McLaren, 2006; Hollister-Wagner et al., 2001). For example, a strong sense of mastery with a strong sense of relatedness to others may predict higher resilience together than individually. Other models of resilience include protective-stabilizing, protective-reactive, and risk-protective models (Brown, Wolchick, Tein, & Sandler, 2007; Christiansen & Evans, 2005; Luthar, Cicchetti, & Becker, 2000).

Despite considerable research support, very few researchers apply these resilience perspectives to PTSD in maltreated youth. For instance, the development of relevant trauma symptoms in light of resilience factors such as one's sense of mastery, emotional reactivity, and



relationships with other people remains largely unexplored (Sapienza & Masten, 2011). Furthermore, resilience research fails to account for variations within trauma experiences. Resilience may also be context-specific (Fergus & Zimmerman, 2005). For example, resilience factors may protect against the adverse effects of one maltreatment type (witnessing violence) but not another (sexual maltreatment). This, however, remains unexplored in youth.

The first aim of the present study was to evaluate the relationship between (1) factors commonly associated with resilience (i.e., sense of mastery and sense of relatedness to others) and (2) PTSD symptoms among maltreated youth (Leontopoulou, 2013; Skinner, Pitzer, & Steele, 2013; Tignor & Prince-Embury, 2013). This aim draws on the protective-protective model of resilience that postulates that the accumulation of factors result in the best clinical outcomes (Hollister-Wagner et al., 2001). Further support for this model is provided by evidence that high levels of resilience decrease risk for PTSD and other forms of psychopathology (Fincham, Altes, Stein, & Seedat, 2009). These studies, however, fail to define specific levels of resilience among maltreated youth assessed for PTSD. This study examined specified resilience levels and individual resilience factors across a range of trauma experiences in relation to PTSD symptoms. These factors were chosen because they represent attributes associated with decreased vulnerability to mental health problems following disruptive life events (Gilmore, Campbell, Shochet, & Roberts, 2013; Kumar, Steer, & Gulab, 2010; Prince-Embury, 2007). For instance, the link between a sense of mastery and resilience remains well documented in adults (Hildon, Smith, Netuveli, & Blane, 2008). A sense of mastery may reduce anxiety and PTSD symptoms following a trauma as well as buffer against additional future traumatic events (McWhirter, 2008; Mishra, Suar, & Paton, 2011; Osofsky, Cohen, & Drell, 1995; Shapiro, 2001). Similarly, a sense of relatedness to others correlates with adaptive functioning and resilience among sexually exploited youth (Gray, Luna, & Seegobin, 2012).



Despite these findings, few examine these factors among maltreated youth.

The second aim of this study was to evaluate if trauma type (i.e., neglect, physical maltreatment, sexual maltreatment, witnessing a trauma, and removal from home) affects the relationship between specific resilience factors and PTSD symptoms. Different maltreatment types may result in unique clinical profiles in youth (Jonkman, Verlinden, Bolle, Boer, & Lindauer, 2013; Kira, Lewandowski, Somers, Yoon, & Chiodo, 2012; Runyon, Deblinger, & Steer, 2013). For example, adolescents exposed to sexual or physical maltreatment endorsed higher rates of PTSD symptoms than those exposed to other maltreatment forms (Wechsler-Zimring & Kearney, 2011). Similarly, sexual maltreatment increases risk for adult depression, dissociation, PTSD, and emotional distress (Au, Dickstein, Comer, Salters-Pedneault, & Litz, 2013; Meston, Lorenz, & Stephenson, 2013; Schalinski, Elbert, & Schauer, 2011). Physical maltreatment, however, correlates with peritraumatic dissociation, depression, and PTSD (Komarovskaya et al., 2014). This study examined resilience factors with respect to different types of child maltreatment and trauma.

The third aim of this study was to explore whether exposure to multiple traumas influences the relationship between specific resilience factors and PTSD symptoms. This aim represented a preliminary investigation of the relationship between multiple traumatic experiences and resilience due to the overwhelming number of youth endorsing multiple maltreatment experiences (Mennen, Kim, Sang, & Trickett, 2010; Scher, Forde, McQuaid, & Stein, 2004). Youth exposed to multiple or chronic traumas endorse heightened rates of PTSD symptoms, increased levels of maladaptive functioning, and decreased resilience (Collin-Vézina, Coleman, Milne, Sell, & Daigneault, 2011; Ford, Wasser, & Connor, 2011; Kirby, Chu, & Dill, 1993). Additionally, youth exposed to severe or ongoing trauma remain at heightened risk for Complex PTSD (Siebler, 2004; Spitzer, Chevalier, Gillner, Freyberger, & Barrow, 2006). Those



endorsing multiple traumas also endorse heightened risk for depression, anxiety, anger-hostility, sexualized behavior, dissociation, and impulsivity (Ford, Wasser, & Connor, 2011). The role of resilience factors vis-a-vis negative outcomes such as PTSD, however, remains unknown in youth with multiple maltreatment exposures.

The fourth aim of this study was to examine the role and level of emotional reactivity visa-vis resilience and PTSD symptoms. Consistent with a transactional protective-protective model of resilience, this study aimed to investigate if the link between decreased PTSD symptoms and multiple resilience factors is moderated by emotional reactivity. Emotional reactivity increases risk for PTSD and PTSD symptom severity (Kaczmarek & Zawadzki, 2012). Heightened emotional reactivity also remains a risk factor for additional forms of psychopathology comorbid with PTSD, including borderline personality disorder, substance abuse, and additional anxiety disorders (Klanecky & McChargue, 2009; Limberg, Barnow, Freyberger, & Hamm, 2011; Strelau & Zawadzki, 2011). A further aim of this study is to investigate the role of emotional reactivity as a risk factor that may weaken the relationship between resilience factors and resilience to PTSD symptoms to lend support to the possible protective nature of a sense of mastery and relatedness. This study therefore planned to expand on the extant literature by examining the interaction of emotional reactivity with resilience, trauma type, and trauma chronicity.

Hypotheses 1-3: Resilience and PTSD Symptoms

Hypothesis 1 was that a resilience resource score would account for a significant amount of variance in PTSD symptoms. Resilience resource scores were expected to predict PTSD symptoms in an inverse manner. This effect was expected to be stronger for youth reporting above average resource score levels (t > 60) than youth reporting average (t = 40-60) or below average (t < 40) resource score levels. The *Resiliency Scale for Children and Adolescents*



(*RSCA*) was used to determine the resilience resource score, which was a combination of the *RSCA* subscales of sense of mastery and sense of relatedness. The *Children's PTSD Inventory* was used to assess PTSD symptoms. Post hoc regression analyses were conducted on subscales and individual items of significant resilience subtests. Support for Hypothesis 1 served as the basis for Hypotheses 2 and 3.

Hypothesis 2 was that trauma type would moderate the relationship between the *RSCA* resource score and total PTSD symptoms. Specifically, youth reporting "non-assault" related traumas (i.e., witnessing violence, removal from home, and other trauma) were expected to display significantly elevated resource scores and decreased PTSD symptoms than youth reporting "assault-related" traumas (i.e., physical and sexual maltreatment).

Hypothesis 3 was that total number of trauma exposures would moderate the relationship between the *RSCA* resource score and total PTSD symptoms. Specifically, youth reporting one traumatic experience were expected to display significantly elevated resource scores and decreased total PTSD symptoms than youth reporting more than one traumatic experience. *Hypotheses 4-6: Emotional Reactivity and PTSD Symptoms*

Hypothesis 4 was that the emotional reactivity score would account for a significant amount of the variance in PTSD symptoms. The emotional reactivity score was expected to predict PTSD scores in a positive manner. This effect was expected to be stronger for youth reporting above average emotional reactivity score levels (t > 60) than youth reporting average (t= 40-60) or below average (t < 40) emotional reactivity score levels. The *RSCA* was used to assess emotional reactivity. Post hoc regression analyses were conducted on the subscales and individual items of emotional reactivity. Support for Hypothesis 4 served as the basis for Hypotheses 5 and 6.

Hypothesis 5 was that trauma type would moderate the relationship between emotional



www.manaraa.com

reactivity and total PTSD symptoms. Specifically, youth reporting "assault-related" traumas (i.e., physical and sexual maltreatment) were expected to display significantly elevated emotional reactivity and PTSD symptoms compared to youth reporting "non-assault" related traumas (i.e., witnessing violence, removal from home, and other trauma).

Hypothesis 6 was that total number of trauma exposures would moderate the relationship between emotional reactivity and PTSD symptoms. Specifically, youth reporting more than one traumatic experience were expected to display significantly elevated resource scores and total PTSD symptoms compared to youth endorsing one traumatic experience.

Hypothesis 7: Emotional Reactivity as a Moderator of Resilience and PTSD Symptoms

Hypothesis 7 was that emotional reactivity would moderate the relationship between the RSCA resource score and total PTSD symptoms. Specifically, youth reporting average to above average levels of emotional reactivity were expected to demonstrate higher PTSD symptoms and lower resource scores than youth reporting low levels of emotional reactivity.



CHAPTER 3

METHODOLOGY

Participants

Participants included 70 youth aged 9-17 years in Department of Family Services custody (DFS). Youth ages (M = 13.00, SD = 2.53) spanned 9-11 years (26.8%), 12-14 years (35.2%), 15-17 years (26.8%), or was unknown (11.2%). These youth were identified through DFS-related sites in the Las Vegas area. Reasons for removal from home included physical and sexual maltreatment, neglect, physical or sexual maltreatment of a sibling, parental substance use, exposure to domestic violence, abandonment, failed foster placement, and runaway. Youth in this sample cited physical maltreatment (16.9%), sexual maltreatment (14.1%), witnessing a traumatic event (16.9%), removal from home (33.8%) and other/neglect (18.3%) as primary traumatic events. Youth in this sample consisted of males (40.8%), females (50.7%), and other/refused to say (8.5%). Youth were European American (29.6%), African American (16.9%), Hispanic (16.9%), multiracial (12.7%), Asian American (2.8%), or unknown (21.1%). *Measures*

Demographic and Information Sheet. A demographic and information sheet requested information regarding a youth's gender, age, race/ethnicity, parental race/ethnicity, birthplace, parental marital status, primary language spoken in the home, family configuration, youth's experience of alcohol and drugs, and religious preferences. Additional questions assessed for a youth's understanding of the reason for removal and whether the youth was exposed to violence in and outside the home. Details regarding the nature of the maltreatment, including the maltreatment type, number of perpetrators, and frequency of the maltreatment were also assessed.



Children's PTSD Inventory (CPTSD-I) (Saigh, 1998; Saigh, Yasik, Oberfield, Green, Halamandaris, et al. 2000). The *CPTSD-I* assesses DSM-IV-TR PTSD symptoms using a semistructured interview format (Saigh et al. 2000). The interview assesses youth aged 7-18 via 5 subtests that correspond to DSM criteria. Administration requires 15-20 minutes per youth reporting a single trauma. The subtests assess for exposure and reactivity to trauma (2 questions), reexperiencing symptoms (11 questions), avoidance and numbing symptoms (16 questions), increased arousal (7 questions), and psychological distress (5 questions). A dichotomous scale is used to score responses to categorize symptoms into 1 of 5 possible diagnoses. These diagnoses include PTSD Negative, Acute PTSD, Chronic PTSD, Delayed Onset PTSD, and No Diagnosis (Saigh et al., 2000). "No Diagnosis" is assigned to youth who refused to acknowledge a previously identified traumatic event (Saigh et al., 2000).

Researchers administered the *CPTSD-I* to traumatized and non-traumatized youth aged 6-17 years to test internal consistency (Saigh et al., 2000). Internal consistency was high for overall diagnosis (.05). Similarly, each subtest evidenced moderate estimates for internal consistency (.53 - .89) (Saigh et al., 2000).

Three members of the DSM-IV PTSD Work group established *CPTSD-I* content validity by independently rating the measure for correspondence with the current PTSD diagnostic criteria using a 0-100 Likert-type scale. Reviewers exhibited high levels of correspondence between the *CPTSD-I* and the DSM-IV diagnostic criteria with mean subtest ratings included 86.7 for Situational Reactivity, and 90 for all additional subtests (Saigh et al., 2000).

CPTSD-I validity was assessed in a sample of traumatized and non-traumatized youth aged 7-18 years (Yasik et al., 2001). *The Children's Depression Inventory* (*CDI*; Kovacs, 1992), *Revised Children's Manifest Anxiety Scale* (*RCMAS*; Reynolds & Richmond, 1985), and the *Junior Eysenck Personality Inventory* (*JEPI*; Eysenck, 1963), were used to assess convergent



and discriminant validity of the *CPTSD-I. CDI* and *RCMAS* symptom endorsement and total *CPTSD-I* symptom endorsement significantly correlated, indicating high internal consistency (Yasik et al., 2001). Discriminant validity was evidenced by the absence of a relationship between the *CPTSD-I* and *JEPI* extraversion (Yasik et al., 2001). High concurrent validity was established by comparing the *CPTSD-I* to the Structural Clinical Interview for the DSM, Diagnostic Interview for Children and Adolescents-Revised PTSD module, and clinician derived diagnoses (Yasik et al., 2001).

The *CPTSD-I* boasts high estimates of interrater reliability with an overall interrater agreement of 98.1% (Saigh et al., 2000). Interrater agreement is excellent for each of the four subtests (.84-1.00) and overall diagnostic level (.96) (Saigh et al., 2000). Moderate interrater agreement was found for Situation Reactivity with a kappa coefficient of .66 (Saigh et al., 2000). Cronbach's α for the CPTSD-I for the present study was 0.82.

Resilience Scale for Children and Adolescents (RSCA) (Prince-Embury, 2007). The *RSCA* is a self-report inventory containing 64-items that assess core personal resiliency qualities in youth ages 9-18 years (Prince-Embury, 2007). The *RSCA* items require a 3^{rd} grade reading level. *RSCA* scoring utilizes a Likert-type scale where "0 = Never" and "10 = Almost Always." The *RSCA* yields 5 primary scores, including two summative scores: a Resource Index Score, Vulnerability Index Score. Three additional scores highlight primary resilience domains: Sense of Mastery (MAS), Sense of Relatedness (REL), and Emotional Reactivity (REA). The *RSCA* requires approximately 15-20 minutes to complete.

Sense of Mastery refers to the personal attributes of optimism, self-efficacy, and adaptability (Prince-Embury, 2007). These attributes enable a child cope to adverse situations such as maltreatment (Prince-Embury, 2007). Sense of relatedness refers to sense of relationships with others, perceived access to social support, ability to trust others, tolerance of



diversity among others, and comfort with and around other people (Prince-Embury, 2007). A high sense of mastery and sense of relatedness enhance the opportunity for resilient outcomes. Emotional Reactivity refers to sensitivity to emotional stimuli, recovery time from emotionally laden events and interactions, and possible impairment in a youth's ability to function due to emotional arousal (Prince-Embury, 2007). High emotional reactivity remains a risk factor for psychopathology (Prince-Embury, 2007).

RSCA test-retest stability and internal reliability was examined among non-clinical youth aged 9-18 years (Prince-Embury, 2007). Test-retest reliability was indicated using Fisher's *z* transformation for Sense of Mastery (.84), Sense of Relatedness (.88), and Emotional Reactivity (.90) (Prince-Embury, 2007). The *RSCA* was administered a second time to 65 adolescents (aged 15-18) over a period of 3-23 ($\bar{x} = 8$) days following initial administration (Prince-Embury, 2007). Test-retest reliability again proved high for Sense of Mastery (.86), Sense of Relatedness (.88), and Emotional Reactivity (.77) (Prince-Embury, 2007). The *RSCA* also boasts high internal consistency for Sense of Mastery (.85-.95), Sense of Relatedness (.89-.95) and Emotional Reactivity (.90-.94).

RSCA construct validity was examined through confirmatory factor analysis (Prince-Embury, 2007). Prince-Embury tested 10 factors and identified 3 models of resilience. Model 3, which consisted of the sense of mastery, sense of relatedness, and emotional reactivity, best fit across gender and age groups (Prince-Embury, 2007). Convergent validity for each subtest was assessed through multiple correlational studies (Prince-Embury, 2007). The Sense of Mastery and Sense of Relatedness subscales positively correlated (.60) with scales on the *Piers-Harris Children's Self-Concept Measure*, Second Edition; a measure of a child's self-concept (Piers, 2002; Prince-Embury, 2007). The Sense of Mastery scale also correlated with the *Conners' Adolescent Symptoms Scale: Short Form (CASS:S*; Conners, 1997; Prince-Embury, 2007).



Specifically, Sense of Mastery scores negatively correlated with cognitive problems (-.45), conduct problems (-.51), hyperactive-impulsivity (-.37), and attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) (-.60). This supports the *RSCA*'s proposition that it is a measure of resilience. Similarly, the Sense of Relatedness scale negatively correlated with cognitive problems (-.54), conduct problems (-.57), hyperactive-impulsivity (-.48), and ADHD (-.64) (Prince-Embury, 2007). The Emotional Reactivity scale positively correlated with cognitive problems (.59), conduct problems (.59), hyperactive-impulsivity (.48), and ADHD (.65) (Prince-Embury, 2007). This finding is consistent with increased levels of emotional reactivity predicting vulnerability to psychological disorders. Higher levels of emotional reactivity also positively correlated (.49) with vulnerability to bully victimization (Prince-Embury, 2007). Cronbach's α for the *RSCA* resource score for the present study was 0.88. Cronbach's α was also calculated for a sense of mastery (0.94), sense of relatedness to others (0.92), and emotional reactivity (0.80). *Procedure*

Procedures followed Clark County Department of Family Services (DFS) and the University of Nevada, Las Vegas policies regarding research with human child participants. The UNLV Office for the Protection of Research Subjects, Institutional Review Board (IRB) and the Social and Behavioral Sciences committee approved protocol #1005-3485M on July 11, 2014. The approved interlocal contract by DFS and UNLV is in accordance with state and country laws regarding youth in protective custody.

Participants included youth identified from a DFS-affiliated site in the Las Vegas area. Youth were referred by DFS to the site for a psychological evaluation following removal from home to determine emotional, educational, and cognitive functioning, and to develop recommendations. All youth had histories of documented maltreatment either to themselves or others in their previous place of residence. No minimum length of placement in DFS custody



was used as a criterion for selection. All youth were in foster care at the time of the study. This study also included youth fostered with relatives and non-relatives.

Details of the research project and objectives were discussed with each child. Researchers also explained to the youth their rights as research participants, the limits of confidentiality, and research confidentiality before attaining assent to participate in the study. Participants were also encouraged to ask questions to the researcher, current caretaker, social worker, or clinician regarding the nature of the study. Participants were advised not to answer questions should they feel any level of discomfort and were notified that they may withdraw at the study at any time without consequences.

Youth completed a demographic and information form, the *CPTSD-I*, and the *RSCA*. Assessments occurred in a confidential environment without the presence of CPS staff. Youth were informed regarding the limits of confidentiality. A trained graduate researcher completed the demographic information sheet, *RSCA*, and the *CPTSD-I* with participants. The *RSCA* and demographic information sheet were administered prior to the *CPTSD-I* to help build rapport with the participant. Administration of the demographic information sheet, *RSCA*, and the *CPTSD-I* lasted approximately 30-45 minutes. The specific administration time varied depending on a youth's trauma history. If a youth failed to endorse a traumatic event (n = 6) or requested the interview end (n = 1), then the interview was discontinued and remaining measures not administered.

Youth were encouraged to take breaks if needed during the assessment process. If discomfort was noted during the course of the interview, a graduate student was available for support. Follow-up sessions were scheduled to complete the measures if fatigue was noted. An on-site supervisor was informed if youth endorsed intent to harm self or others. Researchers debriefed participants upon completion of the measures and answered any additional questions



www.manaraa.com

participants may ask. Research forms and measures were kept confidential by coding each form with a number to ensure anonymity. De-identified research data is stored in a locked filing cabinet located in a university lab. Youth whose self-report tests contained inconsistent responses or were deemed invalid were excluded (n = 2).

Data Analysis

Statistical power was estimated using the G*Power program (Faul, Erdfelder, Buchner, & Lang, 2009). An a priori power analysis indicated that a sample size of 70 would be sufficient to detect a significant relationship between a sense of mastery, sense of relatedness, and emotional reactivity and total PTSD symptoms with a power of 0.81 and an alpha of .05. This analysis was conducted with a moderate estimated effect size, $r^2 = 0.15$ (Cohen, 1988).

Hypotheses 1-3: Resilience and PTSD Symptoms. Hypothesis 1 was that the *RSCA* resource score, defined by *t*-scores on the *RSCA*, would account for a significant amount of the variance in PTSD symptoms. The resource score level was also expected to differentially predict PTSD symptoms in an inverse manner that was stronger for youth reporting above average resource score levels (t > 60) than youth reporting average (t = 40-60) or below average (t < 40) resource score levels. The *RSCA* was used to determine the resilience resource score and the *CPTSD-I* was used to define total symptom score.

First, a regression equation was used to examine the specific strength of the relationship between the resource score and PTSD symptoms. The *RSCA* resource score was the predictor variable and the *CPTSD-I* total symptom score was the criterion variable. Second, a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to investigate the variance of PTSD symptoms between above average (t > 60), average (t = 40-60), and below average (t < 40) resource levels. A Tukey HSD post hoc test was used to examine between group differences. Third, to explain the relationship between the level of resilience and PTSD symptoms, *RSCA* scales of a sense of



mastery and sense of relatedness were examined via a stepwise multiple regression equation. *RSCA* scales were the predictor variables and *CPTSD-I* total symptom scores were the criterion variable. Third, individual items and subtests were examined by a multiple regression and individual regression analyses.

Hypothesis 2 was that trauma type would moderate the relationship between the *RSCA* resource score and total PTSD symptoms. Trauma type was dummy coded into a dichotomous variable consisting of "assault-related" trauma and "non-assault" trauma. The *RSCA* resource score was predicted to account for a significant amount of the variance in *CPTSD-I* total PTSD scores differently across assault and non-assault traumas. A moderated multiple regression was used to investigate this hypothesis. The resource variable was centered by subtracting overall participant mean response on the variable from each individual value to avoid potential multicollinearity with the interaction term (Aiken & West, 1991). An interaction term between the resource score and trauma grouping was created and then added to the regression model. The resource center was the predictor variable and the total symptom score (*CPTSD-I*) was the criterion variable. Trauma type was the moderator.

Hypothesis 3 was that the total number of trauma exposures would moderate the relationship between the *RSCA* resource score and total PTSD symptoms. To conserve power, the number of traumatic experiences was dummy coded into a dichotomous variable consisting of a "single trauma" and "multiple traumas" (>1 trauma). The *RSCA* resource score was expected to differentially predict total PTSD scores between single versus multiple traumas. Furthermore, the relationship was expected to be strongest for youth exposed to single trauma exposures than youth endorsing multiple trauma exposures. The resource variable was centered to avoid potential multicollinearity with the interaction term (Aiken & West, 1991). An interaction term between the resource score and number of endorsed traumas was created and



then added to the regression model. A moderated multiple regression was used to investigate this hypothesis. The score on the *RSCA* were the predictor variable and the total symptom score (*CPTSD-I*) was the criterion variable.

Hypotheses 4-6: Emotional Reactivity and PTSD Symptoms. Hypothesis 4 was that emotional reactivity would account for a significant amount of the variance in PTSD symptoms. The RSCA was used to determine the emotional reactivity score and the CPTSD-I was used to define total symptom score. Emotional reactivity was also expected to differentially predict PTSD symptoms in a positive manner that was stronger for youth reporting above average emotional reactivity levels (t > 60) than youth reporting average (t = 40-60) or below average (t<40) emotional reactivity levels. The RSCA was used to determine the emotional reactivity score and the CPTSD-I was used to define total symptom score. First, a regression equation was used to examine the specific strength of the relationship between the emotional reactivity and PTSD symptoms. The RSCA emotional reactivity score was the predictor variable and the *CPTSD-I* total symptom score was the criterion variable. Second, a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to investigate the variance of PTSD symptoms between above average (t > t60), average (t = 40-60), and below average (t < 40) emotional reactivity levels. Third, individual subtests and items were examined by a multiple regression and individual regression analyses.

Hypothesis 5 was that trauma type would moderate the relationship between emotional reactivity and total PTSD symptoms. Trauma type was dummy coded into a dichotomous variable consisting of "assault-related" trauma and "non-assault" trauma. Emotional reactivity was predicted to account for a significant amount of the variance in *CPTSD-I* total PTSD scores differently across assault and non-assault traumas. A moderated multiple regression was used to investigate this hypothesis. Emotional reactivity was centered by subtracting overall participant



mean response on the variable from each individual value to avoid potential multicollinearity with the interaction term (Aiken & West, 1991). An interaction term between emotional reactivity and trauma type was created and then added to the regression model. The *RSCA* emotional reactivity centered score was the predictor variable and the total symptom score (*CPTSD-I*) was the criterion variable. Trauma type was the moderator.

Hypothesis 6 was that total number of trauma exposures would moderate the relationship between emotional reactivity and PTSD symptoms. To conserve power, the number of traumatic experiences was dummy coded into a dichotomous variable consisting of a "single trauma" and "multiple traumas" (>1 trauma). Emotional reactivity was expected to differentially predict total PTSD scores between single versus multiple traumas. Emotional reactivity was centered to avoid potential multicollinearity with the interaction term (Aiken & West, 1991). An interaction term between emotional reactivity centered and the number of endorsed traumas was created and then added to the regression model. A moderated multiple regression was used to investigate this hypothesis. The emotional reactivity score was the predictor variable and the total symptom score (*CPTSD-I*) was the criterion variable. Number of trauma exposures was the moderator.

Hypothesis 7: Emotional Reactivity as a Moderator of Resilience and PTSD Symptoms. Hypothesis 7 was that emotional reactivity would moderate the relationship between the RSCA resource score and total PTSD symptoms. Emotional reactivity was dummy coded into a dichotomous variable consisting of average to above average emotional reactivity (t > 40) and low (t < 40) emotional reactivity. Average and above average emotional reactivity were combined to achieve equal samples sizes in each group and to conserve power. A moderated multiple regression was used to investigate this hypothesis. The resource variable was centered by subtracting overall participant mean response on the variable from each individual value to avoid potential multicollinearity with the interaction term (Aiken & West, 1991). An interaction



term between the resource score and emotional reactivity was created and then added to the regression model. The *RSCA* resource score was the predictor variable and the total symptom score (*CPTSD-I*) was the criterion variable. Emotional reactivity was the moderator.

In addition to the primary hypotheses, several post-hoc analyses were conducted to further examine the data. Post-hoc analyses included examining relationships between maltreatment types and resource scores. *RSCA* subtests were also examined in each maltreatment type. A one-way ANOVA also examined group differences between youth reporting maltreatment (neglect, physical and sexual maltreatment) and youth reporting removal from home and witnessing trauma as primary trauma experiences.



www.manaraa.com

CHAPTER 4

RESULTS

Hypotheses 1-3: Resilience and PTSD Symptoms

Hypothesis 1 was that the *RSCA* resource score, a combination of a sense of mastery and sense of relatedness to others, would account for a significant amount of the variance of PTSD symptoms. A linear regression revealed that the *RSCA* resource score explained 15% ($R^2 = 0.15$) of the variance in *CPTSD-I* symptoms ($\beta = -0.39$, t = -3.41, p < .01). This part of Hypothesis 1 was supported.

The resource score level was also expected to differentially predict PTSD symptoms in an inverse manner that was stronger for youth reporting above average resource score levels (t > 60) than youth reporting average (t = 40-60) or below average (t < 40) resource score levels. An ANOVA indicated that resource score level differentially predicted *CPTSD-I* symptoms as expected (F(2, 67) = 4.49, p < .05). A post hoc Tukey HSD test indicated significant differences in *CPTSD-I* symptoms between the average and below average resource level (M Difference = 3.25, p < .05) (Table 1). Comparisons between the above average and below average resource levels and above average and average were not significant.

Table 1

means and Standard Deviations for Of 15D 1 Symptoms by Resource Lever				
	Ā	SD		
Above Average	8.60	4.09		
Average	9.08	3.82		
Below Average	12.33	5.43		

Means and Standard Deviations for CPTSD-I Symptoms by Resource Level

A stepwise multiple regression indicated that sense of mastery significantly inversely predicted *CPTSD-I* symptoms (β = -0.37, *t* = -3.18, *p* < .01). The multiple correlation coefficient



was .38, so approximately 13.5% of the variance in *CPTSD-I* symptoms could be accounted for by a sense of mastery. Sense of relatedness to others, however, was not significant (Table 2). This part of Hypothesis 1 was partially supported.

Table 2

Beta Values with Significance Tests for Independent Variables in the Stepwise Regression Analysis

	В	Std. Error	Beta	T	Sig.	
Mastery	-0.11	0.03	-0.37	-3.18	< 0.01	
Relational			-0.03	-0.18	0.86	

Post Hoc Analyses for Hypothesis 1

Post hoc regression analyses on sense of mastery subtests (optimism, selfefficacy, adaptability) and *CPTSD-I* symptoms revealed a significant, inverse linear relationship regarding optimism and PTSD symptoms, ($\beta = -0.33$, t = -2.93, p < .01). A significant inverse linear relationship was also found regarding self-efficacy and *CPTSD-I* symptoms ($\beta = -0.24$, t = -2.80, p < .05) as well as adaptability and *CPTSD-I* symptoms, ($\beta = -0.39$, t = -3.59 p < .01) (Table 3).

Table 3

Beta Values with Significance Tests for Optimism, Self-efficacy, and Adaptability

	В	Std. Error	Beta	Т	Sig.	
Optimism	-0.29	0.10	-0.33	-2.93	< 0.01	_
Self-efficacy	-0.15	0.70	-0.24	-2.80	0.04	
Adaptability	-0.68	0.19	-0.39	-3.58	< 0.01	

Optimism. Significant inverse linear relationships were found between optimism items and *CPTSD-I* symptoms with respect to "I can make good things happen," ($\beta = -0.34$, t = -2.97, p < .01); "Good things will happen to me," ($\beta = -0.25$, t = -2.18, p < .05); "My life will be happy,"



 $(\beta = -0.32, t = -2.76, p < .01)$; and "No matter what happens, things will be all right," $(\beta = -0.34, t)$ = -2.97, p < .01) (Table 4).

Table 4

Beta Values with Significance Tests for Optimism Subscale Items

	В	Std. Error	Beta	Т	Sig.
Make happen	-1.32	0.45	-0.34	-2.97	< 0.01
Will happen	-1.13	0.52	-0.25	-2.18	0.03
Will be happy	-1.41	0.51	-0.32	-2.76	< 0.01
Will be alright	-1.46	0.49	-0.34	-2.97	< 0.01

Self-efficacy. Significant inverse linear relationships were found between self-efficacy items and *CPTSD-I* symptoms with respect to "I do things well," ($\beta = -0.37$, t = -3.29, p < .01); "I make good decisions," ($\beta = -0.24$, t = -2.07, p < .05); "I can get past problems in my way," (β = -0.36, t = -3.16, p < .01; "If I have a problem, I can solve it," ($\beta = -0.37, t = -3.31, p < .01$); and "I can think of more than one way to solve a problem," ($\beta = -0.27$, t = -2.30, p < .05) (Table 5).

Table 5

Beta Values with Significance Tests for Self-Efficacy Subscale Items

	В	Std. Error	Beta	Т	Sig.
Do well	-1.60	0.49	-0.37	-3.29	< 0.01
Good decisions	-1.15	0.55	-0.24	-2.07	0.04
Past problems	-1.61	0.51	-0.36	-3.16	< 0.01
Solve it	-1.59	0.48	-0.37	-3.31	< 0.01
More than one	-1.05	0.46	-0.27	-2.30	0.02

Adaptability. Significant inverse linear relationships were found between adaptability items and CPTSD-I symptoms with respect to "I can learn from my mistakes," ($\beta = -0.35$, t = -0.35, t = -3.10, p < .01); "I can ask for help when I need to" ($\beta = -0.38$, t = -3.42, p < .01); and "I can let others help me when I need to" ($\beta = -0.23$, t = -1.99, p = .05) (Table 6).



Table 6

	В	Std. Error	Beta	Т	Sig.
Learn mistakes	-1.58	0.51	-0.35	-3.10	< 0.01
Ask for help	-1.68	0.49	-0.38	-3.42	< 0.01
Others help	-1.07	0.53	-0.23	-1.99	0.05

Beta Values with Significance Tests for Adaptability Subscale Items

Hypothesis 2 was that trauma type would moderate the relationship between *RSCA* resource score and *CPTSD-I* symptoms. The interaction term between resource and trauma type resulted in an overall model accounting for 23% ($\mathbb{R}^2 = 0.23$) of the variance in *CPTSD-I* symptoms (F(3, 65) = 6.5, p < .01). The addition of the resource and trauma type interaction resulted in an incremental \mathbb{R}^2 change of .032 (p > .05). The interaction term failed to account for a significant of the variance, suggesting that trauma type is not a moderator in this sample. Hypothesis 2 was not supported. The plot of the interaction for resource score, *CPTSD-I* symptoms, and trauma type is in Figure 1.



Figure 1: Interaction Between Resilience Resource Score and *CPTSD-I* Symptoms by Trauma Type

Hypothesis 3 was that number of trauma exposures would moderate the relationship between the resilience resource score and *CPTSD-I* symptoms. The interaction term between resource and number of traumas resulted in an overall model accounting for 21% ($R^2 = 0.21$) of



the variance in *CPTSD-I* symptoms (F(3, 64) = 5.6, p < .01). The addition of the resource and trauma type interaction resulted in an R² change of .03 (p > .05). The interaction term failed to account for a significant of the variance, suggesting that the number of traumas is not a moderator in this sample. Hypothesis 3 was not supported (Figure 2).



Figure 2: Interaction Between Resilience Resource Score and *CPTSD-I* Symptoms by Number of Traumas Experienced.

Hypotheses 4-6: Emotional Reactivity and PTSD Symptoms

Hypothesis 4 was that emotional reactivity would account for a significant amount of the variance in *CPTSD-I* symptoms in a positive manner. A linear regression revealed that emotional reactivity explained 7.0% ($\mathbb{R}^2 = 0.07$) of the variance in *CPTSD-I* symptoms ($\beta = 0.28$, t = 2.34, p < .05).

The emotional reactivity score was also expected to differentially predict PTSD symptoms in a positive manner that was stronger for youth reporting above average emotional reactivity levels (t > 60) than youth reporting average (t = 40-60) or below average (t < 40) emotional reactivity levels. An ANOVA indicated that emotional reactivity level differentially predicted *CPTSD-I* symptoms as expected (F (2, 65) = 4.19, p < .05). A post hoc Tukey HSD test indicated significant differences in *CPTSD-I* symptoms between the above average and below average emotional reactivity level (M Difference = 4.70, p < .05) and between *CPTSD-I*



symptoms for the above average and average emotional reactivity level (*M* Difference = 4.92, p < .05) (Table 7). Average and below average emotional reactivity levels were not significant. Thus, hypothesis 3 was partially supported.

Table 7

Means and Standard Deviations for CPTSD-I Symptoms by Emotional Reactivity Level						
	$\bar{\mathbf{x}}$ SD					
Above Average	14.43	4.76				
Average	9.51	4.42				
Below Average	9.73	3.56				

Post Hoc Analyses for Hypothesis 4

Post hoc regression analyses on emotional reactivity subtests (sensitivity, recovery, and impairment) and *CPTSD-I* symptoms revealed a significant, positive linear relationship regarding sensitivity and *CPTSD-I* symptoms, ($\beta = 0.32$, t = 3.88, p < .01) (Table 8). A significant positive linear relationship was also found regarding recovery and *CPTSD-I* symptoms ($\beta = 0.27$, t = 2.32, p < .05) as well as impairment and *CPTSD-I* symptoms ($\beta = 0.42$, t = 3.85, p < .01).

Table 8

Beta Values with Significance Tests for Sensitivity, Recovery, and Impairment

	0 5	0		1		
	В	Std. Error	Beta	Т	Sig.	
Sensitivity	0.55	0.14	0.43	3.88	< 0.01	
Recovery	0.40	0.17	0.27	2.32	0.02	
Impairment	0.62	0.16	0.42	3.85	< 0.01	

Sensitivity. Significant positive linear relationships were found between sensitivity items and *CPTSD-I* symptoms with respect to "It is easy for me to get upset," ($\beta = 0.40$, t = 3.66, p < .01); "I strike back when someone upsets me," ($\beta = 0.27$, t = 2.32, p < .05); "I get very upset when things don't go my way," ($\beta = 0.24$, t = 2.07, p < .05); "I get very upset when people don't

like me," ($\beta = 0.28$, t = 2.38, p < .05); and "I can get so upset I can't stand how I feel," ($\beta = 0.37$, t = 3.28, p < .01) (Table 9).

Table 9

Beta Values with Significance Tests for Sensitivity Subscale Items

	В	Std. Error	Beta	Т	Sig.
Easy upset	1.56	0.43	0.40	3.66	< 0.01
Strike back	0.95	0.41	0.27	2.32	0.02
Don't go way	0.30	0.14	0.24	2.07	0.04
Don't like me	1.07	0.45	0.28	2.38	0.02
How I feel	1.40	0.43	0.37	3.28	< 0.01

Recovery. Significant positive linear relationships were found between recovery items and *CPTSD-I* symptoms with respect to "When I get upset, I stay upset for several hours," ($\beta = 0.31, t = 2.75, p < .01$); and "When I get upset, I stay upset the whole day," ($\beta = 0.39, t = 3.47, p < .05$) (Table 10).

Table 10

Beta Values with Significance Tests for Recovery Subscale Items

	B	Std. Error	Beta	Т	Sig.
Several hours	1.20	0.44	0.31	2.75	< 0.01
Whole day	1.61	0.46	0.39	3.47	0.01

Impairment. Significant positive linear relationships were found between impairment items and *CPTSD-I* symptoms with respect to "I get so upset I lose control," ($\beta = 0.29$, t = 2.55, p < .05); "When I get upset, I react without thinking," ($\beta = 0.49$, t = 4.61, p < .01); "When I am upset, I do the wrong thing," ($\beta = 0.29$, t = 2.51, p < .05); "When I am upset, I hurt someone," ($\beta = 0.40$, t = 3.60, p < .01); and "When I am upset, I get mixed up," ($\beta = 0.29$, t = 2.41, p < .05) (Table 11). This part of hypothesis 4 was also supported.



Table 11

	0 5	J 1			
	В	Std. Error	Beta	Т	Sig.
Lose control	0.50	0.20	0.29	2.55	0.01
React	1.71	0.37	0.49	4.61	< 0.01
Wrong thing	1.10	0.44	0.29	2.51	0.01
Hurt someone	2.49	0.69	0.40	3.60	< 0.01
Mixed up	1.09	0.45	0.28	2.41	0.01

Beta Values with Significance Tests for Impairment Subscale Items

Hypothesis 5 was that trauma type would moderate the relationship between emotional reactivity and *CPTSD-I* symptoms. The interaction term between emotional reactivity and trauma type resulted in an overall model accounting for 12% ($\mathbb{R}^2 = 0.12$) of the variance in *CPTSD-I* symptoms (F(3, 64) = 2.89, p < .05). The addition of the emotional reactivity and trauma type interaction resulted in an incremental \mathbb{R}^2 change of .027 (p > .05). The interaction term failed to account for a significant of the variance, suggesting that trauma type is not a moderator in this sample. Hypothesis 5 was not supported. Figure 3 shows the plot of the interaction for emotional reactivity, *CPTSD-I* symptoms, and trauma type.



Figure 3: Interaction Between Emotional Reactivity and CPTSD-I Symptoms by Trauma Type

Hypothesis 6 was that the total number of trauma exposures would moderate the relationship between the emotional reactivity and *CPTSD-I* symptoms. The interaction term between emotional reactivity centered and number of traumas resulted in an overall model



accounting for 16% ($R^2 = 0.16$) of the variance in *CPTSD-I* symptoms (F (3, 64) = 3.90, p < .01). The addition of emotional reactivity centered and trauma type interaction resulted in R^2 of .000 (p > .05). The interaction term failed to account for a significant of the variance, suggesting that the number of traumas is not a moderator in this sample. Hypothesis 6 was not supported. Figure 4 shows the plot of the interaction for emotional reactivity, *CPTSD-I* symptoms, and number of traumas.



Figure 4: Interaction Between Emotional Reactivity and *CPTSD-I* Symptoms by Number of Traumas Experienced

Hypothesis 7: Emotional Reactivity as a Moderator of Resilience and PTSD Symptoms

Hypothesis 7 was that emotional reactivity would moderate the relationship between the *RSCA* resource score and *CPTSD-I* symptoms. The interaction term between the resource score and emotional reactivity resulted in an overall model accounting for 16% ($\mathbb{R}^2 = 0.16$) of the variance in PTSD symptoms (F(3, 63) = 3.65, p < .05). The addition of the resource score and emotional reactivity interaction resulted in an \mathbb{R}^2 change of .017 (p < .05). The interaction term accounted for a significant of the variance, suggesting that emotional reactivity moderates the relationship between the resource score and *CPTSD-I* symptoms. Figure 5 shows the plot of the interaction for the RSCA resource score, *CPTSD-I* symptoms, and emotional reactivity.



Hypothesis 7 was supported.



Figure 5: Interaction Between Resilience Resource Score and *CPTSD-I* Symptoms by Trauma Type for Average and High Emotional Reactivity

Additional Post-Hoc Analyses

Sexually maltreated youth evidenced an inverse relationship between the resource score and *CPTSD-I* symptoms ($\beta = -0.78$, t = -3.55, p < .05). Significant inverse relationships were also found for a sense of mastery ($\beta = -0.76$, t = -3.30, p < .05) and a sense of relatedness ($\beta = -$ 0.79, t = -3.68, p < .05). A positive relationship was found for emotional reactivity ($\beta = 0.70$, t =2.78, p < .05). No significant findings were found with respect to resource score and *CPTSD-I* symptoms in youth reporting physical maltreatment and in youth reporting removal from home or witnessing a traumatic event.

An ANOVA regarding PTSD symptoms between maltreated youth and youth removed from home or witnessing a traumatic event was not significant (F(1, 56) = 3.51, p = .07). An ANOVA regarding the mean resource score between maltreated youth and youth removed from home or witnessing a traumatic event was not significant (F(1, 56) = 0.16, p = .69).



CHAPTER 5

DISCUSSION

The present study examined the relationship between sense of mastery, sense of relatedness to others, emotional reactivity, and PTSD symptoms in maltreated youth. Trauma type, number of traumas, and emotional reactivity were also investigated as potential moderators in these relationships. Individuals reporting average resilience displayed fewer PTSD symptoms than youth reporting below average resilience. This finding is consistent with previous studies demonstrating the protective nature of resilience in traumatized youth (Collin-Vézina, Coleman, Milne, Sell, & Daigneault, 2011; Gillespie, Phifer, Bradley, & Ressler, 2009; Zahradnik et al., 2010). No differences, however, were noted between youth reporting high levels of resilience and low levels of resilience. This may be explained by unequal sample sizes between the groups. The majority of the sample reported average to below average levels of resilience. Few youth reported an above average level of resilience, a finding that partly supports the necessity of fostering resilience in youth at risk for PTSD. A sense of mastery best predicted less PTSD symptoms compared to a sense of relatedness and low emotional reactivity.

A sense of mastery is an umbrella term to identify a youth's sense of self-efficacy, optimism, and ability to adapt to new situations (Prince-Embury, 2007). An elevated sense of mastery increases disaster preparedness, promotes long-term health and well-being, and decreases psychological distress (Dalgard, Mykletun, Rognerud, Johansen, & Zahl, 2007; Jang, Chiriboga, Lee, & Cho, 2009; Mishra, Suar, & Paton, 2011). A low sense of mastery may lead to perceptions of failure and negative self-perceptions of personal health (Pulkkinen, Kokkonen, & Mäkiaho, 1998). Sense of mastery subtests for self-efficacy, optimism, and adaptability were inversely related to PTSD symptoms, especially adaptability. Youth with a low sense of mastery


may thus struggle to adapt to new situations often associated with child maltreatment, perceive themselves as failures, have negative self-perceptions, and endorse more symptoms of PTSD.

Perceived relationships to others failed to predict PTSD symptoms in this study. This is contrary to findings from others that social relationships are important for fostering resilience (Kern & Friedman, 2010). One explanation is that, while perceived relationships to others may influence resilience, the relationship is weak and overshadowed by a sense of mastery. For instance, individual characteristics such as cognition, self-perception, and personality traits relate more to resilience than relationships with others (Nasvytienė, Lazdauskas, & Leonavičienė, 2012).

Another explanation for this finding is that perceived relations to others may vary depending on placement status and length of time in foster care (Ahrens et al., 2011; Farineau, Wojciak, & McWey, 2013; Storer, Barkan, Sherman, Haggerty, & Mattos, 2012). Some youth in this study may have experienced additional loss in relationships during the transition into a foster home compared to youth who remained with their family or who had been in foster care for prolonged periods. Other youth, however, may develop new relationships in foster care that did not exist previously.

Hypothesis 2. The second hypothesis was that maltreatment type would moderate the relationship between the resilience resource score and total PTSD symptoms. This hypothesis was not supported. Unequal sample size between groups as well as the specific groupings of maltreatment may explain the failure to find a moderating effect. Sexual and physical maltreatment were also grouped together due to the assaultive nature of both forms of victimization. Sexual and physical maltreatment may result in different clinical presentations, however, such as the severity of PTSD or depression (Danielson, de Arellano, Kilpatrick, Saunders, & Resnick, 2005). Reliance on youth retrospective accounts to determine primary



trauma type may also have contributed to the lack of moderation. This study assumes youth answered interviewer questions in an honest or genuine manner. Many youth, however, may have responded in a guarded manner due to failure to develop rapport, discomfort endorsing trauma, or fear of reprisal for disclosure.

Hypothesis 3. The third hypothesis was that the total number of trauma exposures would moderate the relationship between the resource score and PTSD symptoms. This hypothesis was not supported. This finding diverges from previous evidence that chronic or multiple traumas increase risk for complex PTSD, personality disturbances, and emotional dysregulation (Daud, af Klinteberg, & Rydelius, 2008; Ehring & Quack, 2010; Herman, 1995). One possibility is that trauma type and total number of trauma exposures interact to determine risk and resilience to PTSD symptoms. Youth citing removal from home and neglect may report less trauma symptoms than youth citing instances of sexual and physical maltreatment.

The cognitive appraisal of the traumatic event may also mediate the relationship between resilience, number of traumatic experiences, and PTSD symptoms in maltreated youth. Negative appraisals to a traumatic experience generally predict PTSD symptoms (Sherrer, 2011). Youth in this study, however, were not assessed for their appraisal of an event with respect to their PTSD symptoms. These appraisals may also vary by culture and ethnicity, variables that were not accounted for in this analysis (Jobson, & O'Kearney, 2009).

Hypothesis 4. The fourth hypothesis was that emotional reactivity would account for a significant amount of the variance in PTSD symptoms in a positive manner. Indeed, as emotional reactivity increased, symptoms of PTSD also increased. Individuals reporting above average emotional reactivity reported more PTSD symptoms than youth reporting below average and average emotional reactivity. These findings are consistent with previous literature that emotional reactivity increases risk for various psychological disorders (Kaczmarek & Zawadzki,



2012; Klanecky & McChargue, 2006; Strelau & Zawadzki, 2011). Item analysis also supported the notion that emotional reactivity and dysregulation relate to symptoms of PTSD.

Despite these findings, the relationships appeared to be weak. This is contrary to previous literature that demonstrates a relationship between high levels of emotional reactivity and elevated PTSD symptoms (Cavanagh, Fitzgerald, & Urry, 2014; Kaczmarek & Zawadzki, 2012). Studies such as these were limited to populations exposed to non-maltreatment-related trauma. One explanation may be the timing of clinical assessment. Symptoms of dissociation, emotional numbing, and disengagement from others frequently occur following a trauma (Feeny, Zoellner, Fitzgibbons, & Foa, 2000). This study failed to differentiate an acute trauma response from a general trait of low emotional reactivity.

The ability to regulate emotions may vary by age and represents an ongoing process involving brain maturation, personality, parental support, living environment, and culture of origin (Zhao, Zhang, & Zhou, 2014). Developmental differences may partially account for differences within emotional reactivity scores independent of PTSD symptoms. Younger children demonstrate external, behaviorally oriented, regulatory strategies while older youth exhibit more sophisticated internal and cognitive strategies (Rawana, Flett, McPhie, Nguyen, & Norwood, 2014). Younger adolescents also demonstrate fewer emotional regulatory strategies than older adolescents (Zimmerman & Iwanski, 2014).

Hypothesis 5. The fifth hypothesis was that trauma type would moderate the relationship between emotional reactivity and PTSD symptoms. This hypothesis was not supported. Unequal sample sizes and reliance on retrospective reports may have impacted the findings. Furthermore, emotional reactivity may remain independent of trauma type. Youth with high levels of emotional reactivity may have additional risk for PTSD irrespective of maltreatment type. For example, high levels of emotional reactivity associates with increased intensity and



duration of negative emotions and may increase susceptibility for psychopathology (Allen, Greenlees, & Jones, 2014).

Hypothesis 6. The sixth hypothesis was that the total number of trauma exposures would moderate the relationship between the emotional reactivity and PTSD symptoms. This hypothesis was not supported. The types of trauma experienced, the specific number of experienced traumas, and the cognitive appraisal of the event again may have impacted the nature of this result.

Hypothesis 7. The seventh hypothesis, that emotional reactivity would moderate the relationship between the *RSCA* resource score and total PTSD symptoms, was supported. Indeed, youth with average or above average emotional reactivity endorsed more PTSD symptoms than youth with low emotional reactivity. The inclusion of the interaction term, however, resulted only in slight transformations to the overall model. One explanation is that average and above average scores on emotional reactivity were combined into a single group to conserve power and equalize sample sizes between groups. The inclusion of individuals indicating average emotional reactivity may have significantly reduced the impact of emotional reactivity on PTSD symptoms. Many studies support the relationship between high emotional reactivity and internalizing symptoms (Morgan, Izard, & Hyde, 2014), but fewer examine the impact of average emotional reactivity on psychopathology.

Clinical Implications

Resilience continues to represent an important avenue of research to further understand the emergence and prevention of psychological disorders in vulnerable populations. This present study increases understanding of these factors and contains implications in the assessment, treatment, and prevention of psychological disorders. These areas of clinical focus are explored



Assessment. Resilience assessment is multidimensional in nature and identifies specific behavioral antecedents of resilient functioning (Pangallo, Zibarras, Lewis, & Flaxman, 2015). This study supports the usefulness of a multidimensional approach by examining a number of resilience factors and is consistent with recently developed assessment instruments. The *Resiliency Scale for Children and Adolescents* (Prince-Embury, 2007) embodies one such assessment instrument for use with children and is useful to guide future interventions.

The *Connor Davidson Resilience Scale* (*CD-RISC*) represents an alternative measure to assess resilience factors and is normed for multiple populations, including youth (Connor & Davidson, 2003). The *CD-RISC* is a self-report measure that consists of 25 questions measuring a variety of factors associated with resilience in the extant literature (Connor & Davidson, 2003). The *CD-RISC* contains items related to a sense of mastery, adaptability, coping behaviors, and positive cognitions (Connor & Davidson, 2003). These items closely mirror the findings in this study, which demonstrated a link between PTSD symptoms and sense of mastery subscales of adaptability and optimistic thoughts. The *CD-RISC* also comes in abbreviated versions useful for brief screening of resilience (Connor & Davidson, 2003).

A strengths-based approach to assessment modifies assessment findings in a way to engender hope, empathy, and foster rapport and collaboration (Levak, Siegel, Nichols, & Stolberg, 2011). In maltreated youth, this may include shifting findings away from a traumatic event, focusing on present resources and youth skillsets, and identifying ways to enhance quality of life. A strengths-based approach also allows for individual tailoring of clinical, behavioral, and educational interventions in youth (Nickerson & Fishman, 2013).

Treatment. Treatment targeting clinical skillsets associated with a sense of mastery may enhance resilience to PTSD. Sense of mastery improvements correlate to positive social and personal adjustment among maltreated youth (Lipschitz-Elhawi & Itzhaky, 2005). As a result,



interventions centered on optimism, adaptability, self-efficacy, and a sense of mastery should be a central treatment focus in working with maltreated youth (Prince-Embury, 2007).

Trauma-Focused Cognitive Behavioral Therapy (TFCBT) receives considerable attention for its strong empirical backing and efficacy in treating youth exposed to trauma (Diehle, Opmeer, Boer, Mannarino, & Lindauer, 2015). TFCBT appears to demonstrate increased efficacy in treating trauma over psychodynamic therapy, hypnotherapy, stress management, and non-directive therapy (Jiang, An, & Wu, 2014). TFCBT consists of eight elements to intervention: psychoeducation, parental skills, relaxation, affective modulation, cognitive coping, cognitive processing of the traumatic event, in-vivo exposure, and enhancing future safety (Cohen, Mannarino, & Deblinger, 2006). The addition of a module centered on enhancing resilient factors, such as an increased sense of mastery, may decrease risk of future exposures and trauma symptoms in maltreated youth. Specifically, interventions focused on enhancing optimistic thoughts, self-efficacy, and adaptability may foster resilience. These may include designing and empirically testing tasks that help children establish a sense of control within life problems, group activities geared for individual child success, reinforcement for success, and opportunities for positive constructive feedback.

This study also demonstrated that higher levels of emotional reactivity moderate the relationship between resilience factors and PTSD symptoms. Dialectical Behavior Therapy (DBT) lends itself to skills training and emotional regulation in adolescents exposed to trauma (Berk, Shelby, Avina, & Tangeman, 2014; Linehan, 1993). DBT combines cognitive behavioral therapy with mindfulness-based practices to aid in reductions of a distorted sense of self, emotional regulatory problems, and self harm in youth with PTSD symptoms (DeRosa & Rathus, 2013). DBT also fosters resilience by enhancing flexible problem-solving strategies,

encouraging cognitive-focused coping, and reducing self-harming behaviors (Lang & Sharma-



Patel, 2011; Marra, 2011). This study revealed that added sensitivity to emotionally provoking stimuli and emotional impairment increase risk for PTSD symptoms. The coaching of DBT coping strategies may mediate this relationship by helping youth effectively manage distress and reduce impairment caused by emotional dysregulation. Longer recovery period from emotionally provoking events also predicted PTSD symptoms. Interventions on proactive use of emotional regulatory strategies may reduce emotional recovery time and help counteract negative trauma responses. Future treatments might integrate specific behavioral strategies, such as planning community activities designed build self-efficacy and reduce emotional reactivity, within a DBT framework.

Focus should also be directed to enhancing environmental antecedents that are predictive of a sense of mastery. Level of education and participation in athletic physical activities closely associate with developing a sense of mastery (Covey & Feltz, 1991; Dalgard, Mykletun, Rognerud, Johansen, & Zahl, 2007). Social support may also predict an increased sense of mastery (Gadalla, 2009). Treatment programs therefore should focus on assessing and developing interventions specifically targeting these environmental predictors of a strong sense of mastery.

Prevention. Prevention based practices significantly reduce risk for many common mental health disorders and represent a cost-effective approach to clinical practice (D'Arcy & Meng, 2014). A key strategy to prevention includes incorporating these practices early within the lifespan of individuals at risk for mental health disorders (D'Arcy & Meng, 2014). Findings from this study contribute to prevention by identifying salient variables that may reduce risk for mental health disorders.

Future studies should investigate the role of a sense of mastery and reduced emotional reactivity in aiding preventative efforts to psychopathology. Others have already identified



increasing a sense of mastery as a key intervention in disaster preparedness, social adjustment, and personal adjustment (Lipschitz & Itzhaky, 2005; Mishra, Suar, & Paton, 2011). A sense of mastery, however, remains underresearched within a maltreatment population. High levels of emotional reactivity may also predispose youth to developing psychopathology. Preventative efforts may therefore benefit by incorporating emotional regulation strategies in the prevention regimen.

Limitations

Several constraints limit the interpretability of these results. This study relied on a youth's self-report regarding the nature of the primary trauma. Self-report alone, however, introduces the possibility that youth may have responded in a guarded manner, refused to disclose maltreatment due to failure to develop adequate rapport with the investigator, or worried about the consequences of their disclosing trauma or maltreatment. In other cases, wording and prompts on the PTSD questionnaire may have prompted youth to endorse an event as traumatic even if cognitively appraised as non-traumatic. Reliability of youth self-report of maltreatment is mixed. Sexually maltreated youth evidenced low agreement in comparisons of child protective services records with youth self-report (Milne & Collin-Vézina, 2014). Others indicate that older youth may over-disclose instances of physical and emotional maltreatment compared to their case files while younger youth may over report sexual abuse (Hambrick, Tunno, Gabrielli, Jackson, & Belz, 2014).

Secondly, this study failed to account for time as a potential moderator of the relationship between a traumatic event and resilience. The majority of the sample used in this study consisted of youth removed from home approximately 1-month to a year prior to assessment. The specific time of trauma occurrence, however, was not accounted for. PTSD symptoms may decrease in time following removal from stressful or high-risk environments, exposure to new



sources of social support, and the development of new peer and community relationships.

Third, trauma type was not equally differentiated in this study and sample size remained small for each subtype of trauma exposure. Conducted analyses were limited to groupings based on similarities of trauma experience. For example, in this study physical and sexual maltreatment were combined and compared to removal from home, witnessing a traumatic event, and other trauma. These combinations attempted to mirror differences in clinical empirical findings between maltreatment types. Child sexual and physical maltreatment often correlate with added risk for PTSD symptoms compared to other maltreatment types (Kisiel et al., 2014; Spinhoven, Penninx, van Hemert, de Rooij, & Elzinga, 2014; Spitzer, Chevalier, Gillner, Freyberger, & Barnow, 2006). The relationship between PTSD and resilience may also vary based on differences within trauma subtypes. For instance, negative psychological effects of child sexual abuse fluctuate by the specific type of sexual maltreatment (penetration vs. no penetration), chronic maltreatment, and relationship to the perpetrator (Cantón-Cortés, Cortés, & Cantón, 2015).

Fourth, this study failed to account for additional transitional phases that often occur for youth in foster care. These key transitional phases may heighten vulnerability to additional mental health problems, including PTSD, in youth (Valdez, Bailey, Santuzzi, & Lilly, 2014). Transitional phases may include moving to a new foster home, starting middle or high school, starting a new school, separation from siblings or other family members, and others.

Fifth, this study relied on a correlational design. As a result, this study failed to account for additional vulnerability factors beyond maltreatment exposure and maltreatment type that might account for the reported findings. The victim's relationship to the perpetrator, delayed disclosure of maltreatment, level of self-blame at time of maltreatment, and the reaction from others regarding maltreatment disclosure may moderate risk for PTSD in maltreated individuals



(Ullman, 2007). Youth exposed to less severe traumatic experiences may also cite a greater perceived ability to handle their trauma, resulting in a correlation between a sense of mastery and PTSD symptoms. Each of these factors may moderate the relationship between trauma and PTSD symptoms.

Sixth, this study relied on a measure of posttraumatic stress designed according to DSM– IV standards. The introduction of the DSM-5 acknowledges advancements in the understanding of posttraumatic stress in youth. At the time of this study, no current valid and reliable measure for assessing PTSD in youth according to a DSM-5 conceptualization existed. As a result, this study was limited by focusing solely on symptoms of PTSD and remained unable to examine diagnosis.

Recommendations for Further Studies

Findings and limitations from this study provide a number of implications for future research directions. Future researchers, when possible, should attempt to gather data related to maltreatment from multiple informants such as the Department of Family Services, caretakers, and clinicians familiar with the child. Researchers should also account for youth who may be guarded or minimizing their maltreatment experience when conducting data analyses. Furthermore, an examination of a youth's perception and cognitions related to the traumatic event should occur. Some youth, despite meeting criteria for maltreatment, may perceive the event as non-traumatic or non-severe. These perceptions may moderate the relationship between resilience factors and PTSD symptoms.

A full understanding of the protective nature of resilience factors associated with maltreatment necessitates a longitudinal inquiry from the time of maltreatment to adulthood and beyond. Unfortunately, this method remains costly and is rarely conducted. The practice of identifying specific youth for reassessment remains difficult due to the nature of protected and



confidential information associated with child maltreatment, multiple foster home placement, and general attrition. Future studies should focus on identifying cost-effective methods for continued research on the nature and course of resilience over time.

This present study attempted to differentiate the role of maltreatment type in the relationship between resilience and PTSD. Small sample size among other limitations reduced the generalizability of the reported findings. Future studies should expand on this study by examining maltreatment type within a larger and diverse sample complete with separate analyses for each maltreatment type. Researchers may also consider examining ethnicity as a moderating variable between resilience factors and PTSD for each maltreatment type. Similarly, a number of additional moderating variables may affect the relationship between resilience and PTSD symptoms. For instance, researchers should examine how the perpetrator of the maltreatment, time of removal from home, and place of current residence, may affect the relationship between resilience and maltreatment. Consideration should also be given key transitional phases in a youth's upbringing. Future studies should examine the role of changes in school, new placements, and other transitions on youth resilience.

Future studies should also incorporate assessment measures conceptualizing PTSD within a DSM-5 framework. This includes acknowledging additional symptoms such as dissociation and including specific criteria of PTSD among different age groups. Finally, few studies examine the role of resilience factors in a treatment and prevention model. Future studies should examine factors such as a sense of mastery to determine efficacy in psychopathology and relapse prevention.

Conclusion

This study examined the resilience factors of a sense of mastery, sense of relatedness, and emotional reactivity within an ethnically diverse sample of maltreated youth. In addition, this



study examined trauma type and the degree of trauma exposure as moderators between resilience and PTSD symptoms. This study adds to the extant literature by acknowledging the role of resilience variables in predicting overall PTSD symptoms. Furthermore, this study lends support to a transactional protective-protective model of resilience. Youth in this sample exhibited decreased PTSD symptoms when endorsing resilience factors, however, this relationship was moderated by emotional reactivity. As a result, developing factors such as a sense of mastery, and teaching emotional regulatory skills may lead to further improvement in other areas of resilience (social skills, emotional regulation). Due to the relatively recent arrival of resilience research in the literature, considerable research is still required to understand role of resilience variables in predicting mental health outcomes.



References

- Ackerman, P. T., Newton, J. O., McPherson, W., Jones, J. G., & Dykman, R. A. (1998).
 Prevalence of post traumatic stress disorder and other psychiatric diagnoses in three groups of abused children (sexual, physical, and both). *Child Abuse & Neglect, 22*(8), 759-774. doi:10.1016/S0145-2134(98)00062-3
- Administration on Children, Youth and Families (ACYF). (2010). *Child maltreatment 2008: Reports from the states to the National Center on Child Abuse and Neglect*. Washington,
 DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
- Administration on Children, Youth and Families (ACYF). (2012). *Child maltreatment 2012: Reports from the states to the National Center on Child Abuse and Neglect*. Washington,
 DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
- Afifi, T. O., Boman, J., Fleisher, W., & Sareen, J. (2009). The relationship between child abuse, parental divorce, and lifetime mental disorders and suicidality in a nationally representative adult sample. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *33*(3), 139-147.
 doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2008.12.009
- Agar, E., Kennedy, P., & King, N. S. (2006). The Role of Negative Cognitive Appraisals in PTSD Symptoms Following Spinal Cord Injuries. *Behavioural And Cognitive Psychotherapy*, *34*(4), 437-452. doi:10.1017/S1352465806002943
- Agustini, E. N., Asniar, I. I., & Matsuo, H. H. (2011). The prevalence of long- term posttraumatic stress symptoms among adolescents after the tsunami in Aceh. *Journal Of Psychiatric And Mental Health Nursing*, *18*(6), 543-549. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2850.2011.01702.x



- Ahrens, K. R., DuBois, D. L., Garrison, M., Spencer, R., Richardson, L. P., & Lozano, P. (2011).
 Qualitative exploration of relationships with important non-parental adults in the lives of youth in foster care. *Children And Youth Services Review*, *33*(6), 1012-1023.
 doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2011.01.006
- Aiken, L. S., & West, S. G. (1991). *Multiple regression: Testing and interpreting interactions*.Thousand Oaks, CA, US: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Alderfer, M. A., Navsaria, N., & Kazak, A. E. (2009). Family functioning and posttraumatic stress disorder in adolescent survivors of childhood cancer. *Journal Of Family Psychology*, 23(5), 717-725. doi:10.1037/a0015996
- Alessi, E. J., Meyer, I. H., & Martin, J. I. (2013). PTSD and sexual orientation: An examination of criterion A1 and non-criterion A1 events. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, And Policy*, 5(2), 149-157. doi:10.1037/a0026642
- Alim, T. N., Feder, A., Graves, R., Wang, Y., Weaver, J., Westphal, M., & ... Charney, D. S.
 (2008). Trauma, resilience, and recovery in a high-risk African-American population. *The American Journal Of Psychiatry*, 165(12), 1566-1575.

doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2008.07121939

- Alink, L. A., Cicchetti, D., Kim, J., & Rogosch, F. A. (2012). Longitudinal associations among child maltreatment, social functioning, and cortisol regulation. *Developmental Psychology*, 48(1), 224-236. doi:10.1037/a0024892
- Alink, L. A., Euser, S., van IJzendoorn, M. H., & Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. J. (2013). Is elevated risk of child maltreatment in immigrant families associated with socioeconomic status? Evidence from three sources. *International Journal Of Psychology*, 48(2), 117-127. doi:10.1080/00207594.2012.734622



- Allen, B., Cramer, R. J., Harris, P. B., & Rufino, K. A. (2013). Borderline personality symptomatology as a mediator of the link between child maltreatment and adult suicide potential. *Archives Of Suicide Research*, *17*(1), 41-51. doi:10.1080/13811118.2013.748413
- Allen, M. S., Greenlees, I., & Jones, M. V. (2014). Personality, counterfactual thinking, and negative emotional reactivity. *Psychology Of Sport And Exercise*, 15(2), 147-154. doi:10.1016/j.psychsport.2013.10.011
- Algood, C. L., Hong, J., Gourdine, R. M., & Williams, A. B. (2011). Maltreatment of children with developmental disabilities: An ecological systems analysis. *Children And Youth Services Review*, 33(7), 1142-1148. doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2011.02.003
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders*. (5th Ed.). Washington, DC: Author
- American Psychological Association Committee on Professional Practice and Standards. (1999).
 Guidelines for psychological evaluations in child protection matters. *American Psychologist*, 54(8), 586-593. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.54.8.586
- Amstadter, A. B., Nugent, N. R., & Koenen, K. C. (2009). Genetics of PTSD: Fear conditioning as a model for future research. *Psychiatric Annals*, *39*(6), 358-367.
 doi:10.3928/00485713-20090526-01
- Anda, R. F., Felitti, V. J., Bremner, J., Walker, J. D., Whitfield, C., Perry, B. D., & ... Giles, W.
 H. (2006). The enduring effects of abuse and related adverse experiences in childhood: A convergence of evidence from neurobiology and epidemiology. *European Archives Of Psychiatry And Clinical Neuroscience*, 256(3), 174-186. doi:10.1007/s00406-005-0624-4



- Anda, R., Tietjen, G., Schulman, E., Felitti, V., & Croft, J. (2010). Adverse childhood experiences and frequent headaches in adults. *Headache: The Journal Of Head And Face Pain*, 50(9), 1473-1481. doi:10.1111/j.1526-4610.2010.01756.x
- Arastaman, G., & Balci, A. (2013). Investigation of high school students' resiliency perception in terms of some variables. *Kuram Ve Uygulamada Eğitim Bilimleri*, *13*(2), 922-928.
- Arnow, B. A. (2004). Relationships between childhood maltreatment, adult health and psychiatric outcomes, and medical utilization. *Journal Of Clinical Psychiatry*, 65(Suppl12), 10-15.
- Armour, C., Elklit, A., & Christoffersen, M. N. (2014). A latent class analysis of childhood maltreatment: Identifying abuse typologies. *Journal Of Loss And Trauma*, 19(1), 23-39. doi:10.1080/15325024.2012.734205
- Armstrong, J. G., Putnam, F. W., Carlson, E. B., Libero, D. Z., & Smith, S. R. (1997).
 Development and validation of a measure of adolescent dissociation: The Adolescent
 Dissociative Experiences Scale. *Journal Of Nervous And Mental Disease*, *185*(8), 491497. doi:10.1097/00005053-199708000-00003
- Arreola, S., Neilands, T., Pollack, L., Paul, J., & Catania, J. (2008). Childhood sexual experiences and adult health sequelae among gay and bisexual men: Defining childhood sexual abuse. *Journal Of Sex Research*, 45(3), 246-252.

doi:10.1080/00224490802204431

Arseneault, L., Cannon, M., Fisher, H. L., Polanczyk, G., Moffitt, T. E., & Caspi, A. (2011).
Childhood trauma and children's emerging psychotic symptoms: A genetically sensitive longitudinal cohort study. *The American Journal Of Psychiatry*, *168*(1), 65-72.
doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2010.10040567



- Åslund, C. C., Nordquist, N. N., Comasco, E. E., Leppert, J. J., Oreland, L. L., & Nilsson, K. W.
 (2011). Maltreatment, MAOA, and delinquency: Sex differences in gene–environment interaction in a large population-based cohort of adolescents. *Behavior Genetics*, *41*(2), 262-272. doi:10.1007/s10519-010-9356-y
- Au, T. M., Dickstein, B. D., Comer, J. S., Salters-Pedneault, K., & Litz, B. T. (2013). Co-occurring posttraumatic stress and depression symptoms after sexual assault: A latent profile analysis. *Journal Of Affective Disorders*, *149*(1-3), 209-216. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2013.01.026
- Augusti, E., & Melinder, A. (2013). Maltreatment is associated with specific impairments in executive functions: A pilot study. *Journal Of Traumatic Stress*, 26(6), 780-783.
 doi:10.1002/jts.21860
- Avci, G., Hanten, G., Schmidt, A., Li, X., Orsten, K., Faber, J., & ... Newsome, M. R. (2013).
 Cognitive contributors to resilience in youth from underserved populations: A brief
 report. *Journal Of Public Mental Health*, *12*(3), 165-170. doi:10.1108/JPMH-02-2013-0005
- Bachmann, A. W., Sedgley, T. L., Jackson, R. V., Gibson, J. N., Young, R. D., & Torpy, D. J.
 (2005). Glucocorticoid receptor polymorphisms and post-traumatic stress disorder. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 30(3), 297-306. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2004.08.006
- Baer, J. C., & Martinez, C. (2006). Child maltreatment and insecure attachment: A metaanalysis. *Journal Of Reproductive And Infant Psychology*, 24(3), 187-197. doi:10.1080/02646830600821231
- Bailey, A., Sharma, M., & Jubin, M. (2013). The mediating role of social support, cognitive appraisal, and quality health care in Black mothers' stress-resilience process following loss to gun violence. *Violence And Victims*, 28(2), 233-247.



- Baker, L. M., Williams, L. M., Korgaonkar, M. S., Cohen, R. A., Heaps, J. M., & Paul, R. H.
 (2013). Impact of early vs. late childhood early life stress on brain morphometrics. *Brain Imaging And Behavior*, 7(2), 196-203. doi:10.1007/s11682-012-9215-y
- Banny, A. M., Cicchetti, D., Rogosch, F. A., Oshri, A., & Crick, N. R. (2013). Vulnerability to depression: A moderated mediation model of the roles of child maltreatment, peer victimization, and serotonin transporter linked polymorphic region genetic variation among children from low socioeconomic status backgrounds. *Development And Psychopathology*, 25(3), 599-614.
- Barnes, R., & Josefowitz, N. (2014). Forensic assessment of adults reporting childhood sexualized assault: Risk, resilience, and impacts. *Psychological Injury And Law*, 7(1), 34-46. doi:10.1007/s12207-014-9184-0
- Bartosch, E. (2006). A self psychological understanding of dissociation: On the problem of defense. Selbstpsychologie: Europäische Zeitschrift Für Psychoanalytische Therapie Und Forschung / Self Psychology: European Journal For Psychoanalytic Therapy And Research, 7(23), 18-25.
- Batten, S. V., Aslan, M., Maciejewski, P. K., & Mazure, C. M. (2004). Childhood maltreatment as a risk factor for adult cardiovascular disease and depression. *Journal Of Clinical Psychiatry*, 65(2), 249-254. doi:10.4088/JCP.v65n0217
- Beach, S. H., Brody, G. H., Gunter, T. D., Packer, H., Wernett, P., & Philibert, R. A. (2010).
 Child maltreatment moderates the association of MAOA with symptoms of depression and antisocial personality disorder. *Journal Of Family Psychology*, 24(1), 12-20.
 doi:10.1037/a0018074



- Becker-Blease, K. A., Turner, H. A., & Finkelhor, D. (2010). Disasters, victimization, and childrens mental health. *Child Development*, 81(4), 1040-1052. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2010.01453.x
- Bedi, S., Nelson, E. C., Lynskey, M. T., McCutcheon, V. V., Heath, A. C., Madden, P. F., & Martin, N. G. (2011). Risk for suicidal thoughts and behavior after childhood sexual abuse in women and men. *Suicide And Life-Threatening Behavior*, *41*(4), 406-415. doi:10.1111/j.1943-278X.2011.00040.x
- Bell, C. C., & Jenkins, E. J. (1991). Traumatic stress and children. *Journal Of Health Care For The Poor And Underserved*, 2(1), 175-185.
- Bell, T., Romano, E., & Flynn, R. J. (2013). Multilevel correlates of behavioral resilience among children in child welfare. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *37*(11), 1007-1020. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.07.005
- Belsky, J., & Pluess, M. (2013). Beyond risk, resilience, and dysregulation: Phenotypic plasticity and human development. *Development And Psychopathology*, 25(4, Pt 2), 1243-1261. doi:10.1017/S095457941300059X
- Ben-Arieh, A. (2010). Socioeconomic correlates of rates of child maltreatment in small communities. *American Journal Of Orthopsychiatry*, 80(1), 109-114. doi:10.1111/j.1939-0025.2010.01013.x
- Bensimon, M. (2012). Elaboration on the association between trauma, PTSD and posttraumatic growth: The role of trait resilience. *Personality And Individual Differences*, 52(7), 782-787. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2012.01.011



- Berk, M. S., Shelby, J., Avina, C., & Tangeman, K. R. (2014). Dialectical behavior therapy for suicidal and self-harming adolescents with trauma symptoms. In S. Timmer, A. Urquiza, S. Timmer, A. Urquiza (Eds.), *Evidence-based approaches for the treatment of maltreated children: Considering core components and treatment effectiveness* (pp. 215-236). New York, NY, US: Springer Science + Business Media. doi:10.1007/978-94-007-7404-9_12
- Binder, E. B., Bradley, R. G., Liu, W., Epstein, M. P., Deveau, T. C., Mercer, K. B., & ...
 Ressler, K. J. (2008). Association of FKBP5 polymorphisms and childhood abuse with risk of posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms in adults. *JAMA: Journal Of The American Medical Association*, 299(11), 1291-1305. doi:10.1001/jama.299.11.1291
- Birmes, P., Raynaud, J., Daubisse, L., Brunet, A., Arbus, C., Klein, R., & ... Schmitt, L. (2009).
 Children's enduring PTSD symptoms are related to their family's adaptability and cohesion. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 45(4), 290-299. doi:10.1007/s10597-008-9166-3
- Blain, L. M., Muench, F., Morgenstern, J., & Parsons, J. T. (2012). Exploring the role of child sexual abuse and posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms in gay and bisexual men reporting compulsive sexual behavior. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *36*(5), 413-422. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2012.03.003
- Bob, P. (2012). Dissociation, epileptiform discharges and chaos in the brain: Toward a neuroscientific theory of dissociation. *Activitas Nervosa Superior*, *54*(3-4), 84-107.
- Bohn, D., Bernardy, K., Wolfe, F., & Häuser, W. (2013). The association among childhood maltreatment, somatic symptom intensity, depression, and somatoform dissociative symptoms in patients with fibromyalgia syndrome: A single-center cohort study. *Journal Of Trauma & Dissociation*, 14(3), 342-358. doi:10.1080/15299732.2012.736930



Bokszczanin, A. (2008). Parental support, family conflict, and overprotectiveness: Predicting
 PTSD symptom levels of adolescents 28 months after a natural disaster. *Anxiety, Stress & Coping: An International Journal, 21*(4), 325-335. doi:10.1080/10615800801950584

- Bonanno, G. A. (2008). Loss, trauma, and human resilience: Have we underestimated the human capacity to thrive after extremely aversive events?. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, And Policy, S*(1), 101-113. doi:10.1037/1942-9681.S.1.101
- Bonanno, G. A. (2012). Uses and abuses of the resilience construct: Loss, trauma, and healthrelated adversities. *Social Science & Medicine*, 74(5), 753-756. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.11.022
- Bonanno, G. A., & Mancini, A. D. (2008). The human capacity to thrive in the face of potential trauma. *Pediatrics*, *121*(2), 369-375. doi:10.1542/peds.2007-1648
- Bowes, L., & Jaffee, S. R. (2013). Biology, genes, and resilience: Toward a multidisciplinary approach. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 14*(3), 195-208. doi:10.1177/1524838013487807
- Bowes, L., Maughan, B., Caspi, A., Moffitt, T. E., & Arseneault, L. (2010). Families promote emotional and behavioural resilience to bullying: Evidence of an environmental effect. *Journal Of Child Psychology And Psychiatry*, *51*(7), 809-817. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.2010.02216.x
- Boyd-Franklin, N., & Karger, M. (2012). Intersections of race, class, and poverty: Challenges and resilience in African American families. In F. Walsh (Ed.), *Normal family processes: Growing diversity and complexity (4th ed.)* (pp. 273-296). New York, NY US: Guilford Press.
- Bradley, B., Davis, T. A., Wingo, A. P., Mercer, K. B., & Ressler, K. J. (2013). Family environment and adult resilience: Contributions of positive parenting and the oxytocin receptor gene. *European Journal Of Psychotraumatology*, 4



Bradley, R., Schwartz, A. C., & Kaslow, N. J. (2005). Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Symptoms Among Low-Income, African American Women With a History of Intimate Partner
Violence and Suicidal Behaviors: Self-Esteem, Social Support, and Religious Coping. *Journal Of Traumatic Stress*, 18(6), 685-696. doi:10.1002/jts.20077

Braehler, C., Valiquette, L., Holowka, D., Malla, A. K., Joober, R., Ciampi, A., & ... King, S. (2013). Childhood trauma and dissociation in first-episode psychosis, chronic schizophrenia and community controls. *Psychiatry Research*, doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2013.05.033

- Brandes, D., Ben-Schachar, G., Gilboa, A., Bonne, O., Freedman, S., & Shalev, A. Y. (2002).
 PTSD symptoms and cognitive performance in recent trauma survivors. *Psychiatry Research*, *110*(3), 231-238. doi:10.1016/S0165-1781(02)00125-7
- Brennan, P. A., Le Brocque, R., & Hammen, C. (2003). Maternal Depression, Parent-Child
 Relationships, and Resilient Outcomes in Adolescence. *Journal Of The American Academy Of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 42(12), 1469-1477. doi:10.1097/00004583200312000-00014
- Breslau, N., Lucia, V. C., & Alvarado, G. F. (2006). Intelligence and Other Predisposing Factors in Exposure to Trauma and Posttraumatic Stress Disorder. *Archives Of General Psychiatry*, 63(11), 1238-1245. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.63.11.1238
- Brewin, C. (1989). Cognitive change processes in psychotherapy. *Psychological Review*, *96*(3), 379-394.
- Brewin, C. R., & Holmes, E. A. (2003). Psychological theories of posttraumatic stress disorder. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 23(3), 339-376. doi:10.1016/S0272-7358(03)00033-3



- Briere, J. (2006). Dissociative symptoms and trauma exposure: Specificity, affect dysregulation, and posttraumatic stress. *Journal Of Nervous And Mental Disease*, *194*(2), 78-82. doi:10.1097/01.nmd.0000198139.47371.54
- Briggs, E. C., Thompson, R., Ostrowski, S., & Lekwauwa, R. (2011). Psychological, health, behavioral, and economic impact of child maltreatment. In J. W. White, M. P. Koss, A. E. Kazdin (Eds.), *Violence against women and children, Vol 1: Mapping the terrain* (pp. 77-97). Washington, DC US: American Psychological Association. doi:10.1037/12307-004
- Brittain, C. R. (2006). Defining Child Abuse and Neglect. In C. R. Brittain (Ed.), Understanding the medical diagnosis of child maltreatment: A guide for nonmedical professionals (3rd ed.) (pp. 3-10). New York, NY US: Oxford University Press.
- Brodhagen, A., & Wise, D. (2008). Optimism as a mediator between the experience of child abuse, other traumatic events, and distress. *Journal Of Family Violence*, 23(6), 403-411. doi:10.1007/s10896-008-9165-8
- Brosky, B. A., & Lally, S. J. (2004). Prevalence of trauma, PTSD, and dissociation in courtreferred adolescents. *Journal Of Interpersonal Violence*, *19*(7), 801-814. doi:10.1177/0886260504265620
- Brown, G. W., Ban, M., Craig, T. J., Harris, T. O., Herbert, J., & Uher, R. (2013). Serotonin transporter length polymorphism, childhood maltreatment, and chronic depression: A specific gene–environment interaction. *Depression And Anxiety*, 30(1), 5-13. doi:10.1002/da.21982
- Brown, D. S., Fang, X., & Florence, C. S. (2011). Medical costs attributable to child maltreatment: A systematic review of short- and long-term effects. *American Journal Of Preventive Medicine*, 41(6), 627-635. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2011.08.013



- Brown, A. C., Wolchik, S. A., Tein, J., & Sandler, I. N. (2007). Maternal acceptance as a moderator of the relation between threat to self appraisals and mental health problems in adolescents from divorced families. *Journal Of Youth And Adolescence*, *36*(7), 927-938. doi:10.1007/s10964-006-9079-9
- Bruce, L. C., Heimberg, R. G., Blanco, C., Schneier, F. R., & Liebowitz, M. R. (2012).
 Childhood maltreatment and social anxiety disorder: Implications for symptom severity and response to pharmacotherapy. *Depression And Anxiety*, 29(2), 131-138.
 doi:10.1002/da.20909
- Buckley, T. C., Blanchard, E. B., & Neill, W. (2000). Information processing and PTSD: A review of the empirical literature. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 20(8), 1041-1065. doi:10.1016/S0272-7358(99)00030-6
- Buitelaar, J. K. (2013). The role of the HPA-axis in understanding psychopathology: Cause, consequence, mediator, or moderator?. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 22(7), 387-389. doi:10.1007/s00787-013-0441-7
- Burgess, D. A., & Phifer, L. (2013). Students exposed to domestic violence. In E. Rossen, R.
 Hull (Eds.), *Supporting and educating traumatized students: A guide for school-based professionals* (pp. 129-138). New York, NY US: Oxford University Press.
- Burri, A., Maercker, A., Krammer, S., & Simmen-Janevska, K. (2013). Childhood trauma and PTSD symptoms increase the risk of cognitive impairment in a sample of former indentured child laborers in old age. *Plos ONE*, 8(2). 1-8.
- Burt, S. (2008). Genes and popularity: Evidence of an evocative gene-environment correlation. *Psychological Science*, *19*(2), 112-113. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9280.2008.02055.x



Butchart, A. (2008). The major missing element in the global response to child maltreatment?.
 American Journal Of Preventive Medicine, 34(4,Suppl), S103-S105.
 doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2008.01.006

- Butler, L. D., Duran, R. F., Jasiukaitis, P., & Koopman, C. (1996). Hypnotizability and traumatic experience: A diathesis-stress model of dissociative symptomatology. *The American Journal Of Psychiatry*, 153(Suppl), 42-63.
- Calkins, S. D., Blandon, A. Y., Williford, A. P., & Keane, S. P. (2007). Biological, behavioral, and relational levels of resilience in the context of risk for early childhood behavior problems. *Development And Psychopathology*, *19*(3), 675-700.
 doi:10.1017/S095457940700034X
- Campbell-Sills, L., Cohan, S. L., & Stein, M. B. (2006). Relationship of resilience to personality, coping, and psychiatric symptoms in young adults. *Behaviour Research And Therapy*, 44(4), 585-599. doi:10.1016/j.brat.2005.05.001
- Campbell-Sills, L., Forde, D. R., & Stein, M. B. (2009). Demographic and childhood environmental predictors of resilience in a community sample. *Journal Of Psychiatric Research*, 43(12), 1007-1012. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2009.01.013
- Cantón-Cortés, D., Cortés, M. R., & Cantón, J. (2015). Child sexual abuse, attachment style, and depression: The role of the characteristics of abuse. *Journal Of Interpersonal Violence*, *30*(3), 420-436. doi:10.1177/0886260514535101

Carle, A. C., & Chassin, L. (2004). Resilience in a community sample of children of alcoholics: Its prevalence and relation to internalizing symptomatology and positive affect. *Journal Of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 25(5), 577-595. doi:10.1016/j.appdev.2004.08.005



- Carlson, E. B., Dalenberg, C., & McDade-Montez, E. (2012). Dissociation in posttraumatic stress disorder part I: Definitions and review of research. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, And Policy*, 4(5), 479-489. doi:10.1037/a0027748
- Carrion, V. G., Weems, C. F., Ray, R., & Reiss, A. L. (2002). Toward an empirical definition of pediatric PTSD: The phenomenology of PTSD symptoms in youth. *Journal Of The American Academy Of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, *41*(2), 166-173. doi:10.1097/00004583-200202000-00010
- Carrion, V. G., & Wong, S. S. (2012). Can traumatic stress alter the brain? Understanding the implications of early trauma on brain development and learning. *Journal Of Adolescent Health*, 51(2, Suppl), S23-S28. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2012.04.010
- Carrion, V. G., Wong, S. S., & Kletter, H. (2013). Update on neuroimaging and cognitive functioning in maltreatment-related pediatric PTSD: Treatment implications. *Journal Of Family Violence*, 28(1), 53-61. doi:10.1007/s10896-012-9489-2
- Cash, M. L., & Gardner, D. (2011). Cognitive hardiness, appraisal and coping: Comparing two transactional models. *Journal Of Managerial Psychology*, 26(8), 646-664. doi:10.1108/02683941111181752
- Cavanagh, S. R., Fitzgerald, E. J., & Urry, H. L. (2014). Emotion reactivity and regulation are associated with psychological functioning following the 2011 earthquake, tsunami, and nuclear crisis in Japan. *Emotion*, 14(2), 235-240. doi:10.1037/a0035422
- Chan, K., Brownridge, D. A., Fong, D. T., Tiwari, A., Leung, W., & Ho, P. (2012). Violence against pregnant women can increase the risk of child abuse: A longitudinal study. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 36(4), 275-284. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2011.12.003



- Chao, R. (2010). Well-being and resilience. In R. L. Hampton, T. P. Gullotta, R. L. Crowel (Eds.), *Handbook of African American health* (pp. 106-120). New York, NY US: Guilford Press.
- Chemtob, C. M., Roitblat, H. L., Hamada, R. S., Carlson, J. G., & Twentyman, C. T. (1988). A cognitive action theory of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder. *Journal Of Anxiety Disorders*, 2(3), 253-275. doi:10.1016/0887-6185(88)90006-0
- Chen, W., Wang, L., Zhang, X., & Shi, J. (2012). Understanding the impact of trauma exposure on posttraumatic stress symptomatology: A structural equation modeling approach. *Journal Of Loss And Trauma*, 17(1), 98-110. doi:10.1080/15325024.2011.595293

Child Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act Amendments, P.L. 108-36,42 U.S.C. § 5106 (2003).

Child Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act Amendments, P.L. 93-2467,42 U.S.C. § 1191

(1974).

- Chirichella-Besemer, D., & Motta, R. W. (2008). Psychological maltreatment and its relationship with negative affect in men and women. *Journal Of Emotional Abuse*, 8(4), 423-445. doi:10.1080/10926790802480380
- Choi, K., Im, H., Kim, J., Choi, K. H., Jon, D., Hong, H., & ... Seok, J. (2013). Relationship of early-life stress and resilience to military adjustment in a young adulthood population. *Social Psychiatry And Psychiatric Epidemiology*, *48*(11), 1767-1776. doi:10.1007/s00127-012-0647-x
- Christian, C. W., & Schwarz, D. F. (2011). Child maltreatment and the transition to adult-based medical and mental health care. *Pediatrics*, *127*(1), 139-145. doi:10.1542/peds.2010-2297



Christiansen, E. J., & Evans, W. P. (2005). Adolescent Victimization: Testing Models of Resiliency by Gender. *The Journal Of Early Adolescence*, 25(3), 298-316. doi:10.1177/0272431605276931

Chu, A. T., Pineda, A. S., DePrince, A. P., & Freyd, J. J. (2011). Vulnerability and protective factors for child abuse and maltreatment. In J. W. White, M. P. Koss, A. E. Kazdin (Eds.) , *Violence against women and children, Vol 1: Mapping the terrain* (pp. 55-75).
Washington, DC US: American Psychological Association. doi:10.1037/12307-003

- Cicchetti, D., & Barnett, D. (1991). Attachment organization in maltreated preschoolers. *Development And Psychopathology*, *3*(4), 397-411. doi:10.1017/S0954579400005009
- Cicchetti, D., Rogosch, F. A., Gunnar, M. R., & Toth, S. L. (2010). The differential impacts of early physical and sexual abuse and internalizing problems on daytime cortisol rhythm in school-aged children. *Child Development*, *81*(1), 252-269. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2009.01393.x
- Cicchetti, D., Rogosch, F. A., & Toth, S. L. (2011). The effects of child maltreatment and polymorphisms of the serotonin transporter and dopamine D4 receptor genes on infant attachment and intervention efficacy. *Development And Psychopathology*, 23(2), 357-372. doi:10.1017/S0954579411000113
- Cicchetti, D., & Toth, S. L. (1997). Transactional ecological systems in developmental psychopathology. In S. S. Luthar, J. A. Burack, D. Cicchetti, J. R. Weisz (Eds.), *Developmental psychopathology: Perspectives on adjustment, risk, and disorder* (pp. 317-349). New York, NY US: Cambridge University Press.
- Cicero, S. D., Nooner, K., & Silva, R. (2011). Vulnerability and resilience in childhood trauma and PTSD. In V. Ardino (Ed.), *Post-traumatic syndromes in childhood and adolescence: A handbook of research and practice* (pp. 43-60). Wiley-Blackwell.



- Cima, M., Merckelbach, H., Klein, B., Shellbach-Matties, R., & Kremer, K. (2001). Frontal lobe dysfunctions, dissociation, and trauma self-reports in forensic psychiatric patients. *Journal Of Nervous And Mental Disease*, 189(3), 188-190. doi:10.1097/00005053-200103000-00008
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences* (2nd ed.). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Cohen, J. A., Scheid, J., & Gerson, R. (2014). Transforming trajectories for traumatized . Journal Of The American Academy Of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 53(1), 9-13. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2013.10.004
- Cohen, J., Mannarino, A., & Deblinger, E. (2006). *Treating Trauma and Traumatic Grief in Children and Adolescents*. New York, NY US: The Guilford Press.
- Collin-Vézina, D., Coleman, K., Milne, L., Sell, J., & Daigneault, I. (2011). Trauma experiences, maltreatment-related impairments, and resilience among child welfare youth in residential care. *International Journal Of Mental Health And Addiction*, 9(5), 577-589. doi:10.1007/s11469-011-9323-8
- Collishaw, S., Pickles, A., Messer, J., Rutter, M., Shearer, C., & Maughan, B. (2007). Resilience to adult psychopathology following childhood maltreatment: Evidence from a community sample. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *31*(3), 211-229. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2007.02.004
- Conners, C.K. (1997). *Conners' rating scales-revised technical manual*. Toronto: Multi-Health Systems, Inc.
- Connor, K. M., & Davidson, J. T. (2003). Development of a new resilience scale: The Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC). *Depression And Anxiety*, 18(2), 76-82. doi:10.1002/da.10113



- Contractor, A. A., Layne, C. M., Steinberg, A. M., Ostrowski, S. A., Ford, J. D., & Elhai, J. D.
 (2013). Do gender and age moderate the symptom structure of ptsd? Findings from a national clinical sample of children and adolescents. *Psychiatry Research*, doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2013.09.012
- Cooper, N. S., Feder, A., Southwick, S. M., & Charney, D. S. (2007). Resilience and vulnerability to trauma: Psychobiological mechanisms. In D. Romer, E. F. Walker (Eds.), *Adolescent psychopathology and the developing brain: Integrating brain and prevention science* (pp. 347-372). New York, NY US: Oxford University Press. doi:10.1093/acprof:oso/9780195306255.003.0015
- Copeland, W. E., Keeler, G., Angold, A., & Costello, E. (2007). Traumatic events and posttraumatic stress in childhood. *Archives Of General Psychiatry*, 64(5), 577-584. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.64.5.577
- Corso, P. S., Edwards, V. J., Fang, X., & Mercy, J. A. (2008). Health-related quality of life among adults who experienced maltreatment during childhood. *American Journal Of Public Health*, 98(6), 1094-1100. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2007.119826
- Costello, E., Egger, H. L., & Angold, A. (2005). The Developmental Epidemiology of Anxiety
 Disorders: Phenomenology, Prevalence, and Comorbidity. *Child And Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics Of North America*, 14(4), 631-648. doi:10.1016/j.chc.2005.06.003
- Cougle, J. R., Timpano, K. R., Sachs-Ericsson, N., Keough, M. E., & Riccardi, C. J. (2010). Examining the unique relationships between anxiety disorders and childhood physical and sexual abuse in the National Comorbidity Survey-Replication. *Psychiatry Research*, *177*(1-2), 150-155. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2009.03.008



- Coulton, C. J., Crampton, D. S., Irwin, M., Spilsbury, J. C., & Korbin, J. E. (2007). How neighborhoods influence child maltreatment: A review of the literature and alternative pathways. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *31*(11-12), 1117-1142.
 doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2007.03.023
- Covey, L. A., & Feltz, D. L. (1991). Physical activity and adolescent female psychological development. *Journal Of Youth And Adolescence*, 20(4), 463-474.
 doi:10.1007/BF01537186
- Craine, L. S., Henson, C. E., Colliver, J. A., & MacLean, D. G. (1988). Prevalence of a history of sexual abuse among female psychiatric patients in a state hospital system. *Hospital & Community Psychiatry*, 39(3), 300-304.
- Criss, M. M., Pettit, G. S., Bates, J. E., Dodge, K. A., & Lapp, A. L. (2002). Family adversity, positive peer relationships, and children's externalizing behavior: A longitudinal perspective on risk and resilience. *Child Development*, 73(4), 1220-1237. doi:10.1111/1467-8624.00468
- Crooks, C. V., & Wolfe, D. A. (2007). Child abuse and neglect. In E. J. Mash, R. A. Barkley (Eds.), *Assessment of childhood disorders (4th Ed.)* (pp. 639-684). New York, NY US: Guilford Press.
- Cukor, J., Wyka, K., Jayasinghe, N., & Difede, J. (2010). The nature and course of subthreshold PTSD. *Journal Of Anxiety Disorders*, *24*(8), 918-923. doi:10.1016/j.janxdis.2010.06.017
- Cuffe, S. P., Addy, C. L., Garrison, C. Z., Waller, J. L., Jackson, K. L., McKeown, R. E., & Chilappagari, S. (1998). Prevalence of PTSD in a community sample of older adolescents. *Journal Of The American Academy Of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 37(2), 147-154. doi:10.1097/00004583-199802000-00006



- Cutuli, J. J., Raby, K., Cicchetti, D., Englund, M. M., & Egeland, B. (2013). Contributions of maltreatment and serotonin transporter genotype to depression in childhood, adolescence, and early adulthood. *Journal Of Affective Disorders*, *149*(1-3), 30-37. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2012.08.011
- Dalgard, O. S., Mykletun, A., Rognerud, M., Johansen, R., & Zahl, P. H. (2007). Education, sense of mastery and mental health: Results from a nation wide health monitoring study in Norway. *BMC Psychiatry*, 7doi:10.1186/1471-244X-7-20
- Dalgleish, T. (2004). Cognitive Approaches to Posttraumatic Stress Disorder: The Evolution of Multirepresentational Theorizing. *Psychological Bulletin*, 130(2), 228-260. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.130.2.228
- Dang, M. T. (2014). Social connectedness and self-esteem: Predictors of resilience in mental health among maltreated homeless youth. *Issues In Mental Health Nursing*, 35(3), 212-219. doi:10.3109/01612840.2013.860647
- Danielson, C., Amstadter, A. B., Dangelmaier, R. E., Resnick, H. S., Saunders, B. E., &
 Kilpatrick, D. G. (2009). Does typography of substance abuse and dependence differ as a function of exposure to child maltreatment?. *Journal Of Child & Adolescent Substance Abuse*, *18*(4), 323-342. doi:10.1080/10678280902973310
- Danielson, C., de Arellano, M. A., Kilpatrick, D. G., Saunders, B. E., & Resnick, H. S. (2005).
 Child Maltreatment in Depressed Adolescents: Differences in Symptomatology Based on History of Abuse. *Child Maltreatment*, *10*(1), 37-48. doi:10.1177/1077559504271630
- Danielson, C., Macdonald, A., Amstadter, A. B., Hanson, R., de Arellano, M. A., Saunders, B.
 E., & Kilpatrick, D. G. (2010). Risky behaviors and depression in conjunction with—or in the absence of—lifetime history of PTSD among sexually abused adolescents. *Child Maltreatment*, 15(1), 101-107. doi:10.1177/1077559509350075



- Dannlowski, U., Stuhrmann, A., Beutelmann, V., Zwanzger, P., Lenzen, T., Grotegerd, D., & ...
 Kugel, H. (2012). Limbic scars: Long-term consequences of childhood maltreatment
 revealed by functional and structural magnetic resonance imaging. *Biological Psychiatry*, 71(4), 286-293. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.10.021
- D'Arcy, C., & Meng, X. (2014). Prevention of common mental disorders: Conceptual framework and effective interventions. *Current Opinion In Psychiatry*, 27(4), 294-301. doi:10.1097/YCO.0000000000000076
- Daud, A., af Klinteberg, B., & Rydelius, P. (2008). Resilience and vulnerability among refugee children of traumatized and non-traumatized parents. *Child And Adolescent Psychiatry And Mental Health*, 2doi:10.1186/1753-2000-2-7
- Davidson, S., & Adams, J. (2013). Adversity and internalizing problems among rural Chinese adolescents: The roles of parents and teachers. *International Journal Of Behavioral Development*, 37(6), 530-541. doi:10.1177/0165025413503421
- Davidson, A. C., & Mellor, D. J. (2001). The adjustment of children of Australian Vietnam veterans: Is there evidence for the transgenerational transmission of the effects of war-related trauma?. *Australian And New Zealand Journal Of Psychiatry*, *35*(3), 345-351. doi:10.1046/j.1440-1614.2001.00897.x
- Davidson, J., & Smith, R. (1990). Traumatic experiences in psychiatric outpatients. *Journal Of Traumatic Stress*, *3*(3), 459-475. doi:10.1002/jts.2490030314
- Davis, L., & Siegel, L. J. (2000). Posttraumatic stress disorder in children and adolescents: A review and analysis. Clinical Child And Family Psychology Review, 3(3), 135-154.
 doi:10.1023/A:1009564724720



- Deater-Deckard, K., Ivy, L., & Smith, J. (2005). Resilience in Gene-Environment Transactions.
 In S. Goldstein, R. B. Brooks (Eds.) , *Handbook of resilience in children* (pp. 49-63).
 New York, NY US: Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers. doi:10.1007/0-306-48572-9_4
- De Bellis, M. D., Baum, A. S., Birmaher, B., Keshavan, M. S., Eccard, C. H., Boring, A. M., & ... Ryan, N. D. (1999). Developmental traumatology: I. Biological stress systems. *Biological Psychiatry*, 45(10), 1259-1270. doi:10.1016/S0006-3223(99)00044-X
- De Bellis, M. D., & Keshavan, M. S. (2003). Sex differences in brain maturation in maltreatment-related pediatric posttraumatic stress disorder. *Neuroscience And Biobehavioral Reviews*, 27(1-2), 103-117. doi:10.1016/S0149-7634(03)00013-7
- De Bellis, M. D., Woolley, D. P., & Hooper, S. R. (2013). Neuropsychological findings in pediatric maltreatment: Relationship of PTSD, dissociative symptoms, and abuse/neglect indices to neurocognitive outcomes. *Child Maltreatment*, 18(3), 171-183.
- DePrince, A. P., & Freyd, J. J. (2002). The intersection of gender and betrayal in trauma. In R. Kimerling, P. Ouimette, J. Wolfe (Eds.), *Gender and PTSD* (pp. 98-113). New York, NY US: Guilford Press.
- DeRosa, R. R., & Rathus, J. H. (2013). Dialectical behavior therapy with adolescents. In J. D. Ford, C. A. Courtois, J. D. Ford, C. A. Courtois (Eds.), *Treating complex traumatic stress disorders in children and adolescents: Scientific foundations and therapeutic models* (pp. 225-245). New York, NY, US: Guilford Press.
- Dettlaff, A. J., & Johnson, M. A. (2011). Child maltreatment dynamics among immigrant and
 U.S. born Latino children: Findings from the National Survey of Child and Adolescent
 Well-being (NSCAW). *Children And Youth Services Review*, *33*(6), 936-944.
 doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2010.12.017



- Diamond, T., Muller, R., Rondeau, L., & Rich, J. (2001). The relationships among PTSD symtomatology and cognitive functioning in adult survivors of child maltreatment.
 Advances in psychology research, Vol. V (pp. 253-279). Hauppauge, NY US: Nova Science Publishers.
- Díaz-Olavarrieta, C., García-Piña, C. A., Loredo-Abdala, A., Paz, F., Garcia, S. G., &
 Schilmann, A. (2011). Abusive head trauma at a tertiary care children's hospital in
 Mexico City. A preliminary study. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *35*(11), 915-923.
 doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2011.05.017
- Diehle, J., Opmeer, B. C., Boer, F., Mannarino, A. P., & Lindauer, R. L. (2015). Trauma-focused cognitive behavioral therapy or eye movement desensitization and reprocessing: What works in children with posttraumatic stress symptoms? A randomized controlled trial. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 24(2), 227-236. doi:10.1007/s00787-014-0572-5
- Dietrich, A. (2003). Characteristics of child maltreatment, psychological dissociation, and somatoform dissociation of Canadian inmates. *Journal Of Trauma & Dissociation*, 4(1), 81-100. doi:10.1300/J229v04n01_06
- DiFulvio, G. T. (2011). Sexual minority youth, social connection and resilience: From personal struggle to collective identity. *Social Science & Medicine*, 72(10), 1611-1617.
- Ditlevsen, D. N., & Elklit, A. (2012). Gender, trauma type, and PTSD prevalence: A re-analysis of 18 Nordic convenience samples. *Annals Of General Psychiatry*, 11. doi:10.1186/1744-859X-11-26
- Dodge, K.A., Pettit, G.S., & Bates, J.E. (1994). Effects of physical maltreatment on the development of peer relations. *Developmental and Psychopathology*, *6*, 45-55.

doi:10.1017/S0954579400005873



www.manaraa.com

Donnon, T. (2010). Understanding how resiliency development influences adolescent bullying and victimization. *Canadian Journal Of School Psychology*, 25(1), 101-113. doi:10.1177/0829573509345481

- Doom, J. R., Cicchetti, D., Rogosch, F. A., & Dackis, M. N. (2013). Child maltreatment and gender interactions as predictors of differential neuroendocrine profiles.
 Psychoneuroendocrinology, 38(8), 1442-1454. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2012.12.019
- Dorahy, M. J., Shannon, C., Seagar, L., Corr, M., Stewart, K., Hanna, D., & ... Middleton, W. (2009). Auditory hallucinations in dissociative identity disorder and schizophrenia with and without a childhood trauma history: Similarities and differences. *Journal Of Nervous And Mental Disease*, 197(12), 892-898. doi:10.1097/NMD.0b013e3181c299ea
- Doyle, C. (2003). Child emotional abuse: The role of educational professionals. *Educational And Child Psychology*, 20(1), 8-21.
- Druiy, S., Theall, K., Keats, B., & Scheeringa, M. (2009). The role of the dopamine transporter (DAT) in the development of PTSD in preschool children. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 22(6), 534-539.
- Dube, S. R., Anda, R. F., Whitfield, C. L., Brown, D. W., Felitti, V. J., Dong, M., & Giles, W. H. (2005). Long-Term Consequences of Childhood Sexual Abuse by Gender of Victim. *American Journal Of Preventive Medicine*, 28(5), 430-438.
 doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2005.01.015

Dubowitz, H. (2006). Defining child neglect. In M. M. Feerick, J. F. Knutson, P. K. Trickett, S.M. Flanzer (Eds.), *Child abuse and neglect: Definitions, classifications, and a framework for research* (pp. 107-127). Baltimore, MD US: Paul H Brookes Publishing.

Dubowitz, H., Pitts, S. C., & Black, M. M. (2004). Measurement of Three Major Subtypes of Child Neglect. *Child Maltreatment*, 9(4), 344-356. doi:10.1177/1077559504269191


- DuMont, K., Ehrhard-Dietzel, S., & Kirkland, K. (2012). Averting child maltreatment:
 Individual, economic, social, and community resources that promote resilient parenting.
 In M. Ungar (Ed.), *The social ecology of resilience: A handbook of theory and practice*(pp. 199-217). New York, NY US: Springer Science + Business Media. doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-0586-3_17
- DuMont, K. A., Widom, C., & Czaja, S. J. (2007). Predictors of resilience in abused and neglected children grown-up: The role of individual and neighborhood characteristics. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *31*(3), 255-274. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2005.11.015
- Dunmore, E., Clark, D. M., & Ehlers, A. (2001). A prospective investigation of the role of cognitive factors in persistent posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) after physical or sexual assault. *Behaviour Research And Therapy*, 39(9), 1063-1084. doi:10.1016/S0005-7967(00)00088-7
- Dyregrov, A., & Yule, W. (2006). A Review of PTSD in Children. *Child And Adolescent Mental Health*, *11*(4), 176-184. doi:10.1111/j.1475-3588.2005.00384.x
- Edmond, T., Auslander, W., Elze, D. E., McMillen, C., & Thompson, R. (2002). Differences Between Sexually Abused and Non-Sexually Abused Adolescent Girls in Foster Care. *Journal Of Child Sexual Abuse*, *11*(4), 73-99. doi:10.1300/J070v11n04_05
- Edward, K. (2005). Resilience: A Protector From Depression. *Journal Of The American Psychiatric Nurses Association*, *11*(4), 241-243. doi:10.1177/1078390305281177
- Edwards, D., Sakasa, P., & van Wyk, G. (2005). Trauma, resilience and vulnerability to PTSD: A review and clinical case analysis. *Journal Of Psychology In Africa; South Of The Sahara, The Caribbean, And Afro-Latin America, 15*(2), 143-153.



- Egeland, B. (2007). Understanding developmental processes of resilience and psychology:
 Implications for policy and practice. In A. S. Masten (Ed.), *Multilevel dynamics in developmental psychopathology: Pathways to the future* (pp. 83-117). New York, NY: Taylor & Francis Group/Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Egeland, B. R., Carlson, E., & Sroufe, L. (1993). Resilience as process. *Development And Psychopathology*, 5(4), 517-528.
- Ehlers, A., & Clark, D. M. (2000). A cognitive model of posttraumatic stress disorder. *Behaviour Research And Therapy*, 38(4), 319-345. doi:10.1016/S0005-7967(99)00123-0
- Ehring, T., & Quack, D. (2010). Emotion regulation difficulties in trauma survivors: The role of trauma type and ptsd symptom severity. *Behavior Therapy*, *41*(4), 587-598.
 doi:10.1016/j.beth.2010.04.004
- Eisenberg, N., Chang, L., Ma, Y., & Huang, X. (2009). Relations of parenting style to Chinese children's effortful control, ego resilience, and maladjustment. *Development And Psychopathology*, 21(2), 455-477. doi:10.1017/S095457940900025X
- Eisenberg, N., Haugen, R., Spinrad, T. L., Hofer, C., Chassin, L., Zhou, Q., & ... Liew, J. (2010).
 Relations of temperament to maladjustment and ego resiliency in at-risk children. *Social Development*, *19*(3), 577-600. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9507.2009.00550.x
- Elklit, A., Karstoft, K., Armour, C., Feddern, D., & Christoffersen, M. (2013). Predicting criminality from child maltreatment typologies and posttraumatic stress symptoms. *European Journal Of Psychotraumatology*, 4doi:10.3402/ejpt.v4i0.19825
- Elliott, R., Sahakian, B. J., & Charney, D. (2010). The neural basis of resilience. In C. L. Cooper,J. Field, U. Goswami, R. Jenkins, B. J. Sahakian (Eds.) , *Mental capital and wellbeing*(pp. 111-118). Wiley-Blackwell.



Elwood, L. S., Mott, J., Williams, N. L., Lohr, J. M., & Schroeder, D. A. (2009). Attributional style and anxiety sensitivity as maintenance factors of posttraumatic stress symptoms: A prospective examination of a diathesis–stress model. *Journal Of Behavior Therapy And Experimental Psychiatry*, 40(4), 544-557. doi:10.1016/j.jbtep.2009.07.005

Elwyn, L., & Smith, C. (2013). Child maltreatment and adult substance abuse: The role of memory. *Journal Of Social Work Practice In The Addictions*, *13*(3), 269-294. doi:10.1080/1533256X.2013.814483

- Euser, E. M., van IJzendoorn, M. H., Prinzie, P., & Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. J. (2011).
 Elevated child maltreatment rates in immigrant families and the role of socioeconomic differences. *Child Maltreatment*, *16*(1), 63-73. doi:10.1177/1077559510385842
- Evans, L., & Oehler-Stinnett, J. (2006). Structure and prevalence of PTSD symptomology in children who have experienced a severe tornado. *Psychology In The Schools*, 43(3), 283-295. doi:10.1002/pits.20150
- Eysenck, S. B. (1963). *Junior Eysenck Personality Inventory*. San Diego, CA: Educational and Industrial Testing Service and Human Services.
- Fairbank, J. A., Putnam, F. W., & Harris, W. W. (2007). The prevalence and impact of child traumatic stress. In M. J. Friedman, T. M. Keane, P. A. Resick (Eds.), *Handbook of PTSD: Science and practice* (pp. 229-251). New York, NY US: Guilford Press

Fantuzzo, J., Coolahan, K., & Weiss, A. (1997). Resiliency partnership-directed intervention:
Enhancing the social competencies of preschool victims of physical abuse by developing peer resources and community strengths. In D. Cicchetti, S. L. Toth (Eds.), *Developmental perspectives on trauma: Theory, research, and intervention* (pp. 463-489). Rochester, NY US: University of Rochester Press.



- Farineau, H. M., Wojciak, A. S., & McWey, L. M. (2013). You matter to me: Important relationships and self-esteem of adolescents in foster care. *Child & Family Social Work*, 18(2), 129-138. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2206.2011.00808.x
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A.-G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using
 G*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*,
 41, 1149-1160.
- Feeny, N. C., Zoellner, L. A., Fitzgibbons, L. A., & Foa, E. B. (2000). Exploring the roles of emotional numbing, depression, and dissociation in PTSD. *Journal Of Traumatic Stress*, *13*(3), 489-498. doi:10.1023/A:1007789409330
- Feiring, C., Coates, D. L., & Taska, L. S. (2001). Ethnic status, stigmatization, support, and symptoms development following sexual abuse. *Journal Of Interpersonal Violence*, *16*(12), 1307-1329. doi:10.1177/088626001016012005
- Feldman, B. J., Conger, R. D., & Burzette, R. G. (2004). Traumatic events, psychiatric disorders, and pathways of risk and resilience during the transition to adulthood. *Research In Human Development*, 1(4), 259-290. doi:10.1207/s15427617rhd0104_3
- Feldman, R., & Vengrober, A. (2011). Posttraumatic stress disorder in infants and young children exposed to war-related trauma. *Journal Of The American Academy Of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 50(7), 645-658. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2011.03.00
- Fergus, S., & Zimmerman, M. A. (2005). Adolescent resilience: a framework for understanding healthy development in the face of risk. Annual Review of Public Health, 26(1), 399– 419.
- Fergusson, D. M., & Horwood, L. (2003). Resilience to childhood adversity: Results of a 12-year study. In S. S. Luthar (Ed.), *Resilience and vulnerability: Adaptation in the context of childhood adversities* (pp. 130-155). New York, NY US: Cambridge University Press.



- Fernando, G. A. (2012). Bloodied but unbowed: Resilience examined in a South Asian community. American Journal Of Orthopsychiatry, 82(3), 367-375. doi:10.1111/j.1939-0025.2012.01163.x
- Fincham, D. S., Altes, L., Stein, D. J., & Seedat, S. (2009). Posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms in adolescents: Risk factors versus resilience moderation. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 50(3), 193-199. doi:10.1016/j.comppsych.2008.09.001
- Finkelhor, D. (1990). Early and long-term effects of child sexual abuse: An update. *Professional Psychology: Research And Practice*, *21*(5), 325-330. doi:10.1037/0735-7028.21.5.325
- Finkelhor, D., Hotaling, G., Lewis, I. A., & Smith, C. (1990). Sexual abuse in a national survey of adult men and women: Prevalence, characteristics, and risk factors. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 14(1), 19-28. doi:10.1016/0145-2134(90)90077-7
- Finklehor, D., & Jones, L. (2006). Why Have Child Maltreatment and Child Victimization Declined?. *Journal Of Social Issues*, 62(4), 685-716. doi:10.1111/j.1540-4560.2006.00483.x
- Finkelhor, D., Shattuck, A., Turner, H. A., & Hamby, S. L. (2014). The lifetime prevalence of child sexual abuse and sexual assault assessed in late adolescence. *Journal Of Adolescent Health*, doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2013.12.026
- Fletcher, K. E. (2003). Childhood posttraumatic stress disorder. In E. Mash & J. Barkley(Eds.), *Child psychopathology (2nd ed.)* (pp. 330-337). New York: Guilford Press.
- Fletcher, D., & Sarkar, M. (2013). Psychological resilience: A review and critique of definitions, concepts, and theory. *European Psychologist*, 18(1), 12-23. doi:10.1027/1016-9040/a000124



- Florence, C., Brown, D. S., Fang, X., & Thompson, H. F. (2013). Health care costs associated with child maltreatment: Impact on Medicaid. *Pediatrics*, 132(2), 312-318. doi:10.1542/peds.2012-2212
- Flouri, E. (2005). Post- Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD): What We Have Learned and What
 We Still Have Not Found Out. *Journal Of Interpersonal Violence*, 20(4), 373-379.
 doi:10.1177/0886260504267549
- Foa, E. B., Steketee, G., & Rothbaum, B. O. (1989). Behavioral/cognitive conceptualizations of post-traumatic stress disorder. *Behavior Therapy*, 20(2), 155-176. doi:10.1016/S0005-7894(89)80067-X
- Foa, E. B., & Rothbaum, B. (1998). Treating the trauma of rape: Cognitive-behavioral therapy for PTSD. New York, NY US: Guilford Press.
- Fontaine, D., & Nolin, P. (2012). Personality disorders in a sample of parents accused of physical abuse or neglect. *Journal Of Family Violence*, 27(1), 23-31. doi:10.1007/s10896-011-9403-3
- Ford, J. D. (2005). Treatment Implications of Altered Affect Regulation and InformationProcessing Following Child Maltreatment. *Psychiatric Annals*, 35(5), 410-419.
- Ford, J. D., Nader, K., & Fletcher, K. E. (2013). Clinical assessment and diagnosis. In J. D. Ford,
 C. A. Courtois (Eds.), *Treating complex traumatic stress disorders in children and* adolescents: Scientific foundations and therapeutic models (pp. 116-139). New York, NY
 US: Guilford Press.
- Ford, J. D., Racusin, R., Ellis, C. G., Daviss, W. B., Reiser, J., Fleischer, A., & Thomas, J. (2000). Child maltreatment, other trauma exposure and posttraumatic symptomatology among children with oppositional defiant and attention deficit hyperactivity disorders. *Child Maltreatment*, 5(3), 205-217. doi:10.1177/1077559500005003001



- Ford, J. D., Wasser, T., & Connor, D. F. (2011). Identifying and determining the symptom severity associated with polyvictimization among psychiatrically impaired children in the outpatient setting. *Child Maltreatment*, 16(3), 216-226. doi:10.1177/1077559511406109
- Frans, Ö., Rimmö, P. A., Åberg, L. L., & Fredrikson, M. M. (2005). Trauma exposure and posttraumatic stress disorder in the general population. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *111*(4), 291-299. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0447.2004.00463.x
- Fu, C., Leoutsakos, J., & Underwood, C. (2014). An examination of resilience cross-culturally in child and adolescent survivors of the 2008 China earthquake using the Connor–Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC). *Journal Of Affective Disorders*, 155149-153. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2013.10.041
- Fudge Schormans, A., & Sobsey, D. (2007). Maltreatment of children with developmental disabilities. In I. Brown, M. Percy (Eds.), A comprehensive guide to intellectual and developmental disabilities (pp. 467-487). Baltimore, MD US: Paul H Brookes Publishing.
- Gadalla, T. M. (2009). Sense of mastery, social support, and health in elderly Canadians. *Journal Of Aging And Health*, *21*(4), 581-595. doi:10.1177/0898264309333318
- Galovski, T. E., Blain, L. M., Chappuis, C., & Fletcher, T. (2013). Sex differences in recovery from PTSD in male and female interpersonal assault survivors. *Behaviour Research And Therapy*, 51(6), 247-255. doi:10.1016/j.brat.2013.02.002
- Gedeit, R. G. (2001). Medical management of the shaken infant. *Journal Of Aggression*, *Maltreatment & Trauma*, 5(1), 155-171. doi:10.1300/J146v05n01_09
- Ghazali, S., Elklit, A., Yaman, K., & Ahmad, M. (2013). Symptoms of PTSD among adolescents in Malaysia 4 years following the 2004 tsunami. *Journal Of Loss And Trauma*, 18(3), 260-274. doi:10.1080/15325024.2012.688703



- Ginzburg, K., Koopman, C., Butler, L. D., Palesh, O., Kraemer, H. C., Classen, C. C., & Spiegel,
 D. (2006). Evidence for a dissociative subtype of post-traumatic stress disorder among
 help-seeking childhood sexual abuse survivors. *Journal Of Trauma & Dissociation*, 7(2),
 7-27. doi:10.1300/J229v07n02_02
- Giaconia, R. M., Reinherz, H. Z., Silverman, A. B., Pakiz, B., Frost, A. K., & Cohen, E. (1995).
 Traumas and posttraumatic stress disorder in a community population of older adolescents. *Journal Of The American Academy Of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 34(10), 1369-1380. doi:10.1097/00004583-199510000-00023
- Gillespie, C. F., Phifer, J., Bradley, B., & Ressler, K. J. (2009). Risk and resilience: Genetic and environmental influences on development of the stress response. *Depression And Anxiety*, 26(11), 984-992. doi:10.1002/da.20605
- Gilmore, L., Campbell, M., Shochet, I., & Roberts, C. (2013). Resiliency profiles of children with intellectual disability and their typically developing peers. *Psychology In The Schools*, 50(10), 1032-1043. doi:10.1002/pits.21728
- Glaser, D. (2012). Effects of child maltreatment on the developing brain. In M. Garralda, J.
 Raynaud (Eds.). *Brain, mind, and developmental psychopathology in childhood* (pp. 199-218). Lanham, MD US: Jason Aronson.
- Goel, K. S., Amatya, K., Jones, R. T., & Ollendick, T. H. (2014). Child and adolescent resiliency following a residential fire: The role of social support and ethnicity. *Journal Of Child And Family Studies*, 23(3), 537-547. doi:10.1007/s10826-013-9715-4
- Goenjian, A. K., Bailey, J. N., Walling, D. P., Steinberg, A. M., Schmidt, D., Dandekar, U., & Noble, E. P. (2012). Association of TPH1, TPH2, and 5HTTLPR with PTSD and depressive symptoms. *Journal Of Affective Disorders*, *140*(3), 244-252.

doi:10.1016/j.jad.2012.02.015



- Goldsmith, R. E., & Freyd, J. J. (2005). Awareness for emotional abuse. *Journal Of Emotional Abuse*, 5(1), 95-123. doi:10.1300/J135v05n01_04
- Goldstein, A. L., Faulkner, B., & Wekerle, C. (2013). The relationship among internal resilience, smoking, alcohol use, and depression symptoms in emerging adults transitioning out of child welfare. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 37(1), 22-32. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2012.08.007
- Goldstein, S., & Rider, R. (2005). Resilience and the Disruptive Disorders of Childhood. In S.
 Goldstein, R. B. Brooks (Eds.) , *Handbook of resilience in children* (pp. 203-222). New York, NY, US: Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers. doi:10.1007/0-306-48572-9_13
- Goldstein, S., & Rider, R. (2013). Resilience and the disruptive disorders of childhood. In S.
 Goldstein, S. Goldstein, R. B. Brooks (Eds.) , *Handbook of resilience in children (2nd ed.)* (pp. 183-200). New York, NY, US: Springer Science + Business Media.
 doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-3661-4_11
- Gomes-Schwartz, B., Horowitz, J. M., & Cardarelli, A. P. (1990). *Child sexual abuse: The initial effects*. Thousand Oaks, CA US: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Gomez, R., & McLaren, S. (2006). The association of avoidance coping style, and perceived mother and father support with anxiety/depression among late adolescents: Applicability of resiliency models. *Personality And Individual Differences*, 40(6), 1165-1176. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2005.11.009
- Gonzalez, A., Boyle, M. H., Kyu, H., Georgiades, K., Duncan, L., & MacMillan, H. L. (2012).
 Childhood and family influences on depression, chronic physical conditions, and their comorbidity: Findings from the Ontario child health study. *Journal Of Psychiatric Research*, *46*(11), 1475-1482. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2012.08.004



- Goodkind, J., LaNoue, M., Lee, C., Freeland, L., & Freund, R. (2012). Involving parents in a community-based, culturally grounded mental health intervention for American Indian youth: Parent perspectives, challenges, and results. *Journal Of Community Psychology*, 40(4), 468-478. doi:10.1002/jcop.21480
- Gowin, J. L., Green, C. E., Alcorn, J., Swann, A. C., Moeller, F., & Lane, S. D. (2013). The role of cortisol and psychopathy in the cycle of violence. *Psychopharmacology*, 227(4), 661-672. doi:10.1007/s00213-013-2992-1
- Grasso, D. J., Cohen, L. H., Moser, J. S., Hajcak, G., Foa, E. B., & Simons, R. F. (2012). Seeing the silver lining: Potential benefits of trauma exposure in college students. *Anxiety, Stress & Coping: An International Journal*, 25(2), 117-136.
 doi:10.1080/10615806.2011.561922
- Gray, G. G., Luna, L., & Seegobin, W. (2012). Exploring resilience: Strengths of trafficking survivors in Cambodia. *International Journal Of Adolescent Medicine And Health*, 24(4), 363-371. doi:10.1515/ijamh.2012.053
- Greeff, A. P., & Holtzkamp, J. (2007). The prevalence of resilience in migrant families. *Family*& Community Health: The Journal Of Health Promotion & Maintenance, 30(3), 189-200.
- Gustafsson, P. E., Anckarsäter, H., Lichtenstein, P., Nelson, N., & Gustafsson, P. A. (2010). Does quantity have a quality all its own? Cumulative adversity and up- and downregulation of circadian salivary cortisol levels in healthy children.

Psychoneuroendocrinology, *35*(9), 1410-1415. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2010.04.004



- Gwadz, M., Nish, D., Leonard, N. R., & Strauss, S. M. (2007). Gender differences in traumatic events and rates of post-traumatic stress disorder among homeless youth. *Journal Of Adolescence*, 30(1), 117-129. doi:10.1016/j.adolescence.2006.01.004
- Haapasalo, J., & Pokela, E. (1999). Child-rearing and child abuse antecedents of criminality. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, *4*, 107-127.
- Hamarman, S., Pope, K. H., & Czaja, S. J. (2002). Emotional abuse in children: Variations in legal definitions and rates across the United States. *Child Maltreatment*, 7(4), 303-311. doi:10.1177/107755902237261
- Hambrick, E. P., Tunno, A. M., Gabrielli, J., Jackson, Y., & Belz, C. (2014). Using multiple informants to assess child maltreatment: Concordance between case file and youth self-report. *Journal Of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma*, 23(7), 751-771. doi:10.1080/10926771.2014.933463
- Hankin, B. L., & Abramson, L. Y. (2001). Development of gender differences in depression: An elaborated cognitive vulnerability–transactional stress theory. *Psychological Bulletin*, *127*(6), 773-796. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.127.6.773
- Harder, V. S., Mutiso, V. N., Khasakhala, L. I., Burke, H. M., & Ndetei, D. M. (2012). Multiple traumas, postelection violence, and posttraumatic stress among impoverished Kenyan youth. *Journal Of Traumatic Stress*, 25(1), 64-70. doi:10.1002/jts.21660
- Hart, S. N., Binggeli, N. J., & Brassard, M. R. (1997). Evidence for the effects of psychological maltreatment. *Journal Of Emotional Abuse*, *1*(1), 27-58. doi:10.1300/J135v01n01_03
- Hartman, J. L., Turner, M. G., Daigle, L. E., Exum, M., & Cullen, F. T. (2009). Exploring the gender differences in protective factors: Implications for understanding resiliency. *International Journal Of Offender Therapy And Comparative Criminology*, *53*(3), 249-277. doi:10.1177/0306624X08326910



- Harvey, M. R. (2007). Towards an ecological understanding of resilience in trauma survivors: Implications for theory, research, and practice. *Journal Of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma, 14*(1-2), 9-32. doi:10.1300/J146v14n01_02
- Hauser, S. T., & Allen, J. P. (2006). Overcoming adversity in adolescence: Narratives of resilience. *Psychoanalytic Inquiry*, 26(4), 549-576. doi:10.1080/07351690701310623
- Haugaard, J. J. (2000). The challenge of defining child sexual abuse. *American Psychologist*, 55(9), 1036-1039. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.55.9.1036
- Heller, S., Larrieu, J. A., D'Imperio, R., & Boris, N. W. (1999). Research on resilience to child maltreatment: Empirical considerations. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 23(4), 321-338. doi:10.1016/S0145-2134(99)00007-1
- Helton, J. J., & Liechty, J. M. (2013). Obesity prevalence among youth investigated for maltreatment in the United States. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.08.011
- Hengartner, M. P., Ajdacic-Gross, V. V., Rodgers, S. S., Müller, M. M., & Rössler, W. W.
 (2013). Childhood adversity in association with personality disorder dimensions: New findings in an old debate. *European Psychiatry*, 28(8), 476-482.
 doi:10.1016/j.eurpsy.2013.04.004
- Hengartner, M. P., Müller, M., Rodgers, S., Rössler, W., & Ajdacic-Gross, V. (2013). Can protective factors moderate the detrimental effects of child maltreatment on personality functioning?. *Journal Of Psychiatric Research*, 47(9), 1180-1186. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2013.05.005
- Henry, D. L. (2001). Resilient children: What they tell us about coping with maltreatment. *Social Work In Health Care*, *34*(3-4), 283-298. doi:10.1300/J010v34n03_03



- Herbert, H. S., Manjula, M. M., & Philip, M. (2013). Resilience and factors contributing to resilience among the offsprings of parents with schizophrenia. *Psychological Studies*, 58(1), 80-88. doi:10.1007/s12646-012-0168-4
- Herman, B. (2007). CAPTA and early childhood intervention: Policy and the role of parents. *Children & Schools*, *29*(1), 17-24. doi:10.1093/cs/29.1.17

Herman, J. L. (1995). Complex PTSD: A syndrome in survivors of prolonged and repeated trauma. In G. J. Everly, J. M. Lating, G. J. Everly, J. M. Lating (Eds.), *Psychotraumatology: Key papers and core concepts in post-traumatic stress* (pp. 87-100). New York, NY, US: Plenum Press.

- Hernández, P. (2002). Resilience in families and communities: Latin American contributions from the psychology of liberation. *The Family Journal*, *10*(3), 334-343. doi:10.1177/10680702010003011
- Herringa, R. J., Birn, R. M., Ruttle, P. L., Burghy, C. A., Stodola, D. E., Davidson, R. J., & Essex, M. J. (2013). Childhood maltreatment is associated with altered fear circuitry and increased internalizing symptoms by late adolescence. *PNAS Proceedings Of The National Academy Of Sciences Of The United States Of America*, *110*(47), 19119-19124. doi:10.1073/pnas.1310766110
- Herrenkohl, T. I., & Herrenkohl, R. C. (2007). Examining the overlap and prediction of multiple forms of child maltreatment, stressors, and socioeconomic status: A longitudinal analysis of youth outcomes. *Journal Of Family Violence*, 22(7), 553-562. doi:10.1007/s10896-007-9107-x
- Herrenkohl, E., Herrenkohl, R., & Egolf, B. (1994). Resilient early school-age children from maltreating homes: Outcomes in late adolescence. *American Journal Of Orthopsychiatry*, 64(2), 301-309. doi:10.1037/h0079517



- Herrenkohl, T. I., Hong, S., Klika, J., Herrenkohl, R. C., & Russo, M. (2013). Developmental impacts of child abuse and neglect related to adult mental health, substance use, and physical health. *Journal Of Family Violence*, 28(2), 191-199. doi:10.1007/s10896-012-9474-9
- Herrenkohl, T. I., Klika, J., Herrenkohl, R. C., Russo, M., & Dee, T. (2012). A prospective investigation of the relationship between child maltreatment and indicators of adult psychological well-being. *Violence And Victims*, 27(5), 764-776. doi:10.1891/0886-6708.27.5.764
- Hetzel-Riggin, M. D., & Roby, R. P. (2013). Trauma type and gender effects on PTSD, general distress, and peritraumatic dissociation. *Journal Of Loss And Trauma*, 18(1), 41-53. doi:10.1080/15325024.2012.679119
- Hibbard, R., Barlow, J., & MacMillan, H. (2012). Psychological maltreatment. *Pediatrics*, 130(2), 372-378.Hildon, Z., Smith, G., Netuveli, G., & Blane, D. (2008). Understanding adversity and resilience at older ages. *Sociology Of Health & Illness*, 30(5), 726-740. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9566.2008.01087.x
- Himelein, M. J., & McElrath, J. V. (1996). Resilient child sexual abuse survivors: cognitive coping and illusion. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 20(8), 747-758. doi:10.1016/0145-2134(96)00062-2
- Holmes, W. C., & Slap, G. B. (1998). Sexual abuse of boys: Definition, prevalence, correlates, sequelae, and management. *JAMA: Journal Of The American Medical Association*, 280(21), 1855-1862. doi:10.1001/jama.280.21.1855
- Holleran, L. K., & Jung, S. (2008). Acculturative stress, violence, and resilience in the lives of Mexican-American youth. In B. E. Bride, S. A. MacMaster (Eds.), *Stress, trauma and substance use* (pp. 29-52). New York, NY US: Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.



- Hollister-Wagner, G. H., Foshee, V. A., & Jackson, C. (2001). Adolescent aggression: Models of resiliency. *Journal Of Applied Social Psychology*, 31(3), 445-466. doi:10.1111/j.1559-1816.2001.tb02050.x
- Horsch, A., McManus, F., & Kennedy, P. (2012). Cognitive and non-cognitive factors associated with posttraumatic stress symptoms in mothers of children with type 1 diabetes. *Behavioural And Cognitive Psychotherapy*, 40(4), 400-411.
 doi:10.1017/S1352465812000112
- Hovdestad, W. E., Tonmyr, L., Wekerle, C., & Thornton, T. (2011). Why is childhood maltreatment associated with adolescent substance abuse? A critical review of explanatory models. *International Journal Of Mental Health And Addiction*, 9(5), 525-542. doi:10.1007/s11469-011-9322-9
- Huang, M., Schwandt, M. L., Ramchandani, V. A., George, D. T., & Heilig, M. (2012). Impact of multiple types of childhood trauma exposure on risk of psychiatric comorbidity among alcoholic inpatients. *Alcoholism: Clinical And Experimental Research*, *36*(6), 1099-1107. doi:10.1111/j.1530-0277.2011.01695.x
- Hulette, A. C., Fisher, P. A., Kim, H. K., Ganger, W., & Landsverk, J. L. (2008). Dissociation in foster preschoolers: A replication and assessment study. *Journal Of Trauma & Dissociation*, 9(2), 173-190. doi:10.1080/15299730802045914
- Hulette, A. C., Freyd, J. J., & Fisher, P. A. (2011). Dissociation in middle childhood among foster children with early maltreatment experiences. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 35(2), 123-126. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2010.10.002
- Husain, S. (2012). Trauma, resiliency and recovery in children: Lessons from the field. *Psychiatria Danubina*, *24*(Suppl 3), 277-284.



- Hyer, L. A., Albrecht, J., Boudewyns, P. A., Woods, M., & Brandsma, J. (1993). Dissociative experiences of Vietnam veterans with chronic posttraumatic stress disorder. *Psychological Reports*, 73(2), 519-530. doi:10.2466/pr0.1993.73.2.519
- Irish, L., Kobayashi, I., & Delahanty, D. L. (2010). Long-term physical health consequences of childhood sexual abuse: A meta-analytic review. *Journal Of Pediatric Psychology*, 35(5), 450-461. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsp118
- Iwaniec, D., Larkin, E., & Higgins, S. (2006). Research Review: Risk and resilience in cases of emotional abuse. *Child & Family Social Work*, 11(1), 73-82. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2206.2006.00398.x
- Jackson, Y., Sifers, S. K., Warren, J. S., & Velasquez, D. (2003). Family protective factors and behavioral outcome: The role of appraisal in family life events. *Journal Of Emotional And Behavioral Disorders*, 11(2), 105-113. doi:10.1177/106342660301100204
- Jaffee, S. R. (2012). Teasing out the role of genotype in the development of psychopathology in maltreated children. In C. Widom (Ed.), *Trauma, psychopathology, and violence: Causes, consequences, or correlates?* (pp. 49-75). New York, NY US: Oxford University Press.
- Jaffee, S. R., & Maikovich- Fong, A. (2011). Effects of chronic maltreatment and maltreatment timing on children's behavior and cognitive abilities. *Journal Of Child Psychology And Psychiatry*, 52(2), 184-194. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.2010.02304.x
- Jaffee, S. R., Caspi, A., Moffitt, T. E., Polo-Tomás, M., & Taylor, A. (2007). Individual, family, and neighborhood factors distinguish resilient from non-resilient maltreated children: A cumulative stressors model. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 31(3), 231-253. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2006.03.011



- Jain, S., Buka, S. L., Subramanian, S. V., & Molnar, B. E. (2012). Protective factors for youth exposed to violence: Role of developmental assets in building emotional resilience. *Youth Violence And Juvenile Justice*, 10(1), 107-129. doi:10.1177/1541204011424735
- Jakšić, N., Brajković, L., Ivezić, E., Topić, R., & Jakovljević, M. (2012). The role of personality traits in posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD). *Psychiatria Danubina*, *24*(3), 256-266.
- Jalongo, M. (2006). The Story of Mary Ellen Wilson: Tracing the Origins of Child Protection in America. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, *34*(1), 1-4. doi:10.1007/s10643-006-0121z
- Jang, Y., Chiriboga, D. A., Lee, J., & Cho, S. (2009). Determinants of a sense of mastery in Korean American elders: A longitudinal assessment. *Aging & Mental Health*, 13(1), 99-105. doi:10.1080/13607860802154531
- Jenny, C. (2007). Recognizing and responding to medical neglect. *Pediatrics*, *120*(6), 1385-1389. doi:10.1542/peds.2007-2903
- Jiang, F., An, Y., & Wu, X. (2014). Trauma-focused cognitive-behavioral therapy for children and adolescent. *Chinese Journal Of Clinical Psychology*, 22(4), 756-760.
- Jobson, L. (2009). Drawing current posttraumatic stress disorder models into the cultural sphere: The development of the 'threat to the conceptual self' model. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 29(4), 368-381. doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2009.03.002
- Jobson, L., & O'Kearney, R. T. (2009). Impact of cultural differences in self on cognitive appraisals in posttraumatic stress disorder. *Behavioural And Cognitive Psychotherapy*, 37(3), 249-266. doi:10.1017/S135246580900527X



- Johansen, V. A., Eilertsen, D., Nordanger, D., & Weisaeth, L. (2013). Prevalence, comorbidity and stability of post-traumatic stress disorder and anxiety and depression symptoms after exposure to physical assault: An 8-year prospective longitudinal study. *Nordic Journal Of Psychiatry*, 67(1), 69-80. doi:10.3109/08039488.2012.732112
- Johnson, J. J., Gooding, P. A., Wood, A. M., Taylor, P. J., Pratt, D. D., & Tarrier, N. N. (2010). Resilience to suicidal ideation in psychosis: Positive self-appraisals buffer the impact of hopelessness. *Behaviour Research And Therapy*, 48(9), 883-889. doi:10.1016/j.brat.2010.05.013
- Johnson, D. M., Palmieri, P. A., Jackson, A. P., & Hobfoll, S. E. (2007). Emotional numbing weakens abused inner-city women's resiliency resources. *Journal Of Traumatic Stress*, 20(2), 197-206. doi:10.1002/jts.20201
- Jones, J. M. (2007). Exposure to chronic community violence: Resilience in African American children. *Journal Of Black Psychology*, *33*(2), 125-149. doi:10.1177/0095798407299511
- Jonkman, C. S., Verlinden, E., Bolle, E. A., Boer, F., & Lindauer, R. L. (2013). Traumatic stress symptomatology after child maltreatment and single traumatic events: Different profiles. *Journal Of Traumatic Stress*, 26(2), 225-232.
- Jonson-Reid, M., Kohl, P. L., & Drake, B. (2012). Child and adult outcomes of chronic child maltreatment. *Pediatrics*, *129*(5), 839-845. doi:10.1542/peds.2011-2529
- Jordan, J. V. (2005). Relational Resilience in Girls. In S. Goldstein, R. B. Brooks (Eds.), Handbook of resilience in children (pp. 79-90). New York, NY US: Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers. doi:10.1007/0-306-48572-9_6



Jud, A., Landolt, M. A., Tatalias, A., Lach, L. M., & Lips, U. (2013). Health-related quality of life in the aftermath of child maltreatment: Follow-up study of a hospital sample. *Quality Of Life Research: An International Journal Of Quality Of Life Aspects Of Treatment, Care & Rehabilitation*, 22(6), 1361-1369. doi:10.1007/s11136-012-0262-z

- Junewicz, W. J. (1983). A protective posture toward emotional neglect and abuse. *Child Welfare: Journal Of Policy, Practice, And Program, 62*(3), 243-252.
- Kaczmarek, M., & Zawadzki, B. (2012). Exposure to trauma, emotional reactivity, and its interaction as predictors of the intensity of PTSD symptoms in the aftermath of motor vehicle accidents. *Journal Of Russian & East European Psychology*, *50*(3), 47-64. doi:10.2753/RPO1061-0405500303
- Kalantzi-Azizi, A. A., & Karademas, E. h. (2005). Explanatory models of post-traumatic stress disorder: the cognitive-behavioural approach. *Psychiatriki*, *16*(2), 137-153.
- Karl, A., Schaefer, M., Malta, L. S., Dörfel, D., Rohleder, N., & Werner, A. (2006). A metaanalysis of structural brain abnormalities in PTSD. *Neuroscience And Biobehavioral Reviews*, 30(7), 1004-1031. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2006.03.004
- Karl, A., Rabe, S., Zöllner, T., Maercker, A., & Stopa, L. (2009). Negative self-appraisals in treatment-seeking survivors of motor vehicle accidents. *Journal Of Anxiety Disorders*, 23(6), 775-781. doi:10.1016/j.janxdis.2009.03.001
- Kasen, S., Cohen, P., Skodol, A. E., Johnson, J. G., Smailes, E., & Brook, J. S. (2001).
 Childhood depression and adult personality disorder: Alternative pathways of continuity. *Archives Of General Psychiatry*, 58(3), 231-236. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.58.3.23
- Kashdan, T. B., & Rottenberg, J. (2010). Psychological flexibility as a fundamental aspect of health. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 30(7), 865-878. doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2010.03.001



- Kasler, J., Dahan, J., & Elias, M. J. (2008). The relationship between sense of hope, family support and post-traumatic stress disorder among children: The case of young victims of rocket attacks in Israel. *Vulnerable Children And Youth Studies*, *3*(3), 182-191. doi:10.1080/17450120802282876
- Kassis, W., Artz, S., Scambor, C., Scambor, E., & Moldenhauer, S. (2013). Finding the way out: A non-dichotomous understanding of violence and depression resilience of adolescents who are exposed to family violence. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *37*(2-3), 181-199. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2012.11.001
- Kaufman, J. (1991). Depressive disorders in maltreated children. Journal Of The American Academy Of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 30(2), 257-265. doi:10.1097/00004583-199103000-00014
- Kaufman- Shriqui, V., Werbeloff, N., Faroy, M., Meiri, G., Shahar, D. R., Fraser, D., & ...
 Harpaz- Rotem, I. (2013). Posttraumatic stress disorder among preschoolers exposed to ongoing missile attacks in the Gaza war. *Depression And Anxiety*, *30*(5), 425-431.
 doi:10.1002/da.22121
- Kearney, C. A., Wechsler, A., Kaur, H., & Lemos-Miller, A. (2010). Posttraumatic stress disorder in maltreated youth: A review of contemporary research and thought. *Clinical Child And Family Psychology Review*, 13(1), 46-76. doi:10.1007/s10567-009-0061-4
- Keller, T. E., Salazar, A. M., & Courtney, M. E. (2010). Prevalence and timing of diagnosable mental health, alcohol, and substance use problems among older adolescents in the child welfare system. *Children And Youth Services Review*, *32*(4), 626-634. doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2009.12.010



- Kelly, P. A., Viding, E., Wallace, G. L., Schaer, M., De Brito, S. A., Robustelli, B., & McCrory, E. J. (2013). Cortical thickness, surface area, and gyrification abnormalities in children exposed to maltreatment: Neural markers of vulnerability?. *Biological Psychiatry*, 74(11), 845-852. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.06.020
- Kendall-Tackett, K., Lyon, T., Taliaferro, G., & Little, L. (2005). Why child maltreatment researchers should include children's disability status in their maltreatment studies. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 29(2), 147-151. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2004.09.002
- Kendra, R., Bell, K. M., & Guimond, J. M. (2012). The impact of child abuse history, PTSD symptoms, and anger arousal on dating violence perpetration among college women. *Journal Of Family Violence*, 27(3), 165-175. doi:10.1007/s10896-012-9415-7
- Kerig, P. K., & Bennett, D. C. (2013). Beyond fear, helplessness, and horror: Peritraumatic reactions associated with posttraumatic stress symptoms among traumatized delinquent youth. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, And Policy*, 5(5), 431-438. doi:10.1037/a0029609
- Kern, M. L., & Friedman, H. S. (2010). Why do some people thrive while others succumb to disease and stagnation? Personality, social relations, and resilience. In P. S. Fry, C. M. Keyes, P. S. Fry, C. M. Keyes (Eds.), *New frontiers in resilient aging: Life-strengths and well-being in late life* (pp. 162-184). New York, NY, US: Cambridge University Press. doi:10.1017/CBO9780511763151.008
- Kessing, L., Willer, I., & Knorr, U. (2011). Volume of the adrenal and pituitary glands in depression. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *36*(1), 19-27.
 doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2010.05.007



- Kessler, R. C., Berglund, P., Demler, O., Jin, R., Merikangas, K. R., & Walters, E. E. (2005).
 Lifetime Prevalence and Age-of-Onset Distributions of DSM-IV Disorders in the
 National Comorbidity Survey Replication. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 62(6), 593-602. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.62.6.593
- Khanlou, N., & Wray, R. (2014). A whole community approach toward child and youth resilience promotion: A review of resilience literature. *International Journal Of Mental Health And Addiction*, doi:10.1007/s11469-013-9470-1
- Kia-Keating, M., Sorsoli, L., & Grossman, F. K. (2010). Relational challenges and recovery processes in male survivors of childhood sexual abuse. *Journal Of Interpersonal Violence*, 25(4), 666-683. doi:10.1177/0886260509334411
- Kilpatrick, D. G., Ruggiero, K. J., Acierno, R., Saunders, B. E., Resnick, H. S., & Best, C. L. (2003). Violence and risk of PTSD, major depression, substance abuse/dependence, and comorbidity: Results from the National Survey of Adolescents. *Journal Of Consulting And Clinical Psychology*, *71*(4), 692-700. doi:10.1037/0022-006X.71.4.692
- Kim, B., Kim, J., Kim, H., Shin, M., Cho, S., Choi, N., & ... Yun, M. (2009). A 6-month followup study of posttraumatic stress and anxiety/depressive symptoms in Korean children after direct or indirect exposure to a single incident of trauma. *Journal Of Clinical Psychiatry*, 70(8), 1148-1154. doi:10.4088/JCP.08m04896
- Kim-Cohen, J. (2007). Resilience and Developmental Psychopathology. *Child And Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics Of North America*, *16*(2), 271-283. doi:10.1016/j.chc.2006.11.003
- Kim-Cohen, J., & Turkewitz, R. (2012). Resilience and measured gene–environment interactions. *Development And Psychopathology*, 24(4), 1297-1306. doi:10.1017/S0954579412000715



- Kim, J., & Cicchetti, D. (2010). Longitudinal pathways linking child maltreatment, emotion regulation, peer relations, and psychopathology. *Journal Of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 51(6), 706-716. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.2009.02202.x
- Kim, K., Song, Y., Park, J., Lee, E., Lee, M., Lee, S., & ... Kwon, J. (2013). The relationship between psychosocial functioning and resilience and negative symptoms in individuals at ultra-high risk for psychosis. *Australian And New Zealand Journal Of Psychiatry*, 47(8), 762-771. doi:10.1177/0004867413488218
- Kimonis, E. R., Ray, J. V., Branch, J. R., & Cauffman, E. (2011). Anger mediates the relation between violence exposure and violence perpetration in incarcerated boys. *Child & Youth Care Forum*, 40(5), 381-400. doi:10.1007/s10566-010-9121-7
- King, D. C., Abram, K. M., Romero, E. G., Washburn, J. J., Welty, L. J., & Teplin, L. A. (2011).
 Childhood maltreatment and psychiatric disorders among detained youth. *Psychiatric Services*, 62(12), 1430-1438. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.004412010
- Kira, I. A., Aboumediene, S., Ashby, J. S., Odenat, L., Mohanesh, J., & Alamia, H. (2013). The dynamics of posttraumatic growth across different trauma types in a Palestinian sample. *Journal Of Loss And Trauma*, 18(2), 120-139. doi:10.1080/15325024.2012.679129
- Kira, I. A., Fawzi, M. H., & Fawzi, M. M. (2013). The dynamics of cumulative trauma and trauma types in adults patients with psychiatric disorders: Two cross-cultural studies. *Traumatology*, 19(3), 179-195. doi:10.1177/1534765612459892
- Kira, I., Lewandowski, L., Somers, C. L., Yoon, J. S., & Chiodo, L. (2012). The effects of trauma types, cumulative trauma, and PTSD on IQ in two highly traumatized adolescent groups. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, And Policy*, 4(1), 128-139. doi:10.1037/a0022121



Kirby, J. S., Chu, J. A., & Dill, D. L. (1993). Correlates of dissociative symptomatology in patients with physical and sexual abuse histories. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 34(4), 258-263. doi:10.1016/0010-440X(93)90008-R

Kisiel, C., Fehrenbach, T., Liang, L., Stolbach, B., McClelland, G., Griffin, G., & ... Spinazzola, J. (2014). Examining child sexual abuse in relation to complex patterns of trauma exposure: Findings from the National Child Traumatic Stress Network. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, And Policy, 6*(Suppl 1), S29-S39. doi:10.1037/a0037812

- Klanecky, A. K., & McChargue, D. E. (2009). Emotional reactivity across individuals with varying trauma and substance dependence histories. *Mental Health And Substance Use: Dual Diagnosis*, 2(3), 191-202. doi:10.1080/17523280903192011
- Klasen, F., Gehrke, J., Metzner, F., Blotevogel, M., & Okello, J. (2013). Complex trauma symptoms in former Ugandan child soldiers. *Journal Of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma*, 22(7), 698-713. doi:10.1080/10926771.2013.814741
- Klasen, F., Oettingen, G., Daniels, J., Post, M., Hoyer, C., & Adam, H. (2010). Posttraumatic resilience in former Ugandan child soldiers. *Child Development*, 81(4), 1096-1113. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2010.01456.x
- Kleim, B., Ehlers, A., & Glucksman, E. (2012). Investigating cognitive pathways to psychopathology: Predicting depression and posttraumatic stress disorder from early responses after assault. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, And Policy*, 4(5), 527-537. doi:10.1037/a0027006



- Kleim, B., Grey, N., Wild, J., Nussbeck, F. W., Stott, R., Hackmann, A., & ... Ehlers, A. (2013).
 Cognitive change predicts symptom reduction with cognitive therapy for posttraumatic stress disorder. *Journal Of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *81*(3), 383-393.
 doi:10.1037/a0031290
- Klevens, J., & Leeb, R. T. (2010). Child maltreatment fatalities in children under 5: Findings from the National Violence Death Reporting System. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 34(4), 262-266. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2009.07.005
- Klika, J., & Herrenkohl, T. I. (2013). A review of developmental research on resilience in maltreated children. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 14*(3), 222-234.
 doi:10.1177/1524838013487808
- Kloet, E., & Rinne, T. (2007). Neuroendocrine markers of early trauma: Implications for posttraumatic stress disorders. *Traumatic dissociation: Neurobiology and treatment* (pp. 139-156). Arlington, VA US: American Psychiatric Publishing, Inc.
- Knickerbocker, L., Heyman, R. E., Slep, A., Jouriles, E. N., & McDonald, R. (2007). Co-occurrence of child and partner maltreatment definitions, prevalence, theory, and implications for assessment. *European Psychologist*, *12*(1), 36-44. doi:10.1027/1016-9040.12.1.36
- Koltek, M., Wilkes, T. R., & Atkinson, M. (1998). The prevalence of posttraumatic stress disorder in an adolescent inpatient unit. *The Canadian Journal Of Psychiatry / La Revue Canadienne De Psychiatrie*, 43(1), 64-68.



- Komarovskaya, I., Brown, A. D., Galatzer-Levy, I. R., Madan, A., Henn-Haase, C., Teater, J., & ... Chemtob, C. M. (2014). Early physical victimization is a risk factor for posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms among Mississippi police and firefighter first responders to Hurricane Katrina. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, And Policy*, 6(1), 92-96. doi:10.1037/a0031600
- Kovacs, M. (1992). *The Children's Depression Inventory*. North Tonowanda, NY: Multi-Health Systems.
- Kroes, M. W., Rugg, M. D., Whalley, M. G., & Brewin, C. R. (2011). Structural brain abnormalities common to posttraumatic stress disorder and depression. *Journal Of Psychiatry & Neuroscience*, 36(4), 256-265. doi:10.1503/jpn.100077
- Krystal, J. H., & Neumeister, A. (2009). Noradrenergic and serotonergic mechanisms in the neurobiology of posttraumatic stress disorder and resilience. *Brain Research*, 129313-23. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2009.03.044
- Kulkarni, M., Pole, N., & Timko, C. (2013). Childhood victimization, negative mood regulation, and adult PTSD severity. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, And Policy*, 5(4), 359-365. doi:10.1037/a0027746
- Kumar, G., Steer, R. A., & Gulab, N. A. (2010). Profiles of personal resiliency in child and adolescent psychiatric inpatients. *Journal Of Psychoeducational Assessment*, 28(4), 315-325. doi:10.1177/0734282910366834

Kumpfer, K. L., Fenollar, J., Xie, J., & Dellinger, B. (2011). Resilience framework: Resilience and resourcefulness in the face of chronic family adversity. In M. J. Celinski, K. M. Gow (Eds.), *Continuity versus creative response to challenge: The primacy of resilience and resourcefulness in life and therapy* (pp. 259-272). Hauppauge, NY, US: Nova Science

Publishers.



- La Greca, A. M., Lai, B. S., Joormann, J., Auslander, B. B., & Short, M. A. (2013). Children's risk and resilience following a natural disaster: Genetic vulnerability, posttraumatic stress, and depression. *Journal Of Affective Disorders*, 151(3), 860-867. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2013.07.024
- Lahat, A., & Schmidt, L. A. (2013). Early violence exposure and executive function:
 Implications for psychopathology and other cautionary points: Commentary on McCoy.
 Human Development, 56(4), 274-279. doi:10.1159/000353803
- Lamela, D., & Figueiredo, B. (2013). Parents' physical victimization in childhood and current risk of child maltreatment: The mediator role of psychosomatic symptoms. *Journal Of Psychosomatic Research*, 75(2), 178-183. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychores.2013.04.001
- Lancaster, S. L., Rodriguez, B. F., & Weston, R. (2011). Path analytic examination of a cognitive model of PTSD. *Behaviour Research And Therapy*, 49(3), 194-201.
 doi:10.1016/j.brat.2011.01.002
- Lang, C. M., & Sharma-Patel, K. (2011). The relation between childhood maltreatment and selfinjury: A review of the literature on conceptualization and intervention. *Trauma*, *Violence*, & *Abuse*, 12(1), 23-37. doi:10.1177/1524838010386975
- Lanier, P., Jonson-Reid, M., Stahlschmidt, M., Drake, B., & Constantino, J. (2010). Child maltreatment and pediatric health outcomes: A longitudinal study of low-income children. *Journal Of Pediatric Psychology*, 35(5), 511-522. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsp086
- Lansford, J. E., Malone, P. S., Stevens, K. I., Dodge, K. A., Bates, J. E., & Pettit, G. S. (2006).
 Developmental trajectories of externalizing and internalizing behaviors: Factors underlying resilience in physically abused children. *Development And Psychopathology*, *18*(1), 35-55. doi:10.1017/S0954579406060032



- Larson, A., Zuel, T., & Swanson, M. (2011). Are attendance gains sustained? A follow-up on the educational and child welfare outcomes of students with child welfare involvement for educational neglect. *Children & Schools*, 33(1), 25-35. doi:10.1093/cs/33.1.25
- Lavi, T. T., Green, O. O., & Dekel, R. R. (2013). The contribution of personal and exposure characteristics to the adjustment of adolescents following war. *Journal Of Adolescence*, 36(1), 21-30. doi:10.1016/j.adolescence.2012.09.003
- Lazarus, R. & Folkman. S. (1984) Stress, Appraisal, and Coping. Springer. New York, NY.
- Lee, C., Cronley, C., White, H., Mun, E., Stouthamer-Loeber, M., & Loeber, R. (2012). Racial differences in the consequences of childhood maltreatment for adolescent and young adult depression, heavy drinking, and violence. *Journal Of Adolescent Health*, 50(5), 443-449. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2011.09.014
- Leech, T. J., & Littlefield, M. (2011). Social support and resilience in the aftermath of sexual assault: Suggestions across life course, gender, and racial groups. In T. Bryant-Davis (Ed.), *Surviving sexual violence: A guide to recovery and empowerment* (pp. 296-317).
 Lanham, MD US: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Leeson, F. J., & Nixon, R. V. (2011). The role of children's appraisals on adjustment following psychological maltreatment: A pilot study. *Journal Of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 39(5), 759-771. doi:10.1007/s10802-011-9507-5
- Leipold, B., & Greve, W. (2009). Resilience: A conceptual bridge between coping and development. *European Psychologist*, *14*(1), 40-50. doi:10.1027/1016-9040.14.1.40
- Lemos-Miller, A., & Kearney, C. A. (2006). Depression and Ethnicity as Intermediary Variables Among Dissociation, Trauma-Related Cognitions, and PTSD Symptomatology in Youth. *Journal Of Nervous And Mental Disease*, 194(8), 584-590.

doi:10.1097/01.nmd.0000230407.12687.ba



- Leontopoulou, S. (2013). A comparative study of resilience in Greece and Cyprus: The effects of negative life events, self-efficacy, and social support on mental health. In A. Efklides, D. Moraitou (Eds.), *A positive psychology perspective on quality of life* (pp. 273-294). New York, NY US: Springer Science + Business Media.
- Levak, R. W., Siegel, L., Nichols, D. S., & Stolberg, R. A. (2011). *Therapeutic feedback with the MMPI-2: A positive psychology approach*. New York, NY, US: Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.
- Li, F., & Godinet, M. T. (2014). The impact of repeated maltreatment on behavioral trajectories from early childhood to early adolescence. *Children And Youth Services Review*, 3622-29. doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2013.10.014
- Li, S., Nussbaum, K. M., & Richards, M. H. (2007). Risk and protective factors for urban African American youth. *American Journal Of Community Psychology*, 39(1-2), 21-35. doi:10.1007/s10464-007-9088-1
- Liao, M., Yang, F., Zhang, Y., He, Z., Song, M., Jiang, T., & ... Li, L. (2013). Childhood maltreatment is associated with larger left thalamic gray matter volume in adolescents with generalized anxiety disorder. *Plos ONE*, 8(8), doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0071898
- Limberg, A., Barnow, S., Freyberger, H. J., & Hamm, A. O. (2011). Emotional vulnerability in borderline personality disorder is cue specific and modulated by traumatization.
 Biological Psychiatry, 69(6), 574-582. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.10.024
- Linning, L. M., & Kearney, C. A. (2004). Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder in Maltreated Youth:
 A Study of Diagnostic Comorbidity and Child Factors. *Journal Of Interpersonal Violence*, *19*(10), 1087-1101. doi:10.1177/0886260504269097
- Linehan, M. (1993). *Cognitive-behavioral treatment of borderline personality disorder*. New York, NY: Guilford Press.



- Lipschitz-Elhawi, R., & Itzhaky, H. (2005). Social Support, Mastery, Self-Esteem and Individual Adjustment Among At-Risk Youth. *Child & Youth Care Forum*, *34*(5), 329-346. doi:10.1007/s10566-005-5906-5
- Lipschitz, D. S., Winegar, R. K., Hartnick, E., Foote, B., & Southwick, S. M. (1999).
 Posttraumatic stress disorder in hospitalized adolescents: Psychiatric comorbidity and clinical correlates. *Journal Of The American Academy Of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 38(4), 385-392. doi:10.1097/00004583-199904000-00010
- Lisonbee, J. A., Pendry, P., Mize, J., & Gwynn, E. (2010). Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal and sympathetic nervous system activity and children's behavioral regulation. *Mind, Brain, And Education*, 4(4), 171-181. doi:10.1111/j.1751-228X.2010.01096.x
- Lowenthal, B. (1998). The effects of early childhood abuse and the development of resiliency. *Early Child Development And Care*, *14*243-52. doi:10.1080/0300443981420105
- Luszczynska, A., & Cieslak, R. (2005). Protective, promotive, and buffering effects of perceived social support in managerial stress: The moderating role of personality. *Anxiety, Stress & Coping: An International Journal*, 18(3), 227-244. doi:10.1080/10615800500125587
- Luthar, S. S. (2006). Resilience in development: A synthesis of research across five decades. InD. C. Cicchetti (Ed.), Developmental psychopathology: risk, disorder and adaptation (2nd ed., Vol. 3, pp. 739–795). Hoboken: John Wiley and Sons
- Luthar, S. S., Cicchetti, D., & Becker, B. (2000). The construct of resilience: A critical evaluation and guidelines for future work. *Child Development*, 71(3), 543-562. doi:10.1111/1467-8624.00164
- Luthar, S. S., Sawyer, J. A., & Brown, P. J. (2006). Conceptual issues in studies of resilience: Past, present, and future research. *Annals of the New York Academy* of Sciences, 1094, 105–115. doi: 10.1196/annals.1376.009



www.manaraa.com

- Lyne, J., Renwick, L., Grant, T., Kinsella, A., McCarthy, P., Malone, K., & ... Clarke, M. (2013).
 Scale for the Assessment of Negative Symptoms structure in first episode psychosis.
 Psychiatry Research, 210(3), 1191-1197. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2013.09.008
- Macdonald, A., Danielson, C., Resnick, H. S., Saunders, B. E., & Kilpatrick, D. G. (2010).
 PTSD and comorbid disorders in a representative sample of adolescents: The risk associated with multiple exposures to potentially traumatic events. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *34*(10), 773-783. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2010.03.006
- MacMaster, F. P., Leslie, R., Rosenberg, D. R., & Kusumakar, V. (2008). Pituitary gland volume in adolescent and young adult bipolar and unipolar depression. *Bipolar Disorders*, 10(1), 101-104. doi:10.1111/j.1399-5618.2008.00476.x
- MacMillan, H. L. (2010). Commentary: Child maltreatment and physical health: A call to action. *Journal Of Pediatric Psychology*, *35*(5), 533-535. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsq017
- MacMillan, H. L., Tanaka, M., Duku, E., Vaillancourt, T., & Boyle, M. H. (2013). Child physical and sexual abuse in a community sample of young adults: Results from the Ontario Child Health Study. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *37*(1), 14-21. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2012.06.005
- Maercker, A., Beauducel, A., & Schützwohl, M. (2000). Trauma severity and initial reactions as precipitating factors for posttraumatic stress symptoms and chronic dissociation in former political prisoners. *Journal Of Traumatic Stress*, *13*(4), 651-660.
 doi:10.1023/A:1007862217298
- Malindi, M. J., & Theron, L. C. (2010). The hidden resilience of street youth. *South African Journal Of Psychology*, 40(3), 318-326. doi:10.1177/008124631004000310



- Margolin, G., & Vickerman, K. A. (2011). Posttraumatic stress in children and adolescents exposed to family violence: I. Overview and issues. *Couple And Family Psychology: Research And Practice*, 1(S), 63-73. doi:10.1037/2160-4096.1.S.63
- Maria, P., Gooding, P., Taylor, P., & Tarrier, N. (2012). Negative self-appraisals and suicidal behavior among trauma victims experiencing PTSD symptoms: The mediating role of defeat and entrapment. *Depression And Anxiety*, 29(3), 187-194. doi:10.1002/da.21917
- Marra, T. (2011). Tapping into a client's emotional resilience through the use of dialectical behavior therapy. In M. J. Celinski, K. M. Gow, M. J. Celinski, K. M. Gow (Eds.), *Continuity versus creative response to challenge: The primacy of resilience and resourcefulness in life and therapy* (pp. 431-450). Hauppauge, NY, US: Nova Science Publishers.
- Martínez-Taboas, A., Canino, G., Wang, M., García, P., & Bravo, M. (2006). Prevalence and
 Victimization Correlates of Pathological Dissociation in a Community Sample of Youth.
 Journal Of Traumatic Stress, 19(4), 439-448. doi:10.1002/jts.20144
- Masten, A. S. (2001). Ordinary magic: Resilience processes in development. *American Psychologist*, *56*(3), 227-238. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.56.3.227
- Masten, A. S. (2014). Global perspectives on resilience in children and youth. *Child Development*, 85(1), 6-20. doi:10.1111/cdev.12205
- Masten, A. S., & Cicchetti, D. (2010). Developmental cascades. *Development And Psychopathology*, 22(3), 491-495. doi:10.1017/S0954579410000222
- Masten, A. S., Coatsworth, J., Neemann, J., Gest, S. D., Tellegen, A., & Garmezy, N. (1995).
 The structure and coherence of competence from childhood through adolescence. *Child Development*, 66(6), 1635-1659. doi:10.2307/1131901



- Masten, A. S., & Wright, M. (1998). Cumulative risk and protection models of child maltreatment. *Journal Of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma*, 2(1), 7-30. doi:10.1300/J146v02n01_02
- Masten, A.S., & Wright, M. (2010). Resilience over the lifespan: Developmental perspectives on resistance, recovery, and transformation. In J. W. Reich, A. J. Zautra, J. S. Hall (Eds.), *Handbook of adult resilience* (pp. 213-237). New York: Guilford
- Mattson, A. (2010). The role of neuropsychological evaluation and intervention in the management and treatment of children with a history of early maltreatment. In A.
 Becker-Weidman, D. Shell (Eds.), *Attachment parenting: Developing connections and healing children* (pp. 107-123). Lanham, MD US: Jason Aronson.
- McCaslin, S. E., de Zoysa, P., Butler, L. D., Hart, S., Marmar, C. R., Metzler, T. J., & Koopman,
 C. (2009). The relationship of posttraumatic growth to peritraumatic reactions and
 posttraumatic stress symptoms among Sri Lankan university students. *Journal Of Traumatic Stress*, 22(4), 334-339. doi:10.1002/jts.20426
- McCart, M. R., Zajac, K., Danielson, C., Strachan, M., Ruggiero, K. J., Smith, D. W., & ...
 Kilpatrick, D. G. (2011). Interpersonal victimization, posttraumatic stress disorder, and change in adolescent substance use prevalence over a ten-year period. *Journal Of Clinical Child And Adolescent Psychology*, 40(1), 136-143.
 doi:10.1080/15374416.2011.533411

McDermott, B., Berry, H., & Cobham, V. (2012). Social connectedness: A potential aetiological factor in the development of child post-traumatic stress disorder. *Australian And New Zealand Journal Of Psychiatry*, 46(2), 109-117. doi:10.1177/0004867411433950



McDermott, B. M., Cobham, V. E., Berry, H., & Stallman, H. M. (2010). Vulnerability factors for disaster-induced child post-traumatic stress disorder: The case for low family resilience and previous mental illness. *Australian And New Zealand Journal Of Psychiatry*, 44(4), 384-389. doi:10.3109/00048670903489916

McGloin, J., & Widom, C. (2001). Resilience among abused and neglected children grown up.
 Development And Psychopathology, *13*(4), 1021-1038.
 doi:10.1017/S095457940100414X

- McGruder-Johnson, A. K., Davidson, E. S., Gleaves, D. H., Stock, W., & Finch, J. F. (2000).
 Interpersonal violence and posttraumatic symptomatology: The effects of ethnicity, gender, and exposure to violent events. *Journal Of Interpersonal Violence*, *15*(2), 205-221. doi:10.1177/088626000015002006
- McKeever, V. M., & Huff, M. E. (2003). A diathesis-stress model of posttraumatic stress disorder: Ecological, biological, and residual stress pathways. *Review Of General Psychology*, 7(3), 237-250. doi:10.1037/1089-2680.7.3.237
- McLaren, S., Gomez, R., Bailey, M., & Van Der Horst, R. K. (2007). The Association of Depression and Sense of Belonging with Suicidal Ideation Among Older Adults: Applicability of resiliency models. *Suicide And Life-Threatening Behavior*, *37*(1), 89-102. doi:10.1521/suli.2007.37.1.89
- McLaughlin, K. A., Koenen, K. C., Hill, E. D., Petukhova, M., Sampson, N. A., Zaslavsky, A.
 M., & Kessler, R. C. (2013). Trauma exposure and posttraumatic stress disorder in a national sample of adolescents. *Journal Of The American Academy Of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 52(8), 815-830. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2013.05.011



- McLean, C. P., Rosenbach, S. B., Capaldi, S., & Foa, E. B. (2013). Social and academic functioning in adolescents with child sexual abuse-related PTSD. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 37(9), 675-678. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.03.010
- McMahon, S. D., Coker, C., & Parnes, A. L. (2013). Environmental stressors, social support, and internalizing symptoms among African American youth. *Journal Of Community Psychology*, 41(5), 615-630. doi:10.1002/jcop.21560
- McWhirter, P. T. (2008). Therapeutic interventions for children who have witnessed domestic violence. In G. R. Walz, J. C. Bleuer, R. K. Yep (Eds.), *Compelling counseling interventions: Celebrating VISTAS' fifth anniversary* (pp. 31-38). Alexandria, VA Ann Arbor, MI US: American Counseling Association.
- Mehta, D., Klengel, T., Conneely, K. N., Smith, A. K., Altmann, A., Pace, T. W., & ... Binder, E.
 B. (2013). Childhood maltreatment is associated with distinct genomic and epigenetic profiles in posttraumatic stress disorder. *PNAS Proceedings Of The National Academy Of Sciences Of The United States Of America*, *110*(20), 8302-8307.
- Meiser-Stedman, R. (2002). Towards a Cognitive-Behavioral Model of PTSD in Children and Adolescents. *Clinical Child And Family Psychology Review*, 5(4), 217-232. doi:10.1023/A:1020982122107
- Mennen, F. E., Kim, K., Sang, J., & Trickett, P. K. (2010). Child neglect: Definition and identification of youth's experiences in official reports of maltreatment. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 34(9), 647-658. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2010.02.007
- Merikangas, K., He, J., Burstein, M., Swanson, S. A., Avenevoli, S., Cui, L., & ... Swendsen, J. (2010). Lifetime prevalence of mental disorders in U.S. adolescents: Results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication-Adolescent Supplement (NCS-A). *Journal Of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 49(10), 980-989.



- Merrick, M. T., Butt, S. M., Jent, J. F., Cano, N. M., Lambert, W. F., Chapman, A. V., & ... Sanders, L. M. (2010). No follow-up after positive newborn screening: Medical neglect?. *Child Maltreatment*, 15(4), 315-323. doi:10.1177/1077559510384983
- Mersky, J. P., & Topitzes, J. (2010). Comparing early adult outcomes of maltreated and nonmaltreated children: A prospective longitudinal investigation. *Children And Youth Services Review*, 32(8), 1086-1096. doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2009.10.018
- Meston, C. M., Lorenz, T. A., & Stephenson, K. R. (2013). Effects of expressive writing on sexual dysfunction, depression, and PTSD in women with a history of childhood sexual abuse: Results from a randomized clinical trial. *Journal Of Sexual Medicine*, 10(9), 2177-2189. doi:10.1111/jsm.12247
- Middleton, W. (2008). A review of Childhood maltreatment. *Journal Of Trauma & Dissociation*, 9(4), 585-588. doi:10.1080/15299730802226100
- Mills, R., Scott, J., Alati, R., O'Callaghan, M., Najman, J. M., & Strathearn, L. (2013). Child maltreatment and adolescent mental health problems in a large birth cohort. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 37(5), 292-302. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2012.11.008
- Milne, L., & Collin-Vézina, D. (2014). Disclosure of sexual abuse among youth in residential treatment care: A multiple informant comparison. *Journal Of Child Sexual Abuse: Research, Treatment, & Program Innovations For Victims, Survivors, & Offenders,* 23(4), 398-417. doi:10.1080/10538712.2014.896841
- Min, M. O., Minnes, S., Kim, H., & Singer, L. T. (2013). Pathways linking childhood maltreatment and adult physical health. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *37*(6), 361-373. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2012.09.008


- Mikami, A., & Hinshaw, S. P. (2006). Resilient Adolescent Adjustment Among Girls: Buffers of Childhood Peer Rejection and Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder. *Journal Of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 34(6), 825-839. doi:10.1007/s10802-006-9062-7
- Miller, M. W. (2003). Personality and the etiology and expression of PTSD: A three-factor model perspective. *Clinical Psychology: Science And Practice*, 10(4), 373-393. doi:10.1093/clipsy/bpg040
- Miller, A. B., & Esposito-Smythers, C. (2013). How do cognitive distortions and substancerelated problems affect the relationship between child maltreatment and adolescent suicidal ideation?. *Psychology Of Violence*, 3(4), 340-353. doi:10.1037/a0031355
- Milot, T., Plamondon, A., Éthier, L. S., Lemelin, J., St-Laurent, D., & Rousseau, M. (2013).
 Validity of CBCL-Derived PTSD and Dissociation scales: Further evidence in a sample of neglected children and adolescents. *Child Maltreatment*, *18*(2), 122-128.
 doi:10.1177/1077559513490246
- Mirkin, M., & Kamya, H. (2008). Working with immigrant and refugee families. In M.
 McGoldrick, K. V. Hardy (Eds.), *Re-visioning family therapy: Race, culture, and gender in clinical practice (2nd ed.)* (pp. 311-326). New York, NY US: Guilford Press.
- Mishra, S., Suar, D., & Paton, D. (2011). Self-esteem and sense of mastery influencing disaster preparedness behaviour. *Australasian Journal Of Disaster And Trauma Studies*, 2011(1), 1-11.
- Moore, E., Gaskin, C., & Indig, D. (2013). Childhood maltreatment and post-traumatic stress disorder among incarcerated young offenders. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.07.012



Morano, C. (2010). Resilience and coping with trauma: Does gender make a difference?. *Journal Of Human Behavior In The Social Environment*, 20(4), 553-568. doi:10.1080/10911350903275358

- Morgan, J. K., Izard, C. E., & Hyde, C. (2014). Emotional reactivity and regulation in Head Start children: Links to ecologically valid behaviors and internalizing problems. *Social Development*, 23(2), 250-266. doi:10.1111/sode.12049
- Mrazek, P. J., & Mrazek, D. A. (1987). Resilience in child maltreatment victims: A conceptual exploration. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *11*(3), 357-366. doi:10.1016/0145-2134(87)90009-3
- Mueller-Pfeiffer, C., Moergeli, H., Schumacher, S., Martin-Soelch, C., Wirtz, G., Fuhrhans, C., & ... Rufer, M. (2013). Characteristics of child maltreatment and their relation to dissociation, posttraumatic stress symptoms, and depression in adult psychiatric patients. *Journal Of Nervous And Mental Disease*, 201(6), 471-477.
- Mueser, K. T., & Taub, J. (2008). Trauma and PTSD among adolescents with severe emotional disorders involved in multiple service systems. *Psychiatric Services*, 59(6), 627-634. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.59.6.627
- Murphy, N. (2011). Maltreatment of children with disabilities: The breaking point. *Journal Of Child Neurology*, *26*(8), 1054-1056. doi:10.1177/0883073811413278

Murray, L. K., Nguyen, A., & Cohen, J. A. (2014). Child sexual abuse. *Child And Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics Of North America*, 23(2), 321-337. doi:10.1016/j.chc.2014.01.003

Nader, K. (2007). Culture and the assessment of trauma in youth. In J. P. Wilson, C. Tang (Eds.)
, *Cross-cultural assessment of psychological trauma and PTSD* (pp. 169-196). New
York, NY US: Springer Science + Business Media. doi:10.1007/978-0-387-70990-1_8



- Nanni, V., Uher, R., & Danese, A. (2012). Childhood maltreatment predicts unfavorable course of illness and treatment outcome in depression: A meta-analysis. *The American Journal Of Psychiatry*, *169*(2), 141-151. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2011.11020335
- Narayanan, A., & Betts, L. R. (2014). Bullying behaviors and victimization experiences among adolescent students: The role of resilience. *The Journal Of Genetic Psychology: Research And Theory On Human Development*, 175(2), 134-146. doi:10.1080/00221325.2013.834290
- Nasvytienė, D., Lazdauskas, T., & Leonavičienė, T. (2012). Child's resilience in face of maltreatment: A meta-analysis of empirical studies. *Psichologija*, 467-26.
- Nelson, E. C., Agrawal, A. A., Pergadia, M. L., Lynskey, M. T., Todorov, A. A., Wang, J. C., & ... Madden, P. F. (2009). Association of childhood trauma exposure and GABRA2 polymorphisms with risk of posttraumatic stress disorder in adults. *Molecular Psychiatry*, *14*(3), 234-235. doi:10.1038/mp.2008.81
- Nemeroff, C. B., Bremner, J., Foa, E. B., Mayberg, H. S., North, C. S., & Stein, M. B. (2006). Posttraumatic stress disorder: A state-of-the-science review. *Journal Of Psychiatric Research*, 40(1), 1-21. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2005.07.005
- Ng, R., Ang, R. P., & Ho, M. (2012). Coping with anxiety, depression, anger and aggression: The mediational role of resilience in adolescents. *Child & Youth Care Forum*, *41*(6), 529-546. doi:10.1007/s10566-012-9182-x
- Nickerson, A. B., & Fishman, C. E. (2013). Promoting mental health and resilience through strength-based assessment in US schools. *Educational And Child Psychology*, 30(4), 7-17.
- Nijenhuis, E., van der Hart, O., & Steele, K. (2010). Trauma-related structural dissociation of the personality. *Activitas Nervosa Superior*, 52(1), 1-23.



- Nikulina, V., & Widom, C. (2013). Child maltreatment and executive functioning in middle adulthood: A prospective examination. *Neuropsychology*, 27(4), 417-427. doi:10.1037/a0032811
- Noor, N. M., & Alwi, A. (2013). Stressors and well-being in low socio-economic status Malaysian adolescents: The role of resilience resources. *Asian Journal Of Social Psychology*, 16(4), 292-306.
- Norman, S. B., Myers, U. S., Wilkins, K. C., Goldsmith, A. A., Hristova, V., Huang, Z., & ... Robinson, S. K. (2012). Review of biological mechanisms and pharmacological treatments of comorbid PTSD and substance use disorder. *Neuropharmacology*, 62(2), 542-551. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2011.04.032
- Nugent, N. R., Saunders, B. E., Williams, L. M., Hanson, R., Smith, D. W., & Fitzgerald, M. M.
 (2009). Posttraumatic stress symptom trajectories in children living in families reported for family violence. *Journal Of Traumatic Stress*, 22(5), 460-466. doi:10.1002/jts.20440
- Obradović, J., van Dulmen, M., Yates, T., Carlson, E., & Egeland, B. (2006). Developmental assessment of competence from early childhood to middle adolescence. *Journal Of Adolescence*, *29*(6), 857-889.
- O'Donnell, M., Nassar, N., Leonard, H., Mathews, R., Patterson, Y., & Stanley, F. (2010).
 Monitoring child abuse and neglect at a population level: Patterns of hospital admissions for maltreatment and assault. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *34*(11), 823-832.
 doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2010.04.003
- O'Donnell, D. A., Schwab-Stone, M. E., & Muyeed, A. Z. (2002). Multidimensional resilience in urban children exposed to community violence. *Child Development*, *73*(4), 1265-1282. doi:10.1111/1467-8624.00471



- Orbke, S., & Smith, H. L. (2013). A developmental framework for enhancing resiliency in adult survivors of childhood abuse. *International Journal For The Advancement Of Counselling*, 35(1), 46-56. doi:10.1007/s10447-012-9164-6
- Oshri, A., Tubman, J. G., & Jaccard, J. (2011). Psychiatric symptom typology in a sample of youth receiving substance abuse treatment services: Associations with self-reported child maltreatment and sexual risk behaviors. *AIDS And Behavior*, 15(8), 1844-1856. doi:10.1007/s10461-011-9890-5
- Osofsky, J. D., Cohen, G., & Drell, M. (1995). The effects of trauma on young children: A case of 2-year-old twins. *The International Journal Of Psychoanalysis*, *76*(3), 595-607.
- Ozonoff, S., Pennington, B. F., & Solomon, M. (2006). Neuropsychological perspectives on developmental psychopathology. In D. Cicchetti, D. J. Cohen (Eds.), *Developmental psychopathology, Vol 2: Developmental neuroscience (2nd ed.)* (pp. 332-380). Hoboken, NJ US: John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Paivio, S. C., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2010). Trauma and its effects. In , *Emotion-focused therapy* for complex trauma: An integrative approach (pp. 13-32). Washington, DC US: American Psychological Association. doi:10.1037/12077-001
- Pangallo, A., Zibarras, L., Lewis, R., & Flaxman, P. (2015). Resilience through the lens of interactionism: A systematic review. *Psychological Assessment*, 27(1), 1-20. doi:10.1037/pas0000024
- Pecora, P. J., Jensen, P. S., Romanelli, L., Jackson, L. J., & Ortiz, A. (2009). Mental health services for children placed in foster care: An overview of current challenges. *Child Welfare: Journal Of Policy, Practice, And Program*, 88(1), 5-26.



- Pecora, P. J., White, C., Jackson, L. J., & Wiggins, T. (2009). Mental health of current and former recipients of foster care: A review of recent studies in the USA. *Child & Family Social Work*, 14(2), 132-146. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2206.2009.00618.x
- Perea, C. S., Paternina, A. C., Gomez, Y. Y., & Lattig, M. C. (2012). Negative affectivity moderated by BDNF and stress response. *Journal Of Affective Disorders*, *136*(3), 767-774. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2011.09.04
- Pérez-Fuentes, G., Olfson, M., Villegas, L., Morcillo, C., Wang, S., & Blanco, C. (2012).
 Prevalence and correlates of child sexual abuse: A national study. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, doi:10.1016/j.comppsych.2012.05.010
- Perkins, D. F., & Jones, K. R. (2004). Risk behaviors and resiliency within physically abused adolescents. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 28(5), 547-563. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2003.12.001
- Perkins, D. F., Luster, T., & Jank, W. (2002). Protective factors, physical abuse, and purging from community-wide surveys of female adolescents. *Journal Of Adolescent Research*, *17*(4), 377-400. doi:10.1177/07458402017004004
- Perzow, S. D., Petrenko, C. M., Garrido, E. F., Combs, M. D., Culhane, S. E., & Taussig, H. N. (2013). Dissociative symptoms and academic functioning in maltreated children: A preliminary study. *Journal Of Trauma & Dissociation*, *14*(3), 302-311. doi:10.1080/15299732.2012.736928
- Peters, L., Issakidis, C., Slade, T., & Andrews, G. (2006). Gender differences in the prevalence of DSM-IV and ICD-10 PTSD. *Psychological Medicine*, *36*(1), 81-89. doi:10.1017/S003329170500591X
- Phung, S., & Bryant, R. A. (2013). The influence of cognitive and emotional suppression on overgeneral autobiographical memory retrieval. *Consciousness And Cognition: An International Journal*, 22(3), 965-974. doi:10.1016/j.concog.2013.06.008



- Piko, B. F., Luszczynska, A., & Fitzpatrick, K. M. (2013). Social inequalities in adolescent depression: The role of parental social support and optimism. *International Journal Of Social Psychiatry*, 59(5), 474-481.
- Piers, E. (2002). *Piers-Harris children's self-concept scale* (2nd ed.). Los Angeles: Western Psychological Services.
- Pietrzak, R. H., Feder, A. A., Singh, R. R., Schechter, C. B., Bromet, E. J., Katz, C. L., & ... Southwick, S. M. (2014). Trajectories of PTSD risk and resilience in World Trade Center responders: An 8-year prospective cohort study. *Psychological Medicine*, 44(1), 205-219.
- Pinto, R. J., & Maia, Â. C. (2013). Psychopathology, physical complaints and health risk behaviors among youth who were victims of childhood maltreatment: A comparison between home and institutional interventions. *Children And Youth Services Review*, 35(4), 603-610. doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2013.01.008
- Poulou, M. (2007). Social resilience within a social and emotional learning framework: The perceptions of teachers in Greece. *Emotional & Behavioural Difficulties*, 12(2), 91-104. doi:10.1080/13632750701315482
- Powers, A., Ressler, K. J., & Bradley, R. G. (2009). The protective role of friendship on the effects of childhood abuse and depression. *Depression And Anxiety*, 26(1), 46-53. doi:10.1002/da.20534
- Pratchett, L. C., Pelcovitz, M. R., & Yehuda, R. (2010). Trauma and violence: Are women the weaker sex?. *Psychiatric Clinics Of North America*, 33(2), 465-474. doi:10.1016/j.psc.2010.01.010



- Price, M., Higa-McMillan, C., Kim, S., & Frueh, B. (2013). Trauma experience in children and adolescents: An assessment of the effects of trauma type and role of interpersonal proximity. *Journal Of Anxiety Disorders*, 27(7), 652-660. doi:10.1016/j.janxdis.2013.07.009
- Prince-Embury, S. (2007). Resiliency Scales for Children and Adolescents: Profiles of
 - personal strengths. San Antonio, TX: Harcourt Assessments.
- Pruessner, M., Iyer, S. N., Faridi, K., Joober, R., & Malla, A. K. (2011). Stress and protective factors in individuals at ultra-high risk for psychosis, first episode psychosis and healthy controls. *Schizophrenia Research*, *129*(1), 29-35. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2011.03.022
- Pulkkinen, L., Kokkonen, M., & Mäkiaho, A. (1998). Positive affectivity, self-mastery, and a sense of failure as predictors of self-assessed health. *European Psychologist*, 3(2), 133-142. doi:10.1027/1016-9040.3.2.113
- Punamäki, R., Qouta, S., Miller, T., & El-Sarraj, E. (2011). Who are the resilient children in conditions of military violence? Family- and child-related factors in a Palestinian community sample. *Peace And Conflict: Journal Of Peace Psychology*, *17*(4), 389-416. doi:10.1080/10781919.2011.610722
- Putman, S. E. (2009). The monsters in my head: Posttraumatic stress disorder and the child survivor of sexual abuse. *Journal Of Counseling & Development*, 87(1), 80-89. doi:10.1002/j.1556-6678.2009.tb00552.x
- Putnam, F. W. (2003). Ten-year research update review: Child sexual abuse. Journal Of The American Academy Of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 42(3), 269-278. doi:10.1097/00004583-200303000-00006



- Putnam, F. W., Carlson, E. B., Ross, C. A., Anderson, G., Clark, P., Torem, M., & ... Braun, B.
 G. (1996). Patterns of dissociation in clinical and nonclinical samples. *Journal Of Nervous And Mental Disease*, *184*(11), 673-679. doi:10.1097/00005053-199611000-00004
- Raabe, F., & Spengler, D. (2013). Epigenetic risk factors in PTSD and depression. Frontiers In Psychiatry, 4doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2013.00080
- Radbill, S. X. (1987). Children in a world of violence: A history of child abuse. In R. E. Helfer,R. S. Kempe (Eds.), *The battered child (4th rev. & exp. ed.)* (pp. 3-22). Chicago, IL US: University of Chicago Press.
- Rady, A., Elsheshai, A., Mokhtar, M., el Wafa, H., & Elkholy, O. (2011). The Al allele of the DRD2 TaqA1/A2 polymorphism as risk factor for PTSD. *The European Journal Of Psychiatry*, 25(3), 144-149. doi:10.4321/S0213-61632011000300004
- Ramsay, C. E., Flanagan, P., Gantt, S., Broussard, B., & Compton, M. T. (2011). Clinical correlates of maltreatment and traumatic experiences in childhood and adolescence among predominantly African American, socially disadvantaged, hospitalized, first-episode psychosis patients. *Psychiatry Research*, *188*(3), 343-349. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2011.05.019
- Randal, P., Stewart, M. W., Proverb, D., Lampshire, D., Symes, J., & Hamer, H. (2009). 'The Re-covery Model'—An integrative developmental stress-vulnerability-strengths approach to mental health. *Psychosis: Psychological, Social And Integrative Approaches*, 1(2), 122-133. doi:10.1080/17522430902948167
- Ravindran, L. N., & Stein, M. B. (2009). Pharmacotherapy of PTSD: Premises, principles, and priorities. *Brain Research*, 129324-39. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2009.03.037



- Rawal, A., & Rice, F. (2012). Examining overgeneral autobiographical memory as a risk factor for adolescent depression. *Journal Of The American Academy Of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 51(5), 518-527. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2012.02.025
- Rawana, J. S., Flett, G. L., McPhie, M. L., Nguyen, H. T., & Norwood, S. J. (2014).
 Developmental trends in emotion regulation: A systematic review with implications for community mental health. *Canadian Journal Of Community Mental Health*, 33(1), 31-44. doi:10.7870/cjcmh-2014-004
- Reebye, P., Moretti, M. M., Wiebe, V. J., & Lessard, J. C. (2000). Symptoms of posttraumatic stress disorder in adolescents with conduct disorder: Sex differences and onset patterns. *The Canadian Journal Of Psychiatry / La Revue Canadienne De Psychiatrie*, 45(8), 746-751.
- Reid, J. A., & Sullivan, C. J. (2009). A model of vulnerability for adult sexual victimization: The impact of attachment, child maltreatment, and scarred sexuality. *Violence And Victims*, 24(4), 485-501. doi:10.1891/0886-6708.24.4.485
- Reivich, K., Gillham, J. E., Chaplin, T. M., & Seligman, M. P. (2013). From helplessness to optimism: The role of resilience in treating and preventing depression in youth. In S. Goldstein, R. B. Brooks (Eds.) , *Handbook of resilience in children (2nd ed.)* (pp. 201-214). New York, NY, US: Springer Science + Business Media. doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-3661-4_12
- Rew, L., Thomas, N., Horner, S. D., Resnick, M. D., & Beuhring, T. (2001). Correlates of recent suicide attempts in a triethnic group of adolescents. *Journal Of Nursing Scholarship*, 33(4), 361-367. doi:10.1111/j.1547-5069.2001.00361.x
- Reynolds, C. R., & Richmond, B. O. (1985). Revised Children's Manifest Anxiety Scale manual. Los Angeles, CA: Western Psychological Services.



- Reyome, N. (2010). The effect of childhood emotional maltreatment on the emerging attachment system and later intimate relationships. *Journal Of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma*, 19(1), 1-4. doi:10.1080/10926770903486007
- Richardson, G. E. (2002). The metatheory of resilience and resiliency. *Journal Of Clinical Psychology*, 58(3), 307-321. doi:10.1002/jclp.10020
- Roberts, A. L., Rosario, M., Corliss, H. L., Koenen, K. C., & Austin, S. (2012). Elevated risk of posttraumatic stress in sexual minority youth: Mediation by childhood abuse and gender nonconformity. *American Journal Of Public Health*, *102*(8), 1587-1593. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2011.300530
- Rocha-Rego, V., Pereira, M. G., Oliveira, L., Mendlowicz, M. V., Fiszman, A., Marques-Portella, C., & ... Volchan, E. (2012). Decreased premotor cortex volume in victims of urban violence with posttraumatic stress disorder. *Plos ONE*, 7(8), doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0042560
- Rogosch, F. A., Dackis, M. N., & Cicchetti, D. (2011). Child maltreatment and allostatic load:
 Consequences for physical and mental health in children from low-income families.
 Development And Psychopathology, 23(4), 1107-1124. doi:10.1017/S0954579411000587
- Rogosch, F. A., Oshri, A., & Cicchetti, D. (2010). From child maltreatment to adolescent cannabis abuse and dependence: A developmental cascade model. *Development And Psychopathology*, 22(4), 883-897. doi:10.1017/S0954579410000520
- Rosenkranz, S. E., Muller, R. T., & Henderson, J. L. (2012). Psychological maltreatment in relation to substance use problem severity among youth. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *36*(5), 438-448. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2012.01.005



- Rosenthal, S., Feiring, C., & Taska, L. (2003). Emotional support and adjustment over a year's time following sexual abuse discovery. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 27(6), 641-661. doi:10.1016/S0145-2134(03)00104-2
- Rossman, B., & Ho, J. (2000). Posttraumatic response and children exposed to parental violence. *Journal Of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma, 3*(1), 85-106. doi:10.1300/J146v03n01_07
- Runyon, M. K., Deblinger, E., & Steer, R. A. (2013). Ptsd symptom cluster profiles of youth who have experienced sexual or physical abuse. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.08.015
- Rutten, B. F., Hammels, C. C., Geschwind, N. N., Menne-Lothmann, C. C., Pishva, E. E., Schruers, K. K., & ... Wichers, M. M. (2013). Resilience in mental health: Linking psychological and neurobiological perspectives. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *128*(1), 3-20. doi:10.1111/acps.12095
- Rutter, M. (1987). Psychosocial resilience and protective mechanisms. *American Journal Of Orthopsychiatry*, *57*(3), 316-331. doi:10.1111/j.1939-0025.1987.tb03541.x
- Saigh, P. A. (1998). *Children's PTSD Inventory (DSM-IV Version)*. Privately printed. New York, NY.
- Saigh, P. A., Yasik, A. E., Oberfield, R. A., Green, B. L., Halamandaris, P. V., Rubenstein, H., & ... McHugh, M. (2000). The children's PTSD Inventory: Development and reliability. *Journal Of Traumatic Stress*, 13(3), 369-380. doi:10.1023/A:1007750021626
- Saigh, P. A., Yasik, A. E., Oberfield, R., & Halamandaris, P. V. (2007). Self-reported anger among traumatized children and adolescents. *Journal Of Psychopathology And Behavioral Assessment*, 29(1), 29-37. doi:10.1007/s10862-006-9026-9



- Salazar, A. M., Keller, T. E., & Courtney, M. E. (2011). Understanding social support's role in the relationship between maltreatment and depression in youth with foster care experience. *Child Maltreatment*, 16(2), 102-113. doi:10.1177/1077559511402985
- Salazar, A. M., Keller, T. E., Gowen, L., & Courtney, M. E. (2013). Trauma exposure and PTSD among older adolescents in foster care. *Social Psychiatry And Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 48(4), 545-551. doi:10.1007/s00127-012-0563-0
- Salmon, K., & Bryant, R. A. (2002). Posttraumatic stress disorder in children: The influence of developmental factors. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 22(2), 163-188. doi:10.1016/S0272-7358(01)00086-1
- Sameroff, A. (2009). The transactional model of development: How children and contexts shape each other. Washington, DC, US: American Psychological Association. doi:10.1037/11877-000
- Samplin, E., Ikuta, T., Malhotra, A. K., Szeszko, P. R., & DeRosse, P. (2013). Sex differences in resilience to childhood maltreatment: Effects of trauma history on hippocampal volume, general cognition and subclinical psychosis in healthy adults. *Journal Of Psychiatric Research*, 47(9), 1174-1179. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2013.05.008
- Sanchez-Hucles, J., & Gamble, K. (2006). Trauma in the Lives of Girls and Women. In J.
 Worell, C. D. Goodheart (Eds.), *Handbook of girls' and women's psychological health: Gender and well-being across the lifespan* (pp. 103-112). New York, NY US: Oxford University Press.
- Sandberg, D. A., Matorin, A. I., & Lynn, S. (1999). Dissociation, posttraumatic symptomatology and sexual revictimization: A prospective examination of mediator and moderator effects. *Journal Of Traumatic Stress*, 12(1), 127-138. doi:10.1023/A:1024702501224



- Sanders, B., & Becker-Lausen, E. (1995). The measurement of psychological maltreatment:
 Early data on the Child Abuse and Trauma Scale. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *19*(3), 315-323. doi:10.1016/S0145-2134(94)00131-6
- Santa Ana, E. J., Saladin, M. E., Back, S. E., Waldrop, A. E., Spratt, E. G., McRae, A. L., & ... Brady, K. T. (2006). PTSD and the HPA axis: Differences in response to the cold pressor task among individuals with child vs. adult trauma. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *31*(4), 501-509. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2005.11.009
- Sapienza, J. K., & Masten, A. S. (2011). Understanding and promoting resilience in children and youth. *Current Opinion In Psychiatry*, 24(4), 267-273.
 doi:10.1097/YCO.0b013e32834776a8
- Sapolsky, R. M. (1996). Why stress is bad for your brain. *Science*, 273(5276), 749-750. doi:10.1126/science.273.5276.749
- Sarkar, M., & Fletcher, D. (2014). Ordinary magic, extraordinary performance: Psychological resilience and thriving in high achievers. *Sport, Exercise, And Performance Psychology*, 3(1), 46-60. doi:10.1037/spy0000003
- Sauter, J., & Franklin, C. (1998). Assessing post-traumatic stress disorder in children: Diagnostic and measurement strategies. *Research On Social Work Practice*, 8(3), 251-270. doi:10.1177/104973159800800301
- Sayfan, L., Mitchell, E. B., Goodman, G. S., Eisen, M. L., & Qin, J. (2008). Children's expressed emotions when disclosing maltreatment. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 32(11), 1026-1036. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2008.03.004



- Schachman, K., & Lindsey, L. (2013). A resilience perspective of postpartum depressive symptomatology in military wives. *Journal Of Obstetric, Gynecologic, & Neonatal Nursing: Clinical Scholarship For The Care Of Women, Childbearing Families, & Newborns, 42*(2), 157-167. doi:10.1111/1552-6909.12007
- Schafer, M. H., Morton, P. M., & Ferraro, K. F. (2013). Child maltreatment and adult health in a national sample: Heterogeneous relational contexts, divergent effects?. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.08.003
- Schalinski, I., Elbert, T., & Schauer, M. (2011). Female dissociative responding to extreme sexual violence in a chronic crisis setting: The case of Eastern Congo. *Journal Of Traumatic Stress*, 24(2), 235-238. doi:10.1002/jts.20631
- Schaubroeck, J. M., Riolli, L. T., Peng, A., & Spain, E. S. (2011). Resilience to traumatic exposure among soldiers deployed in combat. *Journal Of Occupational Health Psychology*, 16(1), 18-37. doi:10.1037/a0021006
- Schauer, M., & Elbert, T. (2010). Dissociation following traumatic stress: Etiology and treatment. Zeitschrift Für Psychologie/Journal Of Psychology, 218(2), 109-127. doi:10.1027/0044-3409/a00001
- Scheeringa, M. S., Peebles, C. D., Cook, C. A., & Zeanah, C. H. (2001). Toward establishing procedural, criterion, and discriminant validity for PTSD in early childhood. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 40 (1), 52-60. doi: 10.1097/00004583-200101000-00016
- Scheeringa, M. S., Zeanah, C. H., Drell, M. J., & Larrieu, J. A. (1995). Two approaches to the diagnosis of posttraumatic stress disorder in infancy and early childhood. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 34 (2), 191-200. doi:

10.1097/00004583-199502000-00014



- Scher, C. D., Forde, D. R., McQuaid, J. R., & Stein, M. B. (2004). Prevalence and demographic correlates of childhood maltreatment in an adult community sample. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 28(2), 167-180. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2003.09.012
- Schild, S., & Dalenberg, C. J. (2012). Psychoform and somatoform dissociation and PTSD in deaf adults. *Journal Of Trauma & Dissociation*, *13*(3), 361-376.
 doi:10.1080/15299732.2011.641711
- Schneeberger, A. R., Muenzenmaier, K. H., Battaglia, J., Castille, D., & Link, B. G. (2012).
 Childhood abuse, head injuries, and use of medical emergency services in people with severe mental illness. *Journal Of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma*, 21(5), 570-582.
 doi:10.1080/10926771.2012.678468
- Scott, K. M., Smith, D. R., & Ellis, P. M. (2010). Prospectively ascertained child maltreatment and its association with DSM-IV mental disorders in young adults. *Archives Of General Psychiatry*, 67(7), 712-719. doi:10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2010.71
- Seraphin, S. B., Teicher, M. H., Rabi, K., Sheu, Y., Andersen, S. L., Anderson, C. M., & ...
 Tomoda, A. (2010). Ontogenetic perspectives on the neurobiological basis of
 psychopathology following abuse and neglect. In C. M. Worthman, P. M. Plotsky, D. S.
 Schechter, C. A. Cummings (Eds.), *Formative experiences: The interaction of caregiving, culture, and developmental psychobiology* (pp. 308-330). New York, NY US:
 Cambridge University Press. doi:10.1017/CBO9780511711879.028
- Shalev, A. Y. (1997). Acute to chronic: Etiology and pathophysiology of PTSD—A biopsychosocial approach. In C. S. Fullerton, R. J. Ursano (Eds.), *Posttraumatic stress disorder: Acute and long-term responses to trauma and disaster* (pp. 209-240).
 Arlington, VA US: American Psychiatric Association.



- Shapero, B. G., Black, S. K., Liu, R. T., Klugman, J., Bender, R. E., Abramson, L. Y., & Alloy,
 L. B. (2014). Stressful life events and depression symptoms: The effect of childhood emotional abuse on stress reactivity. *Journal Of Clinical Psychology*, 70(3), 209-223. doi:10.1002/jclp.22011
- Shapiro, S. (2001). Enhancing self-belief with EMDR: Developing a sense of mastery in the early phase of treatment. *American Journal Of Psychotherapy*, *55*(4), 531-542.
- Sharma-Patel, K., Filton, B., Brown, E. J., ZIotnik, D., Campbell, C., & Yedlin, J. (2011). Pediatric posttraumatic stress disorder. In D. McKay, E. A. Storch (Eds.) , *Handbook of child and adolescent anxiety disorders* (pp. 303-321). New York, NY US: Springer Science + Business Media. doi:10.1007/978-1-4419-7784-7_21
- Shea, A., Walsh, C., MacMillan, H., & Steiner, M. (2005). Child maltreatment and HPA axis dysregulation: relationship to major depressive disorder and post traumatic stress disorder in females. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *30*(2), 162-178. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2004.07.001
- Shen, A. (2009). Long-term effects of interparental violence and child physical maltreatment experiences on PTSD and behavior problems: A national survey of Taiwanese college students. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 33(3), 148-160. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2008.07.006
- Shenk, C. E., & Fruzzetti, A. E. (2011). The impact of validating and invalidating responses on emotional reactivity. *Journal Of Social And Clinical Psychology*, *30*(2), 163-183. doi:10.1521/jscp.2011.30.2.163
- Sherrer, M. V. (2011). The role of cognitive appraisal in adaptation to traumatic stress in adults with serious mental illness: A critical review. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 12*(3), 151-167.



- Shi, Z., Bureau, J., Easterbrooks, M., Zhao, X., & Lyons-Ruth, K. (2012). Childhood maltreatment and prospectively observed quality of early care as predictors of antisocial personality disorder features. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, 33(1), 55-69. doi:10.1002/imhj.20295
- Shin, R., Daly, B., & Vera, E. (2007). The relationships of peer norms, ethnic identity, and peer support to school engagement in urban youth. *Professional School Counseling*, 10(4), 379-388.
- Shin, L. M., Wright, C. I., Cannistraro, P. A., Wedig, M. M., McMullin, K., Martis, B., & ...
 Rauch, S. L. (2005). A Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging Study of Amygdala and Medial Prefrontal Cortex Responses to Overtly Presented Fearful Faces in Posttraumatic Stress Disorder. *Archives Of General Psychiatry*, 62(3), 273-281. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.62.3.273
- Shpiegel, S., Simmel, C., & Huang, C. (2013). Emotional maltreatment reports in children: The influence of state statutes and co-occurring maltreatment. *Journal Of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma*, 22(6), 626-643. doi:10.1080/10926771.2013.803507
- Shrivastava, A., De Sousa, A., Shah, N., Campbell, R., & Berlemont, C. (2014). Resilience, risk, psychopathology and psychiatric hospitalisation. *Indian Journal Of Community Psychology*, 10(1), 1-6.
- Siebler, P. (2004). Simple and Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder: Strategies for Comprehensive Treatment in Clinical Practice. *Journal Of Family Studies*, 10(2), 288-289.
- Silva, R. R., Alpert, M., Munoz, D. M., Singh, S., Matzner, F., & Dummit, S. (2000). Stress and vulnerability to posttraumatic stress disorder in children and adolescents. *The American Journal Of Psychiatry*, 157(8), 1229-1235. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.157.8.1229



Skinner, E., Pitzer, J., & Steele, J. (2013). Coping as part of motivational resilience in school: A multidimensional measure of families, allocations, and profiles of academic coping. *Educational And Psychological Measurement*, 73(5), 803-835.

doi:10.1177/0013164413485241

- Skodol, A. E. (2010). The resilient personality. In J. W. Reich, A. J. Zautra, J. Hall (Eds.), *Handbook of adult resilience* (pp. 112-125). New York, NY US: Guilford Press.
- Skrove, M., Romundstad, P., & Indredavik, M. S. (2013). Resilience, lifestyle and symptoms of anxiety and depression in adolescence: The Young-HUNT study. *Social Psychiatry And Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 48(3), 407-416. doi:10.1007/s00127-012-0561-2
- Slep, A., & O'Leary, S. G. (2005). Parent and Partner Violence in Families With Young Children: Rates, Patterns, and Connections. *Journal Of Consulting And Clinical Psychology*, 73(3), 435-444. doi:10.1037/0022-006X.73.3.435
- Smith, C. (1996). The link between childhood maltreatment and teenage pregnancy. *Social Work Research*, 20(3), 131-141.
- Smith, C. A., Park, A., Ireland, T. O., Elwyn, L., & Thornberry, T. P. (2013). Long-term outcomes of young adults exposed to maltreatment: The role of educational experiences in promoting resilience to crime and violence in early adulthood. *Journal Of Interpersonal Violence*, 28(1), 121-156.
- Smith, C. A., & Thornberry, T. P. (1995). The relationship between childhood maltreatment and adolescent involvement in delinquency. Working Paper No. 17. *Criminology*, 33, 451-481.



- Smith-Osborne, A., Wilder, A., & Reep, E. (2013). A review of reviews examining neurological processes relevant to impact of parental PTSD on military children: Implications for supporting resilience. *Journal Of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma*, 22(5), 461-481. doi:10.1080/10926771.2013.785454
- Soffer, N., Gilboa-Schechtman, E., & Shahar, G. (2008). The relationship of childhood emotional abuse and neglect to depressive vulnerability and low self-efficacy. *International Journal Of Cognitive Therapy*, 1(2), 151-162. doi:10.1521/ijct.2008.1.2.151
- Solomon, E. P., & Heide, K. M. (1999). Type III trauma: Toward a more effective conceptualization of psychological trauma. *International Journal Of Offender Therapy And Comparative Criminology*, 43(2), 202-210. doi:10.1177/0306624X99432007
- Somasundaram, D., & Sivayokan, S. (2013). Rebuilding community resilience in a post-war context: Developing insight and recommendations—A qualitative study in Northern Sri Lanka. *International Journal Of Mental Health Systems*, 7doi:10.1186/1752-4458-7-3
- Sorsoli, L. (2007). Where the whole thing fell apart: Race, resilience, and the complexity of trauma. *Journal Of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma, 14*(1-2), 99-121. doi:10.1300/J146v14n01_06
- Spaccarelli, S., & Kim, S. (1995). Resilience criteria and factors associated with resilience in sexually abused girls. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 19(9), 1171-1182. doi:10.1016/0145-2134(95)00077-L
- Spinhoven, P., Penninx, B. W., van Hemert, A. M., de Rooij, M., & Elzinga, B. M. (2014). Comorbidity of PTSD in anxiety and depressive disorders: Prevalence and shared risk factors. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 38(8), 1320-1330. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2014.01.017



- Spitzer, C., Chevalier, C., Gillner, M., Freyberger, H. J., & Barnow, S. (2006). Complex posttraumatic stress disorder and child maltreatment in forensic inpatients. *Journal Of Forensic Psychiatry & Psychology*, 17(2), 204-216. doi:10.1080/14789940500497743
- Spivack, B. S. (2001). Biomechanics of abusive head trauma. *Journal Of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma*, 5(1), 55-78. doi:10.1300/J146v05n01_05

Spitzer, C., Chevalier, C., Gillner, M., Freyberger, H. J., & Barnow, S. (2006). Complex posttraumatic stress disorder and child maltreatment in forensic inpatients. *Journal Of Forensic Psychiatry & Psychology*, 17(2), 204-216. doi:10.1080/14789940500497743

Splaingard, M. (2001). Brain injury rehabilitation in children with non-accidental trauma. Journal Of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma, 5(1), 173-198. doi:10.1300/J146v05n01_10

Stallard, P. (2003). A retrospective analysis to explore the applicability of the Ehlers and Clark
(2000) cognitive model to explain PTSD in children. *Behavioural And Cognitive Psychotherapy*, *31*(3), 337-345. doi:10.1017/S1352465803003084

Stange, J. P., Hamlat, E. J., Hamilton, J. L., Abramson, L. Y., & Alloy, L. B. (2013).
Overgeneral autobiographical memory, emotional maltreatment, and depressive symptoms in adolescence: Evidence of a cognitive vulnerability–stress interaction. *Journal Of Adolescence*, 36(1), 201-208. doi:10.1016/j.adolescence.2012.11.001

- Steca, P., Alessandri, G., Vecchio, G., & Caprara, G. (2007). Being a successful adolescent at school and with peers. The discriminative power of a typological approach. *Emotional & Behavioural Difficulties*, 12(2), 147-162. doi:10.1080/13632750701315698
- Steel, C., Fowler, D., & Holmes, E. A. (2005). Trauma-Related Intrusions and Psychosis: An Information Processing Account. *Behavioural And Cognitive Psychotherapy*, 33(2), 139-152. doi:10.1017/S1352465804001924



- Steenkamp, M. M., Dickstein, B. D., Salters- Pedneault, K., Hofmann, S. G., & Litz, B. T. (2012). Trajectories of PTSD symptoms following sexual assault: Is resilience the modal outcome?. *Journal Of Traumatic Stress*, 25(4), 469-474. doi:10.1002/jts.21718
- Stein, D. J., Koenen, K. C., Friedman, M. J., Hill, E., McLaughlin, K. A., Petukhova, M., & ...
 Kessler, R. C. (2013). Dissociation in posttraumatic stress disorder: Evidence from the
 World Mental Health Surveys. *Biological Psychiatry*, 73(4), 302-312.
 doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.08.022
- Steinhardt, M., & Dolbier, C. (2008). Evaluation of a resilience intervention to enhance coping strategies and protective factors and decrease symptomatology. *Journal Of American College Health*, 56(4), 445-453. doi:10.3200/JACH.56.44.445-454
- Strelau, J., & Zawadzki, B. (2011). Fearfulness and anxiety in research on temperament: Temperamental traits are related to anxiety disorders. *Personality And Individual Differences*, 50(7), 907-915. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2010.07.008
- Sternberg, K. J., Knutson, J. F., Lamb, M. E., Baradaran, L. P., Nolan, C. M., & Flanzer, S. (2004). The Child Maltreatment Log: A computer-based program for describing research samples. *Child Maltreatment*, 9(1), 30-48. doi:10.1177/1077559503261265
- Steuwe, C., Lanius, R. A., & Frewen, P. A. (2012). Evidence for a dissociative subtype of PTSD by latent profile and confirmatory factor analyses in a civilian sample. *Depression And Anxiety*, 29(8), 689-700. doi:10.1002/da.21944
- Steven Betts, K., Williams, G. M., Najman, J. M., & Alati, R. (2013). Exploring the female specific risk to partial and full PTSD following physical assault. *Journal Of Traumatic Stress*, 26(1), 86-93. doi:10.1002/jts.21776



- Stewart, A., Livingston, M., & Dennison, S. (2008). Transitions and turning points: Examining the links between child maltreatment and juvenile offending. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 32, 51-66.
- Stone, A. A., Kennedy-Moore, E., & Neale, J. M. (1995). Association between daily coping and end-of-day mood. *Health Psychology*, 14(4), 341-349. doi:10.1037/0278-6133.14.4.341
- Storer, H. L., Barkan, S. E., Stenhouse, L. L., Eichenlaub, C., Mallillin, A., & Haggerty, K. P.
 (2014). In search of connection: The foster youth and caregiver relationship. *Children And Youth Services Review*, 42110-117. doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2014.04.008
- Street, A. E., & Arias, I. (2001). Psychological abuse and posttraumatic stress disorder in battered women: Examining the roles of shame and guilt. *Violence And Victims*, 16(1), 65-78.
- Stronach, E., Toth, S. L., Rogosch, F., Oshri, A., Manly, J., & Cicchetti, D. (2011). Child maltreatment, attachment security, and internal representations of mother and motherchild relationships. *Child Maltreatment*, 16(2), 137-145. doi:10.1177/1077559511398294
- Suarez, E. (2013). Two decades later: The resilience and post-traumatic responses of Indigenous Quechua girls and adolescents in the aftermath of the Peruvian armed conflict. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 37(2-3), 200-210. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2012.09.011
- Sullivan, P. M., & Knutson, J. F. (1998). Maltreatment and behavioral characteristics of youth who are deaf and hard-of-hearing. *Sexuality And Disability*, 16(4), 295-319. doi:10.1023/A:1023019912548
- Sun, S., Fan, F., Zheng, Y., & Zhu, Q. (2012). Mediating effect of resilience between parenting styles and PTSD symptoms in adolescents. *Chinese Journal Of Clinical Psychology*, 20(4), 502-505.



- Sun, S., Guan, Y., Qin, Y., Zhang, L., & Fan, F. (2013). Social support and emotional-behavioral problems: Resilience as a mediator and moderator. *Chinese Journal Of Clinical Psychology*, 21(1), 114-118.
- Sun, J., & Stewart, D. (2007). Age and gender effects on resilience in children and adolescents. *The International Journal Of Mental Health Promotion*, 9(4), 16-25.
- Tait, L., Birchwood, M., & Trower, P. (2004). Adapting to the challenge of psychosis: Personal resilience and the use of sealing-over (avoidant) coping strategies. *The British Journal Of Psychiatry*, 185(5), 410-415. doi:10.1192/bjp.185.5.410
- Taku, K. (2011). Commonly-defined and individually-defined posttraumatic growth in the US and Japan. *Personality And Individual Differences*, 51(2), 188-193.
 doi:10.1016/j.paid.2011.04.0t
- Tarullo, A. R., & Gunnar, M. R. (2006). Child maltreatment and the developing HPA axis. *Hormones And Behavior*, *50*(4), 632-639. doi:10.1016/j.yhbeh.2006.06.010
- Tang, S., & Freyd, J. J. (2012). Betrayal trauma and gender differences in posttraumatic stress.
 Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, And Policy, 4(5), 469-478.
 doi:10.1037/a0025765
- Tedeschi, R. G., & Kilmer, R. P. (2005). Assessing Strengths, Resilience, and Growth to Guide Clinical Interventions. *Professional Psychology: Research And Practice*, 36(3), 230-237. doi:10.1037/0735-7028.36.3.230
- Tedeschi, R. G., Park, C. L., & Calhoun, L. G. (1998). Posttraumatic growth: Conceptual issues. In R. G. Tedeschi, C. L. Park, L. G. Calhoun (Eds.), *Posttraumatic growth: Positive changes in the aftermath of crisis* (pp. 1-22). Mahwah, NJ US: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.



- Teicher, M. H., Anderson, C. M., & Polcari, A. (2012). Childhood maltreatment is associated with reduced volume in the hippocampal subfields CA3, dentate gyrus, and subiculum. *PNAS Proceedings Of The National Academy Of Sciences Of The United States Of America*, 109(9), 563-572. doi:10.1073/pnas.1115396109
- Terr, L. C. (1991). Childhood traumas: An outline and overview. *The American Journal Of Psychiatry*, 148(1), 10-20.
- Theokas, C., Almerigi, J. B., Dowling, E. M., Benson, P. L., Scales, P. C., Von Eye, A., & Lerner, R. M. (2005). Conceptualizing and Modeling Individual and Ecological Asset Components of Thriving in Early Adolescence. *Journal Of Early Adolescence*, 25(1), 113-143. doi:10.1177/0272431604272460
- Thomas, L. A., & De Bellis, M. D. (2004). Pituitary volumes in pediatric maltreatment-related posttraumatic stress disorder. *Biological Psychiatry*, 55(7), 752-758. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2003.11.021
- Thornberry, T. P., Henry, K. L., Smith, C. A., Ireland, T. O., Greenman, S. J., & Lee, R. D. (2013). Breaking the cycle of maltreatment: The role of safe, stable, and nurturing relationships. *Journal Of Adolescent Health*, *53*(4, Suppl), S25-S31. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2013.04.019
- Thomas, K. M., Hopwood, C. J., Donnellan, M., Wright, A. C., Sanislow, C. A., McDevitt-Murphy, M. E., & ... Morey, L. C. (2014). Personality heterogeneity in PTSD: Distinct temperament and interpersonal typologies. *Psychological Assessment*, 26(1), 23-34. doi:10.1037/a0034318
- Thyen, U., Leventhal, J. M., Yazdgerdi, S. R., & Perrin, J. M. (1997). Concerns about child maltreatment in hospitalized children. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *21*(2), 187-198.

doi:10.1016/S0145-2134(96)00144-5



www.manaraa.com

- Tignor, B., & Prince-Embury, S. (2013). Resilience in Kenyan youth living in the slums and suburbs of Nairobi: An exploratory and descriptive study. In S. Prince-Embury, D. H. Saklofske (Eds.), *Resilience in children, adolescents, and adults: Translating research into practice* (pp. 257-278). New York, NY US: Springer Science + Business Media. doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-4939-3_19
- Tol, W. A., Komproe, I. H., Jordans, M. D., Gross, A. L., Susanty, D., Macy, R. D., & de Jong,
 J. M. (2010). Mediators and moderators of a psychosocial intervention for children affected by political violence. *Journal Of Consulting And Clinical Psychology*, 78(6), 818-828. doi:10.1037/a0021348
- Tonmyr, L., Thornton, T., Draca, J., & Wekerle, C. (2010). A review of childhood maltreatment and adolescent substance use relationship. *Current Psychiatry Reviews*, 6(3), 223-234. doi:10.2174/157340010791792581
- Tonmyr, L., & Wekerle, C. (2013). Risk and resilience in association with child maltreatment. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *37*(1), 1-3. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2012.11.003
- Topitzes, J., Mersky, J. P., Dezen, K. A., & Reynolds, A. J. (2013). Adult resilience among maltreated children: A prospective investigation of main effect and mediating models. *Children And Youth Services Review*, *35*(6), 937-949. doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2013.03.004

Triffleman, E. G., & Pole, N. (2010). Future directions in studies of trauma among ethnoracial and sexual minority samples: Commentary. *Journal Of Consulting And Clinical Psychology*, 78(4), 490-497. doi:10.1037/a0020225



- Tschann, J. M., Kaiser, P., Chesney, M. A., Alkon, A., & Boyce, W. (1996). Resilience and vulnerability among preschool children: Family functioning, temperament, and behavior problems. *Journal Of The American Academy Of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 35(2), 184-192. doi:10.1097/00004583-199602000-00012
- Tseng, W. (2007). The resilience model among first-year college students who experienced traumatic events. *Bulletin Of Educational Psychology*, *39*(2), 317-334.
- Tummala-Narra, P. (2007). Conceptualizing trauma and resilience across diverse contexts: A multicultural perspective. *Journal Of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma*, 14(1-2), 33-53. doi:10.1300/J146v14n01_03
- Turner, H. A., Finkelhor, D., Hamby, S. L., & Shattuck, A. (2013). Family structure, victimization, and child mental health in a nationally representative sample. *Social Science & Medicine*, 8739-51. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.02.034
- Turner, H. A., Finkelhor, D., & Ormrod, R. (2006). The effect of lifetime victimization on the mental health of children and adolescents. *Social Science & Medicine*, 62(1), 13-27. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.05.030
- Tyler, K. A., Melander, L. A., & Noel, H. (2009). Bidirectional partner violence among homeless young adults: Risk factors and outcomes. *Journal Of Interpersonal Violence*, 24(6), 1014-1035. doi:10.1177/0886260508319364
- Uddin, M., Sipahi, L., Li, J., & Koenen, K. C. (2013). Sex differences in DNA methylation may contribute to risk of PTSD and depression: A review of existing evidence. *Depression And Anxiety*, 30(12), 1151-1160.



Ullman, S. E. (2007). Relationship to Perpetrator, Disclosure, Social Reactions, and PTSD
Symptoms in Child Sexual Abuse Survivors. *Journal Of Child Sexual Abuse: Research, Treatment, & Program Innovations For Victims, Survivors, & Offenders, 16*(1), 19-36. doi:10.1300/J070v16n01_02

Ullman, S. E., & Filipas, H. H. (2005a). Ethnicity and child sexual abuse experiences of female college students. *Journal Of Child Sexual Abuse: Research, Treatment, & Program Innovations For Victims, Survivors, & Offenders, 14*(3), 67-89.
doi:10.1300/J070v14n03_04

- Ullman, S. E., & Filipas, H. H. (2005b). Gender differences in social reactions to abuse disclosures, post-abuse coping, and PTSD of child sexual abuse survivors. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 29(7), 767-782. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2005.01.005
- Ungar, M. (2013a). Resilience after maltreatment: The importance of social services as facilitators of positive adaptation. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *37*(2-3), 110-115. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2012.08.004
- Ungar, M. (2013b). Resilience, trauma, context, and culture. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 14*(3), 255-266.
- Ungar, M., Liebenberg, L., Dudding, P., Armstrong, M., & van de Vijver, F. R. (2013). Patterns of service use, individual and contextual risk factors, and resilience among adolescents using multiple psychosocial services. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *37*(2-3), 150-159. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2012.05.007



- Ursano, R. J., Fullerton, C. S., & Benedek, D. M. (2007). Peritraumatic dissociation: Time perception and cerebellar regulation of psychological, interpersonal, and biological processes. In E. Vermetten, M. Dorahy, D. Spiegel (Eds.), *Traumatic dissociation: Neurobiology and treatment* (pp. 181-190). Arlington, VA US: American Psychiatric Publishing, Inc.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration on Children, Youth, and Families (2005). *Definitions of child abuse and neglect: Summary of state laws. State statutes series 2005.* Washington DC: National Clearinghouse on Child Abuse and Neglect Information.
- Uttervall, M., Hultman, C. M., Ekerwald, H., Lindam, A., & Lundin, T. (2014). After the flood:
 Resilience among tsunami-afflicted adolescents. *Nordic Journal Of Psychiatry*, 68(1), 38-43. doi:10.3109/08039488.2013.767373
- Valdez, C. E., Bailey, B. E., Santuzzi, A. M., & Lilly, M. M. (2014). Trajectories of depressive symptoms in foster youth transitioning into adulthood: The roles of emotion dysregulation and PTSD. *Child Maltreatment*, *19*(3-4), 209-218. doi:10.1177/1077559514551945
- Valentino, K., Cicchetti, D., Rogosch, F. A., & Toth, S. L. (2008). True and false recall and dissociation among maltreated children: The role of self-schema. *Development And Psychopathology*, 20(1), 213-232. doi:10.1017/S0954579408000102
- Van der Hart, O., Nijenhuis, E., Steele, K., & Brown, D. (2004). Trauma-related dissociation: conceptual clarity lost and found. *Australian & New Zealand Journal Of Psychiatry*, 38(11/12), 906-914. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1614.2004.01480.x



- van Voorhees, E., & Scarpa, A. (2004). The Effects of Child Maltreatment on the Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal Axis. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse*, 5(4), 333-352.
 doi:10.1177/1524838004269486
- Velichkovsky, B. B. (2009). Primary and secondary appraisals in measuring resilience to stress. *Psychology In Russia: State Of The Art*, 2539-563.
- Villarreal, G., & King, C. (2004). Neuroimaging Studies Reveal Brain Changes in Posttraumatic Stress Disorder. *Psychiatric Annals*, 34(11), 845-856.
- Vogel, M., Meier, J., Grönke, S., Waage, M., Schneider, W., Freyberger, H., & Klauer, T. (2011). Differential effects of childhood abuse and neglect: Mediation by posttraumatic distress in neurotic disorder and negative symptoms in schizophrenia?. *Psychiatry Research*, 189(1), 121-127. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2011.01.008
- Vranceanu, A., Hobfoll, S. E., & Johnson, R. J. (2007). Child multi-type maltreatment and associated depression and PTSD symptoms: The role of social support and stress. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 31(1), 71-84. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2006.04.010
- Walsh, K., Danielson, C., McCauley, J. L., Saunders, B. E., Kilpatrick, D. G., & Resnick, H. S. (2012). National prevalence of posttraumatic stress disorder among sexually revictimized adolescent, college, and adult household-residing women. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 69(9), 935-942.
- Walsh, W. A., Dawson, J., & Mattingly, M. J. (2010). How are we measuring resilience following childhood maltreatment? Is the research adequate and consistent? What is the impact on research, practice, and policy?. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 11*(1), 27-41. doi:10.1177/1524838009358892
- Ward, C., Martin, E., Theron, C., & Distiller, G. (2007). Factors affecting resilience in children exposed to violence. *South African Journal of Psychology*, *37*(1), 165-187.



- Watson, C. C., Rich, B. A., Sanchez, L., O'Brien, K., & Alvord, M. K. (2014). Preliminary study of resilience-based group therapy for improving the functioning of anxious children. *Child & Youth Care Forum*, 43(3), 269-286. doi:10.1007/s10566-013-9238-6
- Wechsler-Zimring, A., & Kearney, C. A. (2011). Posttraumatic stress and related symptoms among neglected and physically and sexually maltreated adolescents. *Journal Of Traumatic Stress*, 24(5), 601-604. doi:10.1002/jts.20683
- Wechsler-Zimring, A., Kearney, C. A., Kaur, H., & Day, T. (2012). Posttraumatic stress disorder and removal from home as a primary, secondary, or disclaimed trauma in maltreated adolescents. *Journal Of Family Violence*, 27(8), 813-818. doi:10.1007/s10896-012-9467-8
- Weiss, J. A., MacMullin, J., Waechter, R., & Wekerle, C. (2011). Child maltreatment, adolescent attachment style, and dating violence: Considerations in youth with borderline-to-mild intellectual disability. *International Journal Of Mental Health And Addiction*, 9(5), 555-576. doi:10.1007/s11469-011-9321-x
- Weller, J. A., & Fisher, P. A. (2013). Decision-making deficits among maltreated children. *Child Maltreatment*, 18(3), 184-194. doi:10.1177/1077559512467846

Wells, K. M. (2006). Injuries to the Head, Eyes, Ears, Nose, and Mouth. In C. R. Brittain (Ed.), Understanding the medical diagnosis of child maltreatment: A guide for nonmedical professionals (3rd ed.) (pp. 61-78). New York, NY US: Oxford University Press.

Werner, E. E. (1984). Resilient children. Young Children, 40(1), 68-72.

Werner, E. E. (2000). Protective factors and individual resilience. In J. P. Shonkoff, S. J. Meisels (Eds.), *Handbook of early childhood intervention (2nd ed.)* (pp. 115-132). New York, NY US: Cambridge University Press. doi:10.1017/CBO9780511529320.008



Werner, E. E. (2013). What can we learn about resilience from large-scale longitudinal studies?.
In S. Goldstein, R. B. Brooks (Eds.) , *Handbook of resilience in children (2nd ed.)* (pp. 87-102). New York, NY US: Springer Science + Business Media. doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-3661-4_6

- Werner, K. B., & Griffin, M. G. (2012). Peritraumatic and persistent dissociation as predictors of PTSD symptoms in a female cohort. *Journal Of Traumatic Stress*, 25(4), 401-407. doi:10.1002/jts.21725
- Wexler, L. (2014). Looking across three generations of Alaska Natives to explore how culture fosters indigenous resilience. *Transcultural Psychiatry*, 51(1), 73-92.
- Whitted, K. S., Delavega, E., & Lennon-Dearing, R. (2013). The youngest victims of violence:
 Examining the mental health needs of young children who are involved in the child
 welfare and juvenile justice systems. *Child & Adolescent Social Work Journal*, 30(3), 181-195. doi:10.1007/s10560-012-0286-9
- Whittle, S., Dennison, M., Vijayakumar, N., Simmons, J. G., Yücel, M., Lubman, D. I., & ...
 Allen, N. B. (2013). Childhood maltreatment and psychopathology affect brain
 development during adolescence. *Journal Of The American Academy Of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 52(9), 940-952. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2013.06.007
- Widom, C. (1999). Posttraumatic stress disorder in abused and neglected children grown up. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 156(8), 1223-1229.
- Widom, C., Czaja, S., Wilson, H. W., Allwood, M., & Chauhan, P. (2013). Do the long-term consequences of neglect differ for children of different races and ethnic backgrounds?. *Child Maltreatment*, *18*(1), 42-55. doi:10.1177/1077559512460728



- Wingo, A. P., Fani, N., Bradley, B., & Ressler, K. J. (2010). Psychological resilience and neurocognitive performance in a traumatized community sample. *Depression And Anxiety*, 27(8), 768-774.
- Wingo, A. P., Ressler, K. J., & Bradley, B. (2014). Resilience characteristics mitigate tendency for harmful alcohol and illicit drug use in adults with a history of childhood abuse: A cross-sectional study of 2024 inner-city men and women. *Journal Of Psychiatric Research*, 5193-99. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2014.01.007
- Wingo, A. P., Wrenn, G., Pelletier, T., Gutman, A. R., Bradley, B., & Ressler, K. J. (2010).
 Moderating effects of resilience on depression in individuals with a history of childhood abuse or trauma exposure. *Journal Of Affective Disorders*, *126*(3), 411-414.
 doi:10.1016/j.jad.2010.04.009
- Wilkins, D. (2012). Disorganized attachment indicates child maltreatment: How is this link useful for child protection social workers?. *Journal Of Social Work Practice*, 26(1), 15-30. doi:10.1080/02650533.2011.598228
- Willemen, A. M., Schuengel, C., & Koot, H. M. (2011). Observed interactions indicate protective effects of relationships with parents for referred adolescents. *Journal Of Research On Adolescence*, 21(3), 569-575. doi:10.1111/j.1532-7795.2010.00703.x
- Williams, M. H. (1991). One in four of the incest perpetrators was not an adult. *Professional Psychology: Research And Practice*, 22(4), doi:10.1037/h0092795
- Williams, J., & Nelson-Gardell, D. (2012). Predicting resilience in sexually abused adolescents. Child Abuse & Neglect, 36(1), 53-63. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2011.07.004
- Wolfe, D. (2013). Risk and resilience in the context of child maltreatment: The way forward. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 37(2-3), 90-92. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2012.12.008



- Wonderlich, S. A., Rosenfeldt, S., Crosby, R. D., Mitchell, J. E., Engel, S. G., Smyth, J., &
 Miltenberger, R. (2007). The effects of childhood trauma on daily mood lability and
 comorbid psychopathology in bulimia nervosa. *Journal Of Traumatic Stress*, 20(1), 7787. doi:10.1002/jts.20184
- Wolfe, D. A., & McIsaac, C. (2011). Distinguishing between poor/dysfunctional parenting and child emotional maltreatment. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 35(10), 802-813.
 doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2010.12.009
- Wood, J. N., Pecker, L. H., Russo, M. E., Henretig, F., & Christian, C. W. (2012). Evaluation and referral for child maltreatment in pediatric poisoning victims. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 36(4), 362-369. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2012.01.001
- Wrenn, G. L., Wingo, A. P., Moore, R., Pelletier, T., Gutman, A. R., Bradley, B., & Ressler, K. .
 (2011). The effect of resilience on posttraumatic stress disorder in trauma-exposed innercity primary care patients. *Journal Of The National Medical Association*, *103*(7), 560-566.
- Xi, J., Zuo, Z., & Wu, W. (2013). Daily emotional states and emotional self-regulation, strategies among high school students with different resilience levels. *Chinese Mental Health Journal*, 27(9), 709-714.
- Yampolskaya, S., Armstrong, M. I., & McNeish, R. (2011). Children placed in out-of-home care:
 Risk factors for involvement with the juvenile justice system. *Violence And Victims*, 26(2), 231-245. doi:10.1891/0886-6708.26.2.231
- Yang, P., Yen, C., Tang, T., Chen, C., Yang, R., Huang, M., & ... Yu, H. (2011). Posttraumatic stress disorder in adolescents after Typhoon Morakot-associated mudslides. *Journal Of Anxiety Disorders*, 25(3), 362-368. doi:10.1016/j.janxdis.2010.10.010



- Yasik, A. E., Saigh, P. A., Oberfield, R. A., Green, B., Halamandaris, P., & McHugh, M. (2001).
 The validity of the children's PTSD Inventory. *Journal Of Traumatic Stress*, *14*(1), 81-94. doi:10.1023/A:1007887615685
- Yates, T. M., & Grey, I. K. (2012). Adapting to aging out: Profiles of risk and resilience among emancipated foster youth. *Development And Psychopathology*, 24(2), 475-492. doi:10.1017/S0954579412000107
- Yee, B. K., DeBaryshe, B. D., Yuen, S., Kim, S., & McCubbin, H. I. (2007). Asian American and Pacific Islander Families: Resiliency and Life-Span Socialization in a Cultural Context. In F. L. Leong, A. Ebreo, L. Kinoshita, A. G. Inman, L. Yang, M. Fu (Eds.), *Handbook of Asian American psychology (2nd ed.)* (pp. 69-86). Thousand Oaks, CA US: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Yehuda, R., Elkin, A., Binder-Brynes, K., Kahana, B., Southwick, S. M., Schmeidler, J., &
 Giller, E. L. (1996). Dissociation in aging Holocaust survivors. *The American Journal Of Psychiatry*, 153(7), 935-940.
- Young, E. A., Abelson, J. L., & Liberzon, I. (2008). Stress hormones and anxiety disorders. In R.
 J. Blanchard, D. Blanchard, G. Griebel, D. Nutt (Eds.), *Handbook of anxiety and fear* (pp. 455-473). San Diego, CA US: Elsevier Academic Press. doi:10.1016/S1569-7339(07)00021-5
- Yu, Y., Peng, L., Chen, L., Long, L., He, W., Li, M., & Wang, T. (2013). Resilience and social support promote posttraumatic growth of women with infertility: The mediating role of positive coping. *Psychiatry Research*, doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2013.10.032
- Yule, W. (2001). Post-traumatic stress disorder in children and adolescents. *International Review* of *Psychiatry*, *13*(3), 194-200.



www.manaraa.com

- Yun, I., Ball, J. D., & Lim, H. (2011). Disentangling the relationship between child maltreatment and violent delinquency: Using a nationally representative sample. *Journal Of Interpersonal Violence*, 26(1), 88-110. doi:10.1177/0886260510362886
- Zahn-Waxler, C., Race, E., & Duggal, S. (2005). Mood Disorders and Symptoms in Girls. In D.
 J. Bell, S. L. Foster, E. J. Mash (Eds.) , *Handbook of behavioral and emotional problems in girls* (pp. 25-77). New York, NY US: Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers. doi:10.1007/0-306-48674-1_2
- Zahradnik, M., Stewart, S. H., O'Connor, R. M., Stevens, D., Ungar, M., & Wekerle, C. (2010). Resilience moderates the relationship between exposure to violence and posttraumatic reexperiencing in Mi'kmaq youth. *International Journal Of Mental Health And Addiction*, 8(2), 408-420. doi:10.1007/s11469-009-9228-y
- Zaidi, L. Y., & Foy, D. W. (1994). Childhood abuse experiences and combat-related PTSD. Journal Of Traumatic Stress, 7(1), 33-42. doi:10.1002/jts.2490070105
- Zeidner, M., & Endler, N. (1996). *Handbook of coping: Theory, research, applications*. Oxford England: John Wiley & Sons.
- Zhao, X., Zhang, R., & Zhou, R. (2014). The development of emotion regulation in adolescents and its influencing factors. *Chinese Journal Of Clinical Psychology*, 22(4), 713-717.
- Zhang, Z. Z., Ran, M. S., Li, Y. H., Ou, G. J., Gong, R. R., Li, R. H., & ... Fang, D. Z. (2012). Prevalence of post-traumatic stress disorder among adolescents after the Wenchuan earthquake in China. *Psychological Medicine*, 42(8), 1687-1693.

doi:10.1017/S0033291711002844

Zielinski, D. S. (2009). Child maltreatment and adult socioeconomic well-being. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *33*(10), 666-678. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2009.09.001


- Zimmermann, P., & Iwanski, A. (2014). Emotion regulation from early adolescence to emerging adulthood and middle adulthood: Age differences, gender differences, and emotionspecific developmental variations. *International Journal Of Behavioral Development*, 38(2), 182-194. doi:10.1177/0165025413515405
- Zimmerman, M. A., Stoddard, S. A., Eisman, A. B., Caldwell, C. H., Aiyer, S. M., & Miller, A. (2013). Adolescent resilience: Promotive factors that inform prevention. *Child Development Perspectives*, 7(4), 215-220.
- Zoellner, L. A., & Feeny, N. C. (2014). Conceptualizing risk and resilience following trauma exposure. In L. A. Zoellner, N. C. Feeny (Eds.), *Facilitating resilience and recovery following trauma* (pp. 3-14). New York, NY, US: Guilford Press.
- Zoladz, P. R., & Diamond, D. M. (2013). Current status on behavioral and biological markers of PTSD: A search for clarity in a conflicting literature. *Neuroscience And Biobehavioral Reviews*, 37(5), 860-895. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.03.024
- Zolkoski, S. M., & Bullock, L. M. (2012). Resilience in children and youth: A review. *Children And Youth Services Review*, *34*(12), 2295-2303. doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2012.08.009
- Zoroglu, S.S., Tuzun, U., Sar, V., Ttkun, H., Savas, H.A., Ozturk, M., et al. (2003). Suicide attempt and self-mutilation among Turkish high school students in relation with abuse, neglect, and dissociation. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, *57*, 119-126.
- Žunić-Pavlović, V., Pavlović, M., Kovačević-Lepojević, M., Glumbić, N., & Kovačević, R.
 (2013). The relationships between personal resiliency and externalising and internalising problems in adolescence. *Československá Psychologie*, 57(1), 1-14.



Curriculum Vitae Name: Timothy Landan Day E-mail: dayt8@unlv.nevada.edu

Education:

M.A. Psychology, University of Nevada, Las Vegas, May 2013 Thesis: *Resilience and Trauma in Maltreated Youth* Committee Chair: Christopher A. Kearney, Ph.D.
B.A. Psychology, Whitworth University, May 2009 Senior Thesis: *Music's Influence on the Availability of Aggressive Constructs* Advisor: Patricia Bruininks, Ph.D.
College Cumulative GPA 3.8

Predoctoral Clinical Training

Practicum

- 2015 Practicum Therapist: Disability Regional Center. Community Mental Health Supervisors: Jamie Lee, Psy.D. and Lisa Linning, Ph.D.
 <u>Responsibilities:</u> Provide psychological services to patients through group-based dialectical behavioral therapy program, consult in the Human Rights Committee and Behavioral Intervention Committee, and participate in a multidisciplinary treatment team.
 <u>Hours:</u> Approximately 10 hours per week
- 2013-2015 **Practicum Therapist:** *Desert Willow Treatment Center. State Inpatient Facility* <u>Supervisors:</u> Caron Whipple, Ph.D. & Robert Kutner, Psy.D. <u>Responsibilities:</u> Provide psychological services to patients in an acute and residential inpatient setting. Services include individual, group, and family sessions to patients using cognitive behavioral, dialectical behavioral, acceptance and commitment, family behavioral, and motivational interviewing based interventions; conduct cognitive, personality, and academic evaluations; diagnosis; work as part of a multidisciplinary team with psychiatrists, physicians, nurses, social workers, rehabilitation therapist, school teachers, and family members; crisis management; and participate and conduct intakes and treatment planning with adolescent sexual perpetrators. *Hours:* Approximately 20 hours per week

2012-2013 **Practicum Therapist:** *Desert Psychological. Community Mental Health* <u>Supervisors:</u> Silvie Kendall, Ph.D. & Ayako Sakuragi, Psy.D. <u>Responsibilities:</u> Provided psychological services to youth in Department of Family Services custody. Specialized in child trauma and maltreatment cases. Services included individual therapy using trauma-focused cognitive behavioral therapy and eclectic approaches; comprehensive evaluation of cognitive, academic, personality, visual motor, and developmental ability; diagnosis using symptom checklists; program development including the incorporation of a



paradigm; and community outreach. 209

Hours: Approximately 20 hours per week

2011-2012 Practicum Therapist: The UNLV Child School Refusal and Anxiety Disorders Clinic. Departmental Sponsored Community Clinic

Supervisor: Christopher A. Kearney, Ph.D.

Responsibilities: Provided psychological services to youth refusing school due to anxiety and conduct related problems. Services included symptom evaluations using self-reports, checklists, and structured clinical interviews; functional behavioral analysis; treatment planning; coordinating interventions with family and school districts using a cognitive behavioral approach consisting of exposure therapy, contingency management, and cognitive restructuring techniques; collecting data through the Las Vegas truancy court to aid future assessment and research, and presenting workshops to school district employees. Hours: Approximately 15 hours/week

2010-2011 Practicum Therapist: Center for Individual, Couple, and Family Counseling. **Departmental Sponsored Community Clinic**

Supervisors: Christopher A. Kearney, Ph.D. & Michelle Paul, Ph.D. Responsibilities: Provided psychological services to youth and adults experiencing a wide variety of presenting concerns. Services included conducting intake interviews and treatment planning; case presentations, individual and family therapy sessions consisting of an eclectic and flexible approach with an emphasis on cognitive behavioral interventions; and comprehensive psychodiagnostic assessments.

Hours: Approximately 25 hours/week

2008-2009 Undergraduate Field Placement: Eastern State Hospital. Adult Psychiatric **Hospital**

Supervisor: Susan Bordges

Responsibilities: Provided psychological services to adults in residential care. Services included co-facilitation of group therapy, and development of therapeutic exercises.

Hours: Approximately 10 hours per week

Provision of Supervision

2014 The Partnership for Research, Assessment, Counseling, Therapy and Innovative Clinical Education, Departmental Sponsored Community Clinic, Summer Term

Requirements: Systematic training and coursework in supervision, tape review of supervision sessions with licensed psychologist, weekly "supervision of supervision" sessions with licensed psychologist, 11 hours of supervision with supervisee.

Supervisory Style: A collaborative process tailored to the supervisee's developmental level and supervisee's clients consisting of systematic feedback, guided reflection, and evaluation used to foster supervisee development and ensure client safety by integrating research and theory with practice.

Supervisory Responsibilities: Included individual weekly supervision of a junior



practicum student and video-review, continued assessment of the supervisee's development, and the application of cognitive behavioral based interventions as needed.

Select, Specialized Workshops Attended

SP2014	Dialectical Behavior Therapy for Families and Couples with Dr. Allen Fruzzetti
FA2013	Using Trauma-Focused Cognitive Behavioral Therapy with Dr. Caron Whipple
SP2012	Treating Adolescent Substance Abuse with Dr. Brad Donohue
FA2011	Couples Treatment, Nevada State Psychological Association with Dr. John Friel
FA2010	Acceptance and Commitment Therapy, Nevada State Psychological Association with Dr. Victoria Follette
FA2009	Positive Psychology, Nevada State Psychological Association, Dr. Wanda Bethea

Research Experience

Publications

- **Day, T.L.** & Kearney, C.A. (2015). Relating to others, resilience and posttraumatic stress symptoms in maltreated youth. *Journal of Psychology and Psychotherapy Research*.
- Kearney, C.A., Ross, E.H., & Day, T.L. (in press). Posttraumatic stress disorder in maltreated youth. In C. Martin, V.R. Preedy, & V.B. Patel (Eds.), *Comprehensive guide to posttraumatic stress disorders*. New York: Springer.
- Barchard, K. A., Hurlburt, R. T., Westfall, R. S., Ullman, J., & Day, T. (2012). Item bank for Comprehending Behavioral Statistics (5th edition) by Russell Hurlburt. Contains 1586 items for 20 quizzes. Available as part of Personal Trainer 5.0 from Russell Hurlburt, russ@unlv.nevada.edu
- Wechsler, A., Kearney, C.A., Kaur, H., & Day, T., (2012) Posttraumatic Stress Disorder and Removal from Home as a Primary, Secondary, or Disclaimed Trauma in Maltreated Adolescents. *Journal of Family Violence*, 27 (8). 813-818
- Kearney, C.A., Haight, C., & Day, T.L. (2011). Selective mutism. In D. McKay & E. Storch (Eds.), Handbook of child and adolescent anxiety disorders (pp. 275-287). New York: Springer.
- Kearney, C.A., Gauger, M., Schafer, R., & Day, T. (2011). Social and performance anxiety and oppositional and school refusal behavior in adolescents. In C.A. Alfano & D.C. Beidel (Eds.), Social anxiety disorder in adolescents and young adults: Translating developmental science into practice (pp. 125-141). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.

Conference Presentations:

Workshops:

- **Day, T.L.,** Kearney, C. (2013, March). *Assessment of School Refusal.* Presented at the annual meeting of the School Social Work Association, San Diego, CA.
- Day, T.L., Ross, E. (2013, February). *Posttraumatic Stress Disorder in Maltreated Youth*. Presented at a staff development continuing education conference for Las Vegas social workers, Las Vegas, NV.
- **Day, T.L.**, Kearney, C. (2011, November). *Selective Mutism: Characteristics, Assessment, and Treatment.* Presented at a staff development continuing education conference for Las



Vegas social workers, Las Vegas, NV.

Day, T.L., Kearney, C. (2011, October). *School Refusal Behavior: Characteristics, Assessment, and Treatment.* Presented at a staff development continuing education conference for Las Vegas social workers, Las Vegas, NV.

Research Presentations:

- **Day, T.L.** (2011, March). *Posttrauma Cognitive Functioning as a Predictive Factor of the Severity of PTSD in Maltreated Youth.* Research presented at the annual meeting of the Anxiety Disorders Association of America, New Orleans, LA.
- **Day, T.L.** (2011, March). Active Imagination and Level of Absorption as Predictors of PTSD in Maltreated Youth. Research presented at the annual meeting of the Anxiety Disorders Association of America, New Orleans, LA.

Poster Presentations:

- Wilks, C., Fayeghi, J., Kaur, H., **Day, T.**, Wechsler, A., & Kearney, C. (2012, April). Low selfesteem as a risk factor of PTSD in a sample of maltreated youth. Poster to be presented at the annual convention at The Anxiety Disorder Association of America in Washington D.C.
- Fayeghi, J., Wilks, C., Kaur, H., Day, T., Wechsler, A. & Kearney, C. (2012, April). The relationship between family conflict and PTSD in maltreated youth. Poster to be presented at the annual convention of The Anxiety Disorder Association of America in Washington D.C.
- **Day, T.**, Wechsler, A., Kaur, H., Kearney, C.A. (2011, April). Examining Optimism as a Resilience Factor in Traumatized Maltreated Youth. Poster presented at the annual meeting of the Western Psychological Association, Los Angeles, CA.
- **Day, T.L.**, Kaur, H., Wechsler, A., & Kearney, C.A. (2010, November). *Ethnic Identity as a Protective Factor in Maltreated Youth in a Minority Population.* Poster presented at the annual meeting of the Association for Behavioral and Cognitive Therapies, San Francisco, CA.
- Wechsler, A., Kaur, H., Day, T.L., & Kearney, C.A. (2010, November). *Risk and Resiliency Factors in Posttraumatic Stress Disorder in Maltreated Youth.* Poster presented at the annual meeting of the Association for Behavioral and Cognitive Therapies, San Francisco, CA.
- Kaur, H., Wechsler, A., Day, T.L., & Kearney, C.A. (2010, November). Cognitive Functioning as a Predictor for the Onset of PTSD Symptoms Following Child Maltreatment. Poster presented at the annual meeting of the Association for Behavioral and Cognitive Therapies, San Francisco, CA.
- Day, T.L., & Bruininks, P. (2009, October). Distinguishing Hope and Optimism. Poster presented at 2009 Nevada Psychological Association Positive Psychology Workshop, Las Vegas, NV.
- Bruininks, P., **Day, T. L.**, Furber, C., & Bellwood, C. (2009, April). *Hope: A nonpartisan emotion.* Poster presented at the annual meeting of the Western Psychological Association, Portland, OR.
- **Day, T.L.**, Bruininks, P. (2009, April). *Hope and Optimism: The Influence of Appraisals on Positive-Anticipatory Emotions.* Poster presented at the annual meeting of the Western Psychological Association, Portland, OR.



- **Day, T.L.** (2009, April). *Music and Effects on the Availability of Aggressive Constructs.* Poster presented at the annual meeting of the Western Psychological Association, Portland, OR.
- **Day, T.L.**, Rylaarsdam, S., Schwarz, M., Carlson, A., Hamilton, T. (2008, December). *The Representation of Self Among Online Social Communities*. Poster presented at the Annual Whitworth Psychology Conference, Spokane, WA.

Research Positions:

- 2009-Present **Graduate Research Assistant:** University of Nevada, Las Vegas, Department of Psychology. Topics: *Child and Adolescent Posttraumatic Stress Disorder*. Principle Investigator: Christopher A. Kearney, Ph.D.
- Summer 2010 **Graduate Research Assistant**: University of Nevada, Las Vegas, Department of Psychology. Topics: *Treating Math Anxiety with Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy*. Principle Investigator: Mark A. Ashcraft, Ph.D.
- 2009-2010 **Graduate Research Assistant**: University of Nevada, Las Vegas, Department of Psychology. Topics: *School Refusal in Child and Adolescents*. Principle Investigator: Christopher A. Kearney, Ph.D.
- Spring 2009 **Research Assistant:** Whitworth University, Department of Psychology Topics: *Assessing Public Relations with Local Law Enforcement*. Principle Investigator: Adrian Teo, Ph.D.
- 2008-2009 **Research Assistant:** Whitworth University, Department of Psychology. Topics: *Hope and Optimism, Influence of Appraisals*. Principle Investigator: Patricia Bruininks, Ph.D.
- 2008-2009 **Research Assistant**: Whitworth University, Department of Psychology. Topics: *Social networking, online communities, personality*. Principle Investigator: Noel Wescombe, Ph.D.

Teaching Experience

SP2015	Instructor: Psychology 360: Social Psychology, 2 sections, University of
	Nevada, Las Vegas
FA2014	Instructor: Psychology 360: Social Psychology, 2 sections, University of
	Nevada, Las Vegas
SP2014	Instructor: Psychology 438: Child Behavior Disorders, 1 section, University of
	Nevada, Las Vegas
SP2014	Instructor: Psychology 360: Social Psychology, 1 section, University of Nevada,
	Las Vegas
FA2013	Instructor: Psychology 341: Abnormal Psychology, 1 section, University of
	Nevada, Las Vegas
FA2013	Instructor: Psychology 341: Social Psychology, 1 section, University of Nevada,
	Las Vegas
SP2013	Instructor: Psychology 101, 1 section, University of Nevada, Las Vegas
SP2013	Instructor: Psychology 438: Child Behavior Disorders, 1 section, University of
	Nevada, Las Vegas
FA2012	Instructor: Psychology 438: Child Behavior Disorders, 1 section, University of
	Nevada, Las Vegas
FA2011	Instructor: Psychology 101, 2 sections, University of Nevada, Las Vegas
A	and a strategy of the set of the

Average course evaluation ratings: 3.8/4.0



Awards and Recognition

- 2009 3rd Place Runner-Up Student Poster Award, Nevada Psychological Association.
- 2009 Magna Cum Laude, Whitworth University
- 2009 Whitworth University Laureate Society Member
- 2008 Whitworth University Psychology Department Scholarship
- 2009 Weyerhaeuser Younger Scholar Fellowship Scholarship, Whitworth University
- 2009 Whitworth University Student Academic Scholarship
- 2008 Psi Chi Honor Society, Whitworth University
- 2008 Whitworth University Student Academic Scholarship
- 2007 Whitworth University Student Academic Scholarship
- 2005 Dollars for Scholars Medical Scholarship

Service and Leadership Positions

2015	Volunteer, Nevada Psychology Legislative Committee
2012	Volunteer, Treating Adolescent Substance Abuse with Dr. Brad Donohue
2011-2012	Cohort Representative, Clinical Student Committee, UNLV
2010-2015	Incoming Graduate Student Mentor, UNLV Department of Psychology
2009-2015	Graduate Student Mentor to Minority Undergraduate Students at UNLV,
	Outreach Undergraduate Mentoring Program (OUMP)
2009	Volunteer, National Alliance of Professional Psychology Providers Conference
2005-2006	Volunteer, Overcomer Outreach

Professional Memberships

2009-Present	American Psychological Association (student affiliate)
2009-Present	Nevada State Psychological Association (student affiliate)

